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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited, | am
honored to present the annual report of the Group for FY2024.

In 2024, the global economy remained challenging and the PRC
economy is still recovering slowly. Despite the complex and severe
external environment, we have consistently adhered to our business
strategy and continued to promote our brand awareness and diversify
our business. During FY2024, we have maintained stable growth,
recording revenue of RMB584.0 million which represented an
increase of approximately 35.8% as compared to 2023. Notably,
our revenue from the IP creation and operation reached RMB 314.3
million, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 65.1%.

We continued to adhere to our IP-empowerment business model,
where we generate and divert traffic to our celebrity IPs through
popular IP contents which in turn empower the sale of our products.
In 2024, our IP contents continued to receive widespread popularity
in the market. Our flagship programs J-Style Trip season two (/&
#502) and Yue Lai Yue Kuai Le (%7K % 1R %%) were broadcast
successfully and received enthusiastic responses. On the other hand,
to further broaden the IP character of Mr. Liu Keng-hung, a music-
themed podcast programme “Music Podcast of Liu Keng-hung
(BB 7= de = 445 & )" was launched on Rednote (/N41 2 ). The
programme has repeatedly ranked first in the popular livestreaming
list of Rednote (/|N4I &), with over 360 million related discussions
on the platform and an average viewership of over 1 million. Our IP
programmes not only achieved high viewership ratings, but has also
become hot topics arousing discussions and attention among the
public on different media platforms, and at the same time, further
promoted the popularity and influence of our celebrity IPs.

This year, we consistently endeavour to promote our celebrity IPs and
diversify our IP operation. We have invested in concerts of celebrities
and planned different promotional events. A major highlight is the
“Finding CHOUCHOU (= JE [F1 )" events, where “check-in”
spots featuring CHOUCHOU (& [8] £) and pop-up stores were set
up in various cities where the Jay Chou Carnival World Tour was held,
attracting numerous fans and consumers to visit and promoting local
culture and tourism. During 2024, we have organized CHOUCHOU
(JA[E) & )-themed exhibition in various locations including Shenzhen
and Japan. In particular, the exhibition in Japan also marked our
attempt in exploring opportunities for our celebrity IPs to tap into

Chairperson’s Statement

ERHE

EHEBAIBCR

KK St

AARKREEBHGTREERAAEZTS K=

REAEE2024FFHFERSE ©

2024 F - REEERIERATTMKEL - M 4L
EDRENEEEENER - BEINFREERE
BRIE - B REFEE TN XSRS FEEFA
MM E LR ES B o 7£2024 81 & - M
REBTER  SBERAARBLM0BETL &
20231 R #935.8% o Hep - IPAIE RSB A
EAREILAIAET  ALIERL651% -

B —EFRAIPHEAEHEERN  ERAFIWIPA
ARPAEIPSIR - EMMERMNERNHEE -
20245 - HMIWIPRBEN S LHEX I EZE
W EMEE B [ERERL2 | 1 REEIREE | I &
- HERRIEE - Z—TTE AE— PR
IR EENIPREE USSR RETENEEE A
(Bt Rde BRER | E[/NMIEIFRE - ZEBEE
RENIERFIEREE LRIE— F& LA
AmBE360AER FHERARBE1IHE -
BMWIPEE TEES T PR X - EX ST
A ERRETAsEARANG WL
RIEIE—FRATHMAZIPHANBERTZE
K

SE CRAFEBIRNEERE PAURRIPEE -
BMEREAEREERRIZHEEFEY - &
FoEEHAISHEARSED - RAERNR
(FFE)ERMDEES RIS EHHRILIA
(AR AEENHTRIBRRAE - R5IKXE
ML BEESE - WIEE 3L B i X%
f& - 2024 F - RPERI R BAEZ @R
MmTTARBITERE HPRAREERAGE
BARZFEIPEFERINTHENES - M LEANR
CEEFE)ERLRESER2 RN RTERIE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z =P F 4§ 5



Chairman’s Statement
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the overseas markets. Together with the global presence brought
by the Jay Chou Carnival World Tour and the broadcast of J-Style
Trip season three (J& #% 52 3), we believe that the CHOUCHOU (&
[F1£2) IP will successfully set foot in different parts of the world and
continue its influence on a global scale.

For our new retail business, our products continued to receive
various awards and recognitions in 2024. According to China Insights
Consultancy, MODONG coffee (B i M1 BE) has ranked first (in
terms of sales and sales volume) in the bulletproof drink market in
the PRC for five consecutive years since 2020. Since its launch in
2019 and up to 2024, accumulative sale of MODONG coffee ( & i
MIBE) has reached 100 million cups. With the promotional effects
of our celebrity IPs through title sponsorship and placement in
our TV programmes and our efforts in promoting sale through our
distribution networks by organizing different distributors’ events
and trainings, the sale of MODONG coffee (& R ¥l BF) continued
to grow in 2024, recording a revenue of RMB152.0 million and a
year-on-year growth of approximately 8.7%. In 2024, we continued
to enrich the product offerings under the Ai Chi Xian Mo Ren (&
nZ @ EE A ) product line with Coach Liu and Vivi as representatives
featuring healthy and additive-free food products. With the constant
upgrades and expansion in our product offerings, combined with
the promotional effects of our celebrity IPs, we believe our new retail
products will continue to be highly recognized by the market.

Apart from business achievement, this year, our Company was
included in the Hang Seng Composite Index and Hong Kong
Stock Connect. In 2024, we also completed our first placing
since our listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, raising net
proceeds of approximately HK$222.1 million. All of these affirmed
our performance in the capital market and demonstrated market
recognition of our business. The placing has also demonstrated
investors’ confidence in our business and future prospects. On 22
August 2024, our headquarter building in Kunshan was officially
operational, marking a milestone in our entry into a new stage of
development. The new headquarter integrates different parts of
our operation, from research and development to video shooting,
livestreaming, together with the integration of Al systems, providing
a more creative working environment for our staff and business
partners. We are confident that the new headquarter could better
serve our celebrity IPs” and new retail business’ operations which in
turn provide a strong impetus to our future development.
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Looking forward, it is our strategy to focus on four key areas
surrounding “IP + Al + New Retail + All-domain channels”. Our
major upcoming plans include:

(i)

the further development of our celebrity IPs portfolio — we will
continue to create more innovative and popular IP contents
and events. In particular, J-Style Trip season three (& #% 2
3) has been broadcasting since March 2025 and it is expected
that a new cycling-themed variety show featuring Mr. Liu Keng-
hung and other programmes will be broadcast later this year.
In addition, we are exploring various opportunities to expand
our celebrity IPs portfolio to overseas celebrities. In particular,
we are going to invest in the concerts of an international
renowned superstar in the first half of 2025. We will continue
to explore opportunities for in-depth cooperation with renowned
celebrities including investment in concerts and development
of new celebrity IPs;

deepening the integration of Al technology in our operation —
we intend to continue to expand the use of Al in our business
operation to empower our IP creation and operation and new
retail businesses. In June 2024, we established a joint venture
company in collaboration with Digital Domain Holdings Limited,
a global visual effects and digital production company, to
jointly develop a digital rights library for the use in the creation
of media content. One of the major upcoming plans is the
planning of and investment in virtual concerts. In addition, in
view of our success in launching the “Al Nutritionist” function
in our App, we are planning to introduce the “Al Anchor” and
“Al Distributor” functions on different platforms to facilitate our
business operation. We will also develop different Al tools to
support our distributors and sub-distributors in the sale of the
Group’s products;
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Chairman’s Statement

EFREERE

(iii)  further expansion and upgrade of our new retail products and
development of self-developed IP products — along with the
airing of J-Style Trip season 3 (JA#z3c 3), we plan to launch a
new product line “Modong Magic” focusing on functional coffee
which combine coffee with various nutrients. On the other
hand, as part of our strategy to emphasize on self-developed
IP products in the coming year, we are going to introduce a
new |IP product line which aims to provide emotional value to
consumers such as plush toys, accessories, household items
and pet products. In terms of market expansion, we are also
planning to establish a new product line for our new retail
products which primarily focuses on oversea markets with a
view to expand our customer base and enhance our brand
awareness; and

(iv) expansion of sale channels from online to offline, particularly
through self-operated channels — we are going to establish a
“black label” store focusing on our self-developed products
featuring CHOUCHOU (J&[R12) IP and continue to expand
the network of our vending machines and launch “pop-up
stores” for CHOUCHOU (&R &) related products at different
locations. We are also contemplating the opening of self-
operated and co-operated outlets for our products under the
athletic apparel brand “VIVI CYCLE".

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my appreciation to
our dedicated team, business partners and stakeholders for their
continuous support and commitment in achieving the outstanding
results this year. We will continue to deliver innovative and
exceptional experiences to our customers and business partners and
create greater value for our shareholders.

Ma Hsin-Ting
Chairperson and Executive Director
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In FY2024, the Group successfully maintained a steady growth in
its business performance, recording a total revenue of RMB584.0
million, representing an increase of approximately 35.8% as
compared to FY2023. The two business segments of the Group,
namely IP creation and operation business and new retail business,
contributed to approximately 53.8% and 46.2%, respectively, of the
Group’s revenue in the Reporting Period.

IP creation and operation business

Leveraging the Group’s expertise in the IP creation and operation,
as well as its capability to integrate relevant resources, the Group
continued to experience notable growth in its IP creation and
operation business during the Reporting Period. The IP creation and
operation business of the Group recorded a revenue of RMB314.3
million for FY2024, representing an increase of approximately 65.1%
from RMB190.4 million for FY2023.

The notable growth in the performance of the Group’s IP creation
and operation business in FY2024 was primarily attributable to the
successful airing of two major TV programmes of the Group, namely
(i) J-Style Trip season two (J& 2 &2 2) the outdoor reality interactive
variety show starring Mr. Jay Chou, which was broadcasted during
the first half of 2024 with overwhelming responses; and (ii) Yue Lai
Yue Kuai Le (%47 241 44), a music talk show centered around Mr.
Harlem Yu, which was broadcasted on Zhejiang Satellite TV and
various online platforms during June to August 2024. The show has
consistently achieved the highest viewership rating among similar
variety shows in its timeslot, generating over 200 trending topics
with cumulative number of relevant discussions on Weibo exceeding
150 million. Revenue generated from the airing of the above TV
programmes during FY2024 amounted to RMB167.6 million.

Apart from TV programme, the Group has been dedicated in
organizing and/or planning a range of online and offline events. For
example, during 2024, the Group participated in the planning of a
variety and music show named “Thousand and One Nights (— F
£ — & )" featuring various celebrities and broadcast on Zhejiang
Satellite TV, Kuaishou and various platforms. The Group also
organized various events centered around Mr. Liu-Keng Hung (%I
Bt 7=), including the “Fitness Carnival” held in August 2024 at the
National Stadium, Bird’s Nest and the concert held in December
2024 in Chengdu.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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New retail business

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s new retail business
continues to demonstrate robust performance, generating revenue
of approximately RMB269.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately 12.5% from FY2023. The Group’s flagship product —
MODONG coffee (B R %I BE) remained popular among consumers.
According to China Insights Consultancy, MODONG coffee ( [Z 7 U
BE) continued to rank first (in terms of sales and sales volume) in
the bulletproof drink market in the PRC in 2024. Other products of
the Group are also highly recognized by the market. At the “2024
12th Xinyingyang Forum (2024 % 12J& #71 & & K &)”, the matcha
powder, protein bar and MODONG light brewed coffee (& 7 & £
MIBE) of the Group have successfully won the “New Lifestyle Hot
Product Award” and “Best Product Birth Award” double awards for
their excellent quality and innovative concepts.

In promoting the business performance of the new retail business,
the Company has been actively hosting conferences, meetings
and trainings amongst its distributors and sub-distributors. During
FY2024, the Group has organized over 150 distributors’ events across
forty-nine cities. In addition, as part of its initiative in the development
and employment of Al technology in its business operation, the
Group has started to adopt Al functions in the operation of its new
retail business. In particular, the “Al Nutritionist” functions have
been embedded into the Group’s App to provide nutrition analysis
and advice on users’ diets based on photos uploaded by them. The
Company will continue to apply different Al functions to enhance
customers’ experience and support the distributors and sub-
distributors in the sale of the Group’s products.
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The Unique IP-empowerment business model

Adhering to the business model of IP empowering, the Company is
committed to promote diversification of its IP operation, which in turn
enhance its brand awareness and business growth. During FY2024,
the Group has organized the first interactive CHOUCHOU (J& A
&)-themed exhibition in Shenzhen. Through meticulously designed
scenes and interactive experiences, the CHOUCHOU (& [7] &) IP
is reified and integrated with different themes and related products,
creating an immersive retail experience. In addition, the Group has
collaborated with Alipay in organizing the “Finding CHOUCHOU (=
HEEE)” events, by setting up various “check-in” spots featuring
CHOUCHOU (JER1Z) at iconic attractions located in different cities
and launching pop-up stores for CHOUCHOU (& [F] &) related
products during the period when concerts of the Jay Chou Carnival
World Tour were held, including Hangzhou, Fuzhou, Changsha,
Nanjing and Shenzhen. The Group has also held pop-up stores in
different cities including Wuhan, Chongqing and Tokyo. Through
the enormous amount of exposure of the Group’s IP events, these
activities had successfully enhanced the awareness of the Group and
its celebrity IPs.

The Group also actively diversified its IP operation. For instance,
the Group has launched vending machines primarily selling
CHOUCHOU (& [7] 2) related products in large-scale shopping
malls in different cities in the PRC. During FY2024, approximately
30 vending machines had been placed in various shopping malls for
trial operation. In addition, the Group collaborated with Migu Music
(K = £%), the music platform under China Mobile, to launch video
ringtones (18 83 % ) featuring different celebrity IPs.

The Company has demonstrated its unique strategy in the operation
of celebrity IPs, not only successfully generating income through
sponsorships and licensing of the IPs, but also ingeniously utilizing
the influence of its celebrity IPs to boost market sales of new retail
products and promote its brand, and at the same time inject new
vitality into the future IP contents.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The following highlights some of the major upcoming business plans
of the Group:

Planning of new media contents and events — The Group will continue
to develop popular media content and plan various events focusing
on its core celebrity IPs. In particular, the production of J-Style Trip
season 3 (/A #%523) has been completed and the programme has
began airing in March 2025. Also, a new cycling-themed variety
show featuring Mr. Liu Keng-hung and other programmes are also
expected to be broadcast this year. For offline events, a “Fitness
Carnival” featuring Mr. Liu Keng-hung is planned for August 2025,
as well as a concert of Mr. Eric Suen Yiu Wai to be held in Malaysia.
It is expected that these offline events will increase the level of
interaction between celebrities and their fans, as well as increase
brand awareness and influence.

Expansion and upgrade of product offerings — In continuing the
Group’s strategy of empowering its product sales through IP, along
with the airing of J-Style Trip season 3 (JA#Z5E 3), the Group plans
to launch a new product line “Modong Magic” focusing on functional
coffee products that combine coffee with various nutrients to create
delicious beverages that take care of the public’s health needs, such
as improving metabolism, resisting oxidation, and increasing satiety.
The Group is also contemplating an upgrade of its Matcha powder
by adding various fruit and vegetables and other nutrients to provide
extra dietary fiber and health supports to consumers. In addition, the
Group is planning the introduction of a new self-developed product
line that focuses on products with emotional value and to launch
various products such as plush toys, accessories, household items
and pet products. By constantly expanding its product offerings and
upgrading its existing products, the Group will continue to deliver
high-quality products that meet consumers’ needs.

Expansion into overseas markets — The Group plans to participate in
the investment in concerts of internationally renowned celebrities
in the coming year. Leveraging on its experience in celebrity
IPs development and operation, the Group would explore the
opportunities to cooperate with such international celebrities in the
development of nijigen-style personality, digital human, as well as
exclusive products featuring the characteristics of the celebrities.
At the same time, the Group is actively exploring opportunities for
its products to tap into overseas markets with the aim of expanding
its customer base and enhancing brand awareness. The Group is
planning to establish a new production line in Taiwan in collaboration
with third-party manufacturers to produce MODONG coffee ( BE i 1l
BE) and other products which primarily target overseas and Taiwan
markets.

12 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

RERZ
DT BN BA R EED IS B D = B ¥ B3

£l

RUFGRARTRIE TSESEBRETE
MEMREAT  LHHERLPEIPRESEE
B ARME  [FEL3/ERETK  BZEHE
ER2025%3 AFHE - o BB ELEETIR
MEHEBTIEGENE MEME B A BN
SEBH R NESE  SESRIIN 202545
SAEMIMERENIRIEZFE]  UERE
KRG RITHRBETEREE - Bt FARTA
BRIENAERENGZENEHIEE  WikS
mEMBERTEN -

WMARFARERER - RTELEEFBIPAL
EmHENRE BEIAECIINEL A%
B 51 & HE 0 = 7 Th 8E 1 00 BF &9 ¥ 2 an 4R [ Modong
Magic] - #MIBFER BB ERRHES » BEHL XK
FIES BB A R BBk (I Z 3 RAH - A
1L RSB NEARRRR) ROBREL © oSl NEERIERE R
BRI AR MASBRREREMER BB
BERERBINE R MR ET - Mo K
SEIFSELE2HFOBEETMEERRS - 4T
EEBREENER FIEMAITA B K
ERmMEDARS BETHEAEERER
RAGEBER AKEBKERENTHEES
FRMEEEM -

HEBHTH/ - A REFINRF2HEBERAA
REREENRE - BEEANPAEIPHEREE
THNER AEESRREZERRBESIE
mige  UHEAEAEREN —ATREBRLES
BEALEBER RN AEELEGRRE
mAREITIENEE - LIEREPER MBS
Mg A E - AEE LR EIRE =T RER A
REBEBRY—EHMNEER  LEX2HEBIH
BB 50 BRI BE & A & o



Strengthening offline distribution channels and enhancing brand
awareness — The Group will continue to focus on experience
marketing with C-end consumers through a combination of retail
stores, live streaming sessions and interactive entertainment
activities. The Group plans to establish a “blacklabel” store featuring
CHOUCHOU (& [a) &), offering a wide range of high-end products
relating to the celebrity IPs of the Group, including trendy toys,
clothing and accessories. On the other hand, the Group plan to
develop offline sale of “VIVICYCLE”, an athletic apparel brand
developed based on Mr. Liu Keng-hung and Ms. Vivi Wang, by
opening its self-operated store in Hangzhou and a number of co-
operated stores in first and second-tier cities in China. Apart from the
above initiatives, the Group will continue to operate pop-up stores
alongside the concert tour of Mr. Jay Chou and expand the operation
of vending machines in various shopping malls with large number
of visitors. The Company believes that by establishing various offline
distribution channels in combination of the Group’s IP content, it
would further enhance its brand awareness and users’ engagement.

Deepening the development and use of Al in the Group’s bhusiness — the
Group intends to continue its efforts in the digitalisation of celebrity
IPs in different forms and their commercialisation through contents
generated with Al, such as the planning of and investment in virtual
concerts and creation of other virtual media contents. Following
the success of “Al Nutritionist”, the Group intends to incorporate
other Al functions in the operation of its business and enhance the
users’ experience of C-end customers. For example, the Group is
developing “Al Anchor” which helps to enhance the production of
marketing material and personalised “Al Distributor” which assists
individual distributors to create their livestreaming sessions and video
distribution contents in various platforms. These tools can be used in
conjunction with each other to form an ecosystem based on Al to be
widely used in marketing, customer acquisition and other aspects of
the new retail business. On the other hand, the Group is also seeking
to implement Al functions in its various business units. By connecting
with the database of the Group, Al tools can be used in various
aspects of the business of the Group to enhance operation efficiency,
such as conducting analysis on market needs, creating design and
marketing materials.

Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWRE 2 Hh

BIELRTABRE RARBANEE - FEEE
HEZBHECTERN BHERLEBRELH
HECHBBEETRRALZH AKEFIHA

RATEARZ| AETEN[RBR]E - Bt — 578
AEBRAEIPHEHBENSHER  BEARITE

REEMEEE - B — W NEBEEBRM
MARBZEEMAAE—FE S TARER
SYEIE 4 - BREIVIVICYCLE ] (ER BBt 7=k 4 &
TLZLtHREMNESHRERE) HETHEE - KL
RS SN - AR [ G A AE BN A AN e S AR KGR S
CHIREE RIS IﬁAyF‘i}\mrymPﬁi@—%E
REBREBNEE - AR WHE BBAEVZS
BEAAEEIPANAMBETOHERE  BE—F
RAAEBNRENRERBF2H F

FEARFRERBIHBTRRER A SEH
BESHETRPANALEIPEE(L  ABBAI
EENATEEE ML RS RIRE EHRIRG

SURBERMERKEAR - #[AIZ 20 E
BRBE ARERGEBANERAXRTES
WRACHBEFHBF R -l NEBIEE
FAZETAIZ IR A B IR o2 & A FH O RUE - R fE
HAETAID SR A BB EAD HEES Faal2
EREANMEEDEAR ZETAREMREAE
o ATERIAA BEROERRRS  BZERAR
MGEH EELMTEXGEMAE - — 7 H

AREBNSRKESEEBBFIEIRAITNEE - BB
HAEENEREEE ATERERNRAEER

EBNEERE ARAEENRE -
SRR BUERET REEMBE -

PlanE1T ™

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z U5 13



Management Discussion and Analysis

THB WS Hh

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The business operations of the Group consist of two major segments,
namely (i) the new retail segment, where the Group primarily
develops and sells health management and skincare products
through various online and offline channels; and (i) the IP creation
and operation segment, where the Group creates and/or manages
celebrity IPs, provides planning and management services to the
production of media contents and events and licenses its celebrity
IPs and sells related products.

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB584.0 million for FY2024
(FY2023: RMB430.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately 35.8% as compared to the revenue of the Group for
FY2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue attributable to the IP creation and operation business of the
Group from RMB190.4 million in FY2023 to RMB314.3 million in
FY2024, representing an increase of approximately 65.1%. Set out
below is a breakdown of the Group’s revenue attributable to the two
business segments:
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FY2024 FY2023

2024 Bt & 202381 4

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ABR¥FIT AERBFor

IP creation and operation business IPBIE I & iE 275 314,260 190,405

New retail business NEEER 269,750 239,808

Total @t 584,010 430,213
IP creation and operation business IPEIEREEXRH

The IP creation and operation business of the Group mainly involves
(i) the creation of media content, which involves the organization,
planning and management of production of IP programmes; (ii)
event planning and management, where the Group provides event
planning services and/or invests in music concerts and other events;
(iii) celebrity IP management, which involve the development of
IPs of celebrities and Key Opinion Leaders (“KOLs"); and (iv) IP
licensing and sales of related products, which involve the creation
and licensing of celebrity IPs and the creation and sale of related
products.
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During FY2024, the Group generated revenue of RMB314.3 million
(FY2023: RMB190.4 million) from its IP creation and operation
business, contributing approximately 53.8% of the total revenue of
the Group during the period. Such revenue was primarily attributable
to the airing of two major TV programmes of the Group during the
Reporting Period. the airing of J-Style Trip season two (J& i &c 2)
and Yue Lai Yue Kuai Le (%2245 1R%%) had generated revenue of
approximately RMB167.6 million in FY2024.

Another major source of income of the Group’s IP creation and
operation business is its celebrity IP management business, where
the Group generates income from sponsorship, promotion fees and/or
commission from brand owners through collaboration with celebrities
and KOLs. Over the years, the Group has effectively created an IP
matrix surrounding various celebrities. During FY2024, the celebrity
IP management business of the Group continued to demonstrate
robust performance, contributing approximately RMB65.2 million
to the total revenue of the Group in FY2024 (FY2023: RMB71.2
million).

New retail business

The new retail business of the Group primarily focuses on the
development and sale of health management products and skincare
products, which are distributed through various channels including a
network of distributors and sub-distributors, as well as e-commerce
channels such as online stores operated on social media platform.

During FY2024, revenue generated from the new retail business of
the Group amounted to RMB269.8 million, representing an increase
of approximately 12.5% as compared to RMB239.8 million for
FY2023. The revenue from the new retail business was primarily
derived from the sale of the Group’s flagship product - MODONG
coffee (/& AR U BE), being a beverage containing high-fat specially
designed to support the fat/energy ratio under a low-carbohydrate
diet plan. During FY2024, MODONG coffee (& iR W1 F) recorded
a sale revenue of RMB152.0 million (FY2023: RMB139.8 million)
and sale volume of approximately 1.8 million boxes (FY2023:
approximately 1.8 million boxes). The Company believes that the
increase in sale was primarily attributable to the promotional effects
as a result of the airing of J-Style Trip season two (J& #% 52 2) and
its efforts in organizing various distributors’ activities. In addition,
the Group’s products are highly recognized by the market and have
obtained various awards, which could have also effectively enhanced
the sale of the products.
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Cost of revenue

The cost of revenue of the Group mainly includes (i) cost of goods
sold, primarily represent the cost paid to third-party manufacturers
and other suppliers for the production of products; (ii) cost of
event planning and management services, including cost paid to
performers, artist agencies and/or other suppliers in relation to the
provision of event planning and management services; and (iii) cost
of TV programme rights, being the TV programme rights which were
recognized as costs during the period the relevant programmes are
released.

The Group recorded a cost of revenue of RMB257.0 million for
FY2024 (FY2023: RMB153.9 million), representing an increase of
approximately 67.0% as compared to that of FY2023. Such increase
was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in cost of film and TV
programme rights by approximately RMB79.8 million following
the broadcast of J-Style Trip season two ([&#2522) and Yue Lai
Yue Kuai Le (%278 4411 %) during 2024, (ii) the increase in cost
of event planning and management services by RMB18.6 million
due to the increase in the varieties of events planned by the Group
and the expansion of celebrity IP portfolio; and (iii) the increase in
amortization of intangible assets and depreciation relating to the
investment properties of the Group by approximately RMB4.3 million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB327.0 million (FY2023:
RMB276.3 million), representing an increase of approximately
18.4% from that of FY2023. Such increase was primarily attributable
to the increase in revenue generated from IP creation and operation
business. Gross profit margin of the Group decreased to 56.0% in
FY2024 as compared to the gross profit margin of 64.2% in FY2023.
The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to the fact that
the Group has generated a significant proportion of revenue from the
broadcast of TV programmes in FY2024, which has a relatively lower
profit margin.
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Selling and marketing expenses

For FY2024, the selling and marketing expense of the Group was
RMB143.3 million (FY2023: RMB112.3 million), representing an
increase of approximately 27.6% from the corresponding period in
2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in
commission to the distributors and sub-distributors of approximately
RMB19.0 million to stimulate the sales of the Group’s new retail
products; and (ii) the increase in employee benefits expenses in
relation to sales and marketing personnel by RMB14.1 million.

General and administrative expenses

The Group recorded general and administrative expenses of
RMB114.0 million for FY2024 (FY2023: RMB106.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately 6.9% from the
corresponding period in 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable
to (i) the increase in employee benefits expenses under general and
administrative expenses by RMB21.0 million; (ii) increase in legal
and professional fees by RMB9.3 million; and (iii) the increase in
other expenses such as office expenses and donations by RMB8.8
million. Such increase was partially offset by the decrease in listing
expenses by RMB31.9 million.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded profit of RMB50.2
million (FY2023: RMB41.4 million) and a net profit margin of 8.6%
(FY2023: 9.6%) for FY2024.

Capital structure, liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares was
833,338,500 Shares (31 December 2023: 801,887,500 Shares) of
US dollar 0.00001 each.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of RMB296.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB145.8 million), which
were mainly denominated in Renminbi. The management of the
Group would continuously monitor the cash and financial resources
available to the Group in order to support its operations. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings in the
amount of RMB5.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB10.0 million),
which was arising from a five-year mortgage loan entered into in 2021
for the purchase of office premises with a fixed interest rate 5.7% per
annum. Such mortgage loan is repayable by monthly installments.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a current ratio of 3.7 times
(31 December 2023: 3.6 times) and gearing ratio of 0.01 times (31
December 2023: 0.02 times).
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Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: same).

Significant investment held

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investments with a value of 5% or more of the total assets of the
Group (31 December 2023: same).

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2024, interest-bearing bank borrowings of the
Group of RMB5.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB10.0 million)
was secured by certain properties of the Group.

Material acquisitions and disposals of assets, subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of assets, subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi. The management of the Group considers that
the business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk as it has no significant financial assets or liabilities that are
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional
currencies of its operating entities. The Group did not hedge against
any fluctuation in exchange rates of foreign currency during the
Reporting Period.

During FY2024, the Group recorded foreign exchange losses of
RMBO.8 million (FY2023: foreign exchange losses of RMB3.2
million), which was mainly arising from bank balance held by
offshore subsidiaries of the Company denominated in Renminbi as a
result of the devaluation of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars during the
Reporting Period.

Subsequent events after the reporting period
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no material event affecting
the Group since 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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MAJOR RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include: (i) the
Group’s business relies on the cooperation with celebrities such
as Mr. Jay Chou and Mr. Liu Keng-hung. If the Group is unable to
continue its cooperation with such celebrities, or there is any negative
publicity or rumour affecting the celebrities, it may have material
adverse impacts on the business of the Group; (ii) as a company
focusing on celebrity IP, the success of the Group is dependent on
the continued popularity of its products and celebrity IPs, as well as
the Group’s ability to anticipate and respond to changes in industry
trends, consumer preferences and behavior in a timely manner; and
(iii) slowdown in macro-economic growth and consumer sentiment
may negatively impact demand for the Group’s products which may
have a negative impact on the results of operation and financial
condition of the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, aged 49, joined the Group in November 2015
and is one of our founders. Ms. Ma was the chief executive officer
of Star Plus Cultural (Kunshan) Investment Company Limited (“Star
Plus (Kunshan)”) from November 2015 to August 2018. Ms. Ma was
appointed as the executive Director and chairperson of the Board
in September 2021, and has also been the chief executive officer
of Kunshan Star Plus Action E-Commerce Company Limited and
Beijing Star Plus Legend Cultural Development Company Limited
since March 2016 and June 2020, respectively. Ms. Ma is primarily
responsible for overall business strategy, daily management and
operations of the Group and has been responsible for overseeing the
sales function of the Group and the branding of our products. She
has also been heavily involved in the establishment of the distribution
system and network for MODONG coffee. Ms. Ma has more than
21 years of working experience in cultural, media and financial
industries.

Prior to founding the Group, Ms. Ma served in Taiwan Eastern
Broadcasting Co., Ltd. (RHZBERBXR M AR 2 F) from
December 1997 to April 2007, with her last position as news
producer, Ms. Ma served as consultant in a company held by IDG
Capital from August 2008 to March 2020, where she was primarily
responsible for providing investment-related advisory services. In May
2022, Ms. Ma was appointed as an expert of the Brand Committee
(T A HEZEER) of the New Retail and Livestream E-commerce
Expert Committee (1 ZEMEFE B HEXZ 8 €) established
by the Development Research Center of the State Administration for
Market Regulation.

Ms. Ma obtained a master's degree in marketing and distribution
management from National Kaohsiung University of Science and
Technology (formerly known as National Kaohsiung First University
of Science and Technology) in June 2003 and a college degree in
Japanese language from Wenzao Ursuline University of Languages
(formerly known as Wenzao Ursuline College of Languages (F.37 X
EINEFE X ERHER)) in June 1995.
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Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan, aged 61, joined the Group in April 2017
as a consultant of Star Plus (Kunshan) and was appointed as the
strategy officer of Star Plus (Kunshan) in August 2018. Dr. Qian was
appointed as the chief executive officer of Star Plus Development
Limited (“Star Plus Development”) in October 2020. Dr. Qian was
appointed as the chief executive officer and executive Director
in September 2021. Dr. Qian is primarily responsible for overall
business strategy and corporate finance strategy of the Group.
Dr. Qian has over 21 years of experience in financial market and
management of public companies.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Qian served as an associate in the
strategic trading division of Chase Manhattan Bank from December
1993 to July 1996; associate director in the risk finance group of
Barclays Capital, an investment bank, from July 1996 to February
2000; vice president in Sohu.com Limited (formerly known as Sohu.
com Inc.), the shares of which are listed on the Nasdag Stock
Market (NASDAQ: SOHU), a company principally engaged in brand
advertising and online games, from March 2000 to March 2004,
where he was in charge of strategising business plans. Dr. Qian
served as the president and chief financial officer of China Finance
Online Co., Ltd, the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaqg Stock
Market (NASDAQ: JRJC), a web-based financial information/service
company, from April 2004 to June 2006, where he supervised
works relating to finance, investors relations and administration. Dr.
Qian also served as the chief financial officer of Allyes Information
Technology Company Limited (4F BBz B 51l ( =)&) BR A 7)), a
company principally engaged in online marketing, from June 2006
to April 2007, where he supervised the financial operations of the
company; and the managing director of ExaByte Capital Management
(HK) Limited, an asset management company, from April 2012
to December 2016, where he participated in the formulation of
strategies.

Dr. Qian has served as an independent non-executive director of
Yoho Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2347) since May 2022.

Dr. Qian obtained a Doctor of Philosophy degree in astro-physics
from Columbia University in the United States in February 1991 and
a bachelor’s degree in physics from the University of Science and
Technology of China in June 1985.
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EFREREREBEE

Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki, aged 60 , joined the Group in November
2015. Mr. Lai was appointed as the executive Director and chief
financial officer in September 2021. Mr. Lai is primarily responsible
for overall financial management and corporate finance strategy
of the Group. Mr. Lai has over 35 years of working experience in
accounting and financial advisory.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lai served at Citibank, N.A. from
October 1989 to September 2000, with his last position as vice
president of the worldwide securities services department; and
JPMorgan Chase & Co. from September 2000 to February 2008,
with his last position as executive director of the treasury & securities
services department, where he was responsible for providing
investment-related advisory services. Subsequently, Mr. Lai served
as chief financial officer and general manager of several enterprises
engaged in cultural project management in the PRC and was
responsible for formulating operational and financial strategies of the
companies.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’'s degree in computing studies from

Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1989.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung, aged 61, is one of our founders. Mr. Yang
was appointed as the non-executive Director in September 2021.
Mr. Yang is responsible for advising on the overall development
of the Group. Mr. Yang is an established music professional with
more than 31 years of experience in the music industry and artiste
management.

Mr. Yang has been the chief executive officer, director and controlling
shareholder of JVR Music, the artiste management company of
various celebrities including Mr. Jay Chou, since April 2007, where
he is responsible for the provision of artiste management service to
celebrities and acted as the manager of celebrities including Mr.
Jay Chou. He also assists celebrities in relation to the creation and
production of songs and music albums.

Mr. Yang has been a non-executive director of G.H.Y Culture &
Media Holding Co., Limited from November 2020 to April 2024, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (SGX: XJB).

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in agricultural promotion from
Taiwan University in June 1987.

Mr. Chen, Chung, aged 64, is one of our founders. He was appointed
as the non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Chen is
responsible for advising on the overall development of the Group. Mr.
Chen has over 16 years of working experience in artiste management.

Mr. Chen has served as the general manager of Juicy Music Co Ltd
(EEE %182 5{EHBR A A]), a company principally engaged in
artiste management, since 2005, where he has been responsible
for the negotiation of endorsement agreements for various artists,
including Mr. Jay Chou, and execution of concerts.
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EFREREREBEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Xue Jun, aged 50, joined the Group as the independent non-
executive Director in April 2023. Dr. Xue is responsible for providing
independent advice on the operation and management of the Group.
Dr. Xue has considerable professional experience in the legal field, in
particular, e-commerce related laws in the PRC.

Dr. Xue has been working at the Peking University since 2005 and
is currently a professor at the Law School of Peking University (1t &
KE) and the director of e-commerce law research center of Peking
University. In July 1996 and June 2000, Dr. Xue received a bachelor
of laws degree and master’s degree in civil and commercial laws from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7 & B & BUA K £2)
(previously known as Zhongnan University of Political Science and
Law (A7 B BUR 2 BT)) and Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law (71 R Bf 48 B 3& K E2) respectively. In October 2005, Dr. Xue
obtained his doctorate in Roman law from Universita degli Studi di
Roma Tor Vergata.

Dr. Xue served as an independent non-executive director of Sino-
Ocean Service Holding Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6677) from
November 2020 to August 2022.

Mr. Yang, Dave De (former name: Yang Dezhi), aged 59, joined the
Group as the independent non-executive Director in April 2023.
Mr. Yang is responsible for providing independent advice on the
operation and management of the Group.

Mr. Yang served as the regional finance director for the North Asia
region of Reckitt Benckiser Group PLC, the shares of which are listed
on the London Stock Exchange (LON: RB), a company providing
hygiene, health and nutrition products, from September 2012 to
September 2016; and partner and chief financial officer of Dalton
International, from January 2017 to February 2019.

Mr. Yang served as an independent director and chairperson of the
audit committee of ChangYou.com Limited, a company previously
listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market (NASDAQ: CYOU) from April 2009
to April 2020; and has been an independent director and member of
the audit committee of Sohu.com Limited (formerly known as Sohu.
com Inc.), the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market
(NASDAQ: SOHU) since April 2017.
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Mr. Yang obtained a master’s degree in science from the City
University of New York in June 1995, a master’s degree in
management engineering from the University of Science and
Technology of China (9 Bl %} £ £ 17 K 2) in August 1989, and
bachelor's degree in geophysics from the University of Science and
Technology of China in July 1986.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, aged 54, joined the Group as the
independent non-executive Director in April 2023. Ms. Chung is
responsible for providing independent advice on the operation and
management of the Group.

Ms. Chung is currently the chief executive officer and executive
director of Brillink Bank Corporation Limited and a director of Brillink
Fintech Limited. She is also the co-founder and currently the Asia
Pacific Deputy chairman of the GCC APAC Business Chamber, as
well as the vice president of the Greater Bay Area Carbon Neutrality
Association. Prior to that, she was appointed as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of China Brilliant Global Limited (a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8026) from May 2018 to October 2023, and appointed as chief
executive officer and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG)
PTE Limited in 2017, responsible for brand positioning, strategic
planning, and business development. Ms. Chung was an employee of
BOCI Securities Limited and HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited
from April 2003 to April 2017. Ms. Chung also served as a non-
executive director of InvesTech Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1087) from 3
January 2023 to 30 May 2024. Since January 2025, Ms. Chung has
been serving as an independent non-executive director of NWTN Inc.
(NASDAQ: NTWN).

Ms. Chung obtained a bachelor of science degree from Rutgers, The
State University of New Jersey in October 1994.
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EFREREREBEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Please refer to “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management —
Executive Directors” for the biographical details information of Ms.
Ma, Hsin-Ting, Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai
Franki.

Ms. Zhou, Peimin, aged 47, joined our Group in April 2017 as a
consultant of Star Plus (Kunshan) and was appointed as the chief
operating officer of Star Plus (Kunshan) in April 2019 and director
and general manager of Beijing Star Plus Legend in August 2020.
Ms. Zhou was appointed as our chief operating officer in September
2021. Ms. Zhou is responsible for developing IP strategy and IP
licensing business and related daily management and operations
of our Group. Ms. Zhou has approximately 20 years of working
experience in retail industry and intellectual property related work.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou worked in Shanghai SEB Electric
Appliances Co., Ltd. ( £/ EIEE R F R A 7)), from July 2000 to
June 2003 and Adidas (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (P EHT (BRM) B R A
al), from October 2003 to December 2005. Ms. Zhou also served as
a senior manager of the Digital Business Development department in
The Walt Disney Company (China) Limited (458t (R ) BR
A 8]) from January 2006 to March 2018.

Ms. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer science from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science ( /& T2 T A2 ) in
July 2000.

Mr. Fang, Wenshan, aged 56, joined our Group in February 2021 as
the chief cultural officer of Star Plus Development and was appointed
as our chief cultural officer in September 2021. Mr. Fang is
responsible for marketing and advertising the Group’s products and
creative strategy planning of our Group. Mr. Fang has approximately
20 years of working experience in songwriting and cultural creation.
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Mr. Fang is a lyricist of Chinese pop music and a music producer.
Mr. Fang joined JVR Music in April 2007, where he was responsible
for songwriting; has served as the chief executive officer in Fang-
Wen-Shan Cultural Media Limited (7@ X L&l B BR 2 7F)
since August 2007, a company principally engaged in providing art
performance agency services, where he has been mainly responsible
for management and operations; the chairman of the board of EIf
Village Creative Land Company Limited (5B AR E S
fR ‘A &]) since March 2017, a company principally engaged in
manufacturing cultural and creative products and execution of art
exhibitions, where he has been mainly responsible for managing the
operation of the company; and the chief executive officer in Beijing
Fang-Wen-Shan Cultural Media Limited (4t & 75 & 317 XL & 1%
B BRAR]) since February 2011, a company principally engaged in
providing artiste management services, where he has been mainly
responsible for managing the operation of the company. Mr. Fang
was involved in the creation of lyrics and cultural products at these
companies.

Mr. Fang received the best lyricist award for the 13th and 19th
Golden Melody Awards in 2002 and 2008, respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lai, Ying Tung, was appointed as our company secretary on 28
December 2023. She is currently a manager of corporate services
of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. Ms. Lai has approximately
nine years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has
been providing a full range of corporate and compliance services.

Ms. Lai obtained a master’s degree in corporate governance from
Hong Kong Metropolitan University. She has been a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and a fellow member
of The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom since
2021.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

Set out below is the change in information of the Director(s), which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules:

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, an independent non-executive
Director, is the co-founder and currently the Asia Pacific Deputy
chairman of the GCC APAC Business Chamber, as well as the vice
president of the Greater Bay Area Carbon Neutrality Association.
Since January 2025, Ms. Chung has been serving as an independent
non-executive director of NWTN Inc. (NASDAQ: NTWN).
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Directors’ Report
EFEERE

The Board presents the directors’ report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 3
January 2020 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company acts as an investment
holding company and the Group are principally engaged in new
retail business and IP creation and operation business in the PRC.
The principal activities of the Group are also set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The results of the Group for the FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 84 to 85.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on
page 204. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the FY2024, which includes
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the FY2024
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairperson’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators is included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group is included in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. The business review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group strives to minimize its environmental impact by reducing
its carbon footprint in order to fulfill its social responsibility to
promote a sustainable environment. During the FY2024 and up to
the date of this annual report, the Group has not been subject to any
fines or other penalties due to non-compliance with environmental
regulations.

Details of the environmental policies and performance of the
Company can be found in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group is subject to applicable laws and regulations in the PRC in
respect of its business operations, including but not limited to those
relating to food production, sale and safety, cosmetics, e-commerce
activities and online livestreaming marketing. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, the Group has complied
in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
FY2024.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success depends on the support from its key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.
The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with its employees, providing quality services to its
customers and enhancing cooperation with its suppliers and business
partners.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Group. The Group has invested significant resources in
recruitment in order to attract suitable personnel the join the Group.
To reward and recognize high-performing staff, the Group offers
competitive remuneration package to its employees and provide
internal training programmes in order to promote career development
and progression.

As required by the laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in various government statutory employee benefit plans,
including social insurance funds, namely a pension contribution
plan, a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a
work-related injury insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a
housing provident fund. Meanwhile, the Group’s employees in Hong
Kong have joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes, defined
contribution schemes managed by independent trustees. Particulars
of these retirement plans are set out in note 8(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors’ Report
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Customers

The Group’s customers include distributors and end consumers for
its new retail business, and brand owners, TV stations, IP licensing
partners and online platform operators for its IP creation and
operation business. The Group is dedicated to providing quality goods
and excellent customer service in its cooperation with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s suppliers include selected third-party manufacturers
for its new retail business and event planning and management
companies for its IP creation and operation business. The Group
strives to maintain a stable relationship with its key suppliers in order
to derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the FY2024, approximately 7.9% and 35.6% of the Group’s
revenue were attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the
Group’s five largest customers in aggregate, respectively.

For the FY2024, the percentage of cost of the Group attributable
to largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate were
approximately 21.9% and approximately 52.7%, respectively.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates; or
any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the number of Company’s issued shares) had an interest
in the five largest customers and five largest suppliers of the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 412 employees (31
December 2023: 353 employees), a majority of which are located
in the PRC. As required by the laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group participates in various government statutory employee benefit
plans, including social insurance funds and housing provident funds.
The Group is required under the PRC laws to contribute to employee
benefit plans at specified percentages of the salaries, bonuses and
certain allowances of our employees up to a maximum amount
specified by the local government from time to time.

During FY2024, the Group incurred employee benefit expense
of RMB106.2 million (FY2023: RMB70.5 million). The Group's
remuneration policy rewards employees and Directors based on
individual’s performance, demonstrated capabilities, involvement,
market comparable information and the performance of the Group.
The Group has also adopted a share option scheme and may grant
options thereunder to, among others, its Directors, officers and
employees. In addition, the Group provides regular internal training
program to its employees, which covers topics on its business
operations, corporate culture, products and the industry trends etc.,
which will allow the employees to envision their career paths and
growth potential with the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plants and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the FY2024 are set out in
notes 12 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale
of treasury shares) during the Reporting Period. As at 31 December
2024, there were no treasury shares being held by the Company.
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DEBENTURES IN ISSUE
The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the FY2024.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On 16 April 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with CMBC Securities Company Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best effort
basis, up to 31,522,000 new Shares to not less than six placees
(the “Placing”). The Board considers that the Placing would provide
a good opportunity for the Company to raise additional funds to
strengthen its financial position and broaden its shareholder base
and capital base. The Placing was completed on 2 May 2024 and
a total of 31,451,000 new Shares (the “Placing Share(s)”), with an
aggregate nominal value of US$314.51, were issued and allotted to
seven placees at the placing price of HK$7.1 per Placing Share. Each
of the placees is a professional, institutional or other investor which is
a third party independent of the Company and its connected persons.
The net proceeds raised from the Placing, after deducting all relevant
fees, costs and expenses to be borne or incurred by the Company,
were approximately HK$222.1 million and the net price of the Placing
was approximately HK$7.06 per Placing Share. The market value of
the Placing Shares is approximately HK$262.9 million, based on the
closing price of HK$8.36 per Share on 16 April 2024. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 16 April and 2 May
2024 for further details of the Placing. For details of the use of net
proceeds from the Placing, please refer to the paragraph “USE OF
PROCEEDS — Use of net proceeds from the Placing” in this Directors’
Report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the FY2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 26 of the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserve as at 31 December 2024 as
calculated under the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to RMB542.8 million (FY2023: RMB338.5 million).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during the
FY2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or
the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to Monday, 30 June 2025 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In order to be qualified
for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates are
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, 24 June 2025.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2024, the Group has made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of approximately RMB1.7 million (FY2023:
approximately RMB2.8 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS

Use of net proceeds from the Global Offering

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 13 July 2023 by way of global offering (the “Global Offering”).
After deducting the underwriting fees and expenses payable by the
Company in connection with the Global Offering, the net proceeds
received by the Company from the Global Offering amounted to
approximately HK$252.8 million.
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The proceeds from the Global Offering are and will continuously be 2 Bk 2% & B 15 7k T8 3R BF K2 i 46 48 1 FR AR S 2 P &k

applied in the same manner as set out in the Prospectus, namely: MRS XER - B :
Net proceeds Net proceeds
unutilised as at Net proceeds  unutilised as at
Amount of 1January  utilised during 31 December
Item net proceeds 2024 FY2024 2024
R2024 5 R2024 %

1B1R  R2024RB%E 12A31H
PR RIE *BRMRE EEA KERH

HAE B8 REPE FHAREPE MFMOARWSRHE
(HK$ million)
(ABAT)
Diversification of product portfolio ETLESHES 60.2 53.3 30.9 224
Research and development of food and HER MR
beverages 218 216 15.4 6.2
Research and development of skincare MHEEEm
products 20.0 194 39 155
Research and development of other new W3S i3 & R 4%
product lines 105 6.3 6.3 -
Research and development of products MEEEIPHEENER
associated with proprietary IPs 79 6.0 53 0.7

Increase hrand exposure and product ENMESRENBLORIERLE
sales on multi-channel network REAME 114 67.3 23.0 44.3
Cooperation with selected KOLs and/or EETFHKOLAER, /3 KOL
placement of sale-based advertisement MERTERRIEERES
in KOL's e-commerce livestreaming

sessions 4.2 376 12.2 254
Development of proprietary livestreaming ~ FZERHEEHE MEEKOLK

programs and cultivation of KOLs and R E REEH (KOC)

key opinion consumers (KOCs) 332 29.7 10.8 189

Creation of unique celebrity IPs and FEREENHEPRARPAS

associated IP contents 70.2 22.4 224 -
IP content creation IPABEIE 46.8 123 123 =
Event planning EEIE ] 23.4 10.1 10.1 =

Upgrade of IT infrastructure and increase FRITEREREREMEIT

the investment in IT development RARMKRE 311 17.1 114 5.7
Working Capital EEREX 139 1.3 1.3 =
Total @t 252.8 167.4 95.0 124
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During the Reporting Period, the net proceeds from the Global
Offering were utilized, or were proposed to be utilized, in accordance
with the intentions previously disclosed by the Company, and there
was no material change or delay in the use of proceeds. As at the
date of this report, the Company does not anticipate any material
change to the above plan of use of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering. The Company anticipates that the remaining unutilised net
proceeds as at 31 December 2024 are expected to be fully utilised
on or before 31 December 2025.

Use of net proceeds from the Placing

On 2 May 2024, the placing of 31,451,000 new Shares (i.e. the
Placing Shares) was completed at a placing price of HK$7.1 per
Placing Share. The net proceeds raised from the Placing, after
deducting all relevant fees, costs and expenses to be borne or
incurred by the Company, were approximately HK$222.1 million

The following table sets forth details of the use of the net proceeds
from the Placing up to 31 December 2024
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net proceeds FY2024 2024
2024
2024 Bt 5 12A31H
=% 00::] ) KEA®
FABRIAPE FEREPE FEREPH
(HK$ million)
(B8%T)
To invest in and/or plan physical BER/HNREAAEEE
concerts of artists which the Group ENBEANEREES
cooperates with 79.8 29.5 50.3
To increase the Company’s effortsto  JIAAR &l A [ 55
enter the “metaverse” (JTF &) ERRGHNE
ecosystem 60.5 60.5 -
Potential investments related to the BEARNREEEE A
Company’s principal business HELIRE
activities 60.0 - 60.0
General working capital and for —REEESR
general corporate purposes —RFEASR 21.8 2.5 19.3
Total it 222.1 92.5 129.6
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The Company expects that the net proceeds from the Placing will be
fully utilised by 31 December 2026. During the Reporting Period,
the proceeds raised by the Company from the Placing were utilized,
or were proposed to be utilized, in accordance with the intentions
previously disclosed by the Company, and there was no material
change or delay in the use of proceeds.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (Chairperson)

Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung
Mr. Chen, Chung

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Xue, Jun

Mr. Yang, Dave De

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

In accordance with Article 109(a) of the Articles, Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting,
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and all of them, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company, all for an initial fixed term of three
years from 18 April 2023. The service contracts and the letters
of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed in
accordance with our Articles and the applicable Listing Rules.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any Directors to be re-
elected at the forthcoming AGM which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transaction”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions” below, no Directors nor
entities connected with a Director had material beneficial interest,
directly or indirectly in any transaction and arrangement or contract
of significance subsisting as at 31 December 2024, or during
FY2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective close associates had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business, which would require disclosure pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On 29 May 2023, each of the Controlling Shareholders has entered
into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
under which each of the Controlling Shareholders has, warranted and
undertaken to our Company that he/she/it shall not, and he/she/it
shall use his/her/its best endeavors to procure that none of his/her/its
close associates (other than any member of the Group) shall, directly
or indirectly as principal or agent, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, or through any entities
(except in or through any members of the Group), compete with the
business of the Group as disclosed in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of their compliance with the non-competition undertakings under
the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of
Non-competition and based on the information and confirmations
provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders, confirmed
that they were not aware of any non-compliance of the non-
competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transaction”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions” below, no contract of
significance concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the FY2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has a permitted indemnity provision (as defined in
section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force for the benefit of
the Directors throughout the FY2024 and as at the date of approval of
this Directors’ report, pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify
any Director against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices, except such (if any) as
they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.
The Company has not taken out and may take out and maintained
appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors and officers. During the FY2024, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the FY2024, other than (i) the Placing Agreement, details of
which are set out in the section "Issue of equity securities" in this
Directors' report; (ii) the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan and the Share
Option Scheme, which are set out in the sections headed “Pre-IPO
Stock Incentive Plan” and “Share Option Scheme”, respectively in
this Directors’ report, the Company has not entered into any equity-
linked agreement.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’

REMUNERATION

In compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, the Company has established the Remuneration
Committee to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives, make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of all directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies concerning such remuneration.
In determining the emolument payable to the Directors, the
Remuneration Committee shall consider the salaries paid by
comparable companies, the time commitment and responsibilities of
such position, the employment conditions elsewhere in the Group,
as well as the performance and contribution of the relevant Director
to the Company. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

SHARE SCHEMES

Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Shareholders on 3 August
2020, the Company approved and adopted the Pre-IPO Stock
Incentive Plan to grant awards to Directors, employees and other
service providers. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan is
to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentives to the eligible persons under the plan and to promote the
success of the Company’s business. Up to the Listing Date, options
in respect of 33,217,009 Shares (as adjusted after the capitalization
issue on the Listing Date) were granted to 34 grantees under the Pre-
IPO Stock Incentive Plan.

The participants of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan include (a)
any person, including a director, who is in the employment of the
Company or any related entity, subject to the control and direction
of the Company or any related entity as to both the work to be
performed and the manner and method of performance; (b) a
member of the Board or the board of directors of any related entity;
and (c) any person (other than those mentioned above, solely
with respect to rendering services in such person’s capacity as an
employee or director) who is engaged by the Company or any related
entity to render consulting or advisory services to the Company
or such related entity. There is no restriction on the maximum
entitlement of each participant under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive
Plan.
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No consideration is payable on acceptance of the grant of the options
under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan. Any option granted under
the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall be exercisable at such times
and under such conditions as determined by the designated Director
under the terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan and specified
in the award agreement. The exercise or purchase price, if any, for
an award granted under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall be
determined by the Administrator, subject to the terms of the Pre-
IPO Stock Incentive Plan and the relevant instrument evidencing the
agreement to the grant of such award.

The Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall continue in effect for a term
of ten (10) years after the date of adoption by the Board and shall
expire on 2 August 2030. As at the date of this report, the Pre-IPO
Stock Incentive Plan had a remaining life of approximately 5 years
and 4 months. No further option is available for grant under the Pre-
IPO Stock Incentive Plan after the Listing Date and as at the date of
this annual report. The terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan are
not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it
does not involve the grant of options or awards by the Company after
the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. Please refer to the
Prospectus for further details of the Pre-IPO Incentive Plan.
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The particulars of the outstanding options under the Pre-IPO Stock X /A 53 & R XD B Bh 5t 81 1 i A 17 188 BB A 4

Incentive Plan are as follows: RIEEIBNT
Outstanding Number of options Outstanding
asat BREHE asat
1 January Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant 2024 during the year  during the year  during the year 2024 Vesting period  Exercise period (HKS)
R20245F R20245F
1R1H 12R318 TR
ERA RHAM RETE  EREFE  FREEE  FRBAN RETE BEM fTiE (B7)
Director
]
Ms. Ma 3 August 2020 6,640,004 - - - 6,640,004 (Note 1) (Note 3) 143
St 2020%8A3A Witl) (Wit3)
Employees 3 August 2020 26,111,505 - - - 26,111,505 (Note 1) (Note 3) 143
&8 02058F3H Hi#1) (Hi#3)
16 November 2020 266,000 - - - 266,000 (Note2) (Note 3) 143
20205117168 (Hi2) (Hit3)
Total 33,017,509 - - - 33,017,509
@5
Notes: Biat -
1. The options granted to each grantee shall be vested in four instalments, 1. BTYEABRANEBREESUBEE -FIRLE
25% of the option granted shall be vested on 3 August 2021, 2022, % 4 89 25% # 2 Bl) ;A 2021 F + 2022 F + 2023 F
2023 and 2024, respectively. K2024F8 A3BHE -

2. The options granted to the grantee shall be vested in four instalments, 2. ETFEABRANBREES NEBAEE FIXDER
25% of the option granted shall be vested on 16 November 2021, 8 25% 1 9 B A 2021 4F ~ 2022 4F - 2023 F K&
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. 202411 A 16 BB -

3. The exercise period of the options shall commence from the end of the 3. EBRENITEHSAEERBEHNEREHKER
respective vesting period until the 10th anniversary of the date of grant, FREBHETAFTAIL HABTHEAAAESE
subject to terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan and the grant RIRR (7 BB AT ENE TR R AR IR A2 H AR H B A -
notice given to the grantees.
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Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders on 19
June 2023, conditional upon the listing of the Shares on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and effective from the Listing Date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivize and
reward the eligible persons under the scheme for their contribution
to the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company as
so to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company. Persons eligible to participate the Share Option Scheme
are (i) any director and employee of any member of the Group; (ii)
any director or employee of any of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Group; and (iii) any
person (including an entity) that provides services to the Group on
a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of its long term growth (the “Service
Provider(s)”).

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Listing Date and shall expire on 12 July 2033. As
at the date of this report, the Share Option Scheme had a remaining
life of approximately 8 years and 3 months.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Within the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted to the Service Providers must not exceed 8,000,000 Shares,
being 1% of the total number of Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(the “Service Provider Sublimit”).
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As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 and the date of this
report, the number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limited and Service Provider Sublimit were 80,000,000
Shares, and 8,000,000 Shares, respectively. As at the date of this
report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme pursuant to the Scheme Mandate Limit is
80,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.31% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this report.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, no options shall be granted
to any person eligible to participate the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company, which, if exercised,
would result in such person becoming entitled to subscribe for
such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number
of Shares already issued or to be issued to him under all options
granted to him (including exercise, canceled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer
of such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date or
such higher limit as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a
waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion.

An offer of options shall be open for acceptance for 30 days from the
date of offer or such period as the Board may determine and notify
to person eligible concerned provided that no such offer shall be
open for acceptance after expiry of the duration of the Share Option
Scheme. An offer of options not accepted within this period shall
lapse. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option and such payment shall not be refundable and
shall not be deemed to be a part payment of the option price.
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Any option shall be vested on the grantee immediately upon his
acceptance of the offer of options, subject to any vesting schedule
and/or conditions specified in the offer of the option.

Any vested option under the Share Option Scheme which has not
lapsed and which conditions have been satisfied or waived by
the Board in its sole discretion may, unless the Board determines
otherwise in its absolute discretion, be exercised at any time from
the next business day after the offer of options has been accepted.
Any option which remain unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry of
the option period, which period shall be determined by the Board
and shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date of the option or
such longer period as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a
waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of
options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The offer price of the Shares under the Share Option Scheme will
be a price determined by the board, but shall not be less than
the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

During the Reporting Period, no share options have been

outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(A) Long positions in the Shares
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(A) MEBBFE

Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HEBT
58 & =R 054
EFENR BaKHE Bin®E (H1ate6)
Ms. Ma (Notes 1 and 5) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 23.92%
B+ (HiF1xK5) REEEB R
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 31.89%
—BITBHATHER
Beneficial owner 6,640,004 0.80%
EnBAA
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (“Dr. Qian”) Beneficial owner 9,965,103 1.20%
(Note 2)
g B ((8EEE]) (Hi7Z2) ER#AA
Interest of spouse 13,206,742 1.59%
B (B 4 2
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Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HERT
FRisH ;2. =R 054
EENR HaKH 2 A= (Ktite6)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (“Mr. Lai”) Beneficial owner 99,651,027 11.96%
FERIE S A ([FESEAD) En#BA
Mr. Yang (Notes 3 and 5) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 23.92%
B E (i3 K5) REZ LB
Interest of party acting in concert 272,376,076 32.68%
—BITBATHIER
Mr. Chen (Notes 4 and 5) Interest in controlled corporation 66,434,018 7.98%
BRICHE (M54 5) REEEEE R
Interest of party acting in concert 405,244,112 48.63%
—BITBHATHER
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee Beneficial owner 150,000 0.02%

SRR T E=EBA
Notes: Biat -
1. In accordance with the SFO, Ms. Ma has total interest in 1.

471,678,130 Shares, of which 265,736,072 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert, 199,302,054 Shares are held
by Harmony Culture which is wholly owned by Ms. Ma and
6,640,004 underlying Shares under the options conditionally
granted to her under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Ma is deemed to be interested in the Shares

which Harmony Culture has interest in.

2. In accordance with the SFO, Dr. Qian has total interest in 2.
23,171,845 Shares, of which Ms. Zhang Jing who is interested
in 13,206,742 Shares. Dr. Qian is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Jing.
By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Qian is deemed to be interested in the

Shares which Ms. Zhang Jing has interest in.

3. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Yang has total interest in 3.
471,678,130 Shares, of which 272,376,076 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert and 199,302,054 Shares are held
by Legend Key which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Yang and 50%
by Ms. Yeh. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Legend Key has interest in.
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(B)

In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Chen has total interest in
471,678,130 Shares, of which 405,244,112 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert and 66,434,018 Shares are held
by Max One which is wholly owned by Mr. Chen. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Max One has interest in.

Pursuant to the concert party agreement dated 13 September
2021, Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen agreed, among
other things, that they should act in concert in respect of their
voting rights and actively cooperate to consolidate control over
voting rights of the Company. Accordingly, each of Ms. Ma, Mr.
Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which each of them is interested under the SFO.

The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Long positions in the shares of associated corporations REBEERMDOETE
Percentage
Number of of interest in
shares held associated
Name of associated in associated corporation
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest corporation (Note 1)
{S4EBCER
RAEBGER ERast
EFENR HEEE RS HaHH FRrisE i 8 B (Hfet1)
Ms. Ma Harmony Culture Beneficial owner 1 100%
B+ EmEBA
Mr. Yang Legend Key Beneficial owner 500,000 50%
& BB A
Mr. Chen Max One Beneficial owner 2,000,000 100%
BR 5 A4 BB A
Note: Biat -
1. The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital 1. ZABE R EEAEEER2024412 A

of the relevant associated corporation as at 31 December 2024.

31EMBEEITRAGE -
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(C)

48

Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company
under equity derivatives

C) BREERFEFTETIANFTLTHRKGE
L3

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Shares the issued

(under equity share capital

derivatives  of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest of the Company) (Note 2)

LELH

HEK B E BERTRE

(REFLTH Bhaat

EENR i k=331 BEGFETIR) (H1at2)

(@) Ms. Ma (Note 1) Beneficial owner 6,640,004 0.80%

Bt (Hi71) EnBAA

Notes: Hiaz -

1. 6,640,004 options were granted to Ms. Ma under the Pre-IPO
Stock Incentive Plan.

2. The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors were aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:
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BRNANARI MG 2B ERIIXR

(A) Long positions in the Shares (A) BB ZHE
Percentage of
issued share
Number of capital
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HEeERT
%8 BEFES L
BERME BB Eany BinE B (Htete6)
(a) Harmony Culture Beneficial owner 199,302,054 23.92%
Harmony Culture BEomEE A
(b) Legend Key Beneficial owner 199,302,054 23.92%
Legend Key EmEBA
(¢c)  Ms. Yeh (Notes I and 2) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 23.92%
B+ (HaE1k2) REZEEBE N ER
Interest of party acting in concert 272,376,076 32.68%
—HITEA LR ERS
(d)  Max One Beneficial owner 66,434,018 7.98%
Max One BEmEE A
(e) Harvest Great Bay VI Investment SP Beneficial owner 15,000,000 1.80%
(“Harvest”) (Note 3)
Harvest Great Bay VI Investment SP Bz %A A
([Harvest]) (#17#3)
(f)  Blink Field Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 35,570,000 4.27%
Blink Field Limited (47:#3) EmEAA
Interest in controlled corporation 15,000,000 1.80%

REEEE N R
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50

Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital

Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)

HEBTT

risHE BEES L

BERE EIiE EaHg BRipE B (Hizt6)

(g) Zhang Yuan (“Mr. Zhang”) (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 50,570,000 6.07%
TR ([REED (H7£3) REZE LB ER

(h)  Mr. Ho Chi Sing (“Mr. Ho") (Note 4) Interest in controlled corporation 45 513,546 5.47%

RS (MK A D) (Fat4)

Notes:

KRB R &

BT

1. Ms. Yeh has total interest in 471,678,130 Shares, of which 1.
272,376,076 Shares are held by other parties acting in concert
and 199,302,054 Shares are held by Legend Key which is
owned as to 50% by Ms. Yeh. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Yeh is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Legend Key has

interest in.

2. Pursuant to the concert party agreement dated 13 September 2.
2021, Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh, and Mr. Chen agreed, among
other things, that they should act in concert in respect of their
voting rights and actively cooperate to consolidate control over
voting rights of the Company. Accordingly, each of Ms. Ma, Mr.
Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which each of them is interested under the SFO.

3. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Zhang has total interest in 3.
50,570,000 Shares, of which 35,570,000 Shares are held by
Blink Field Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang, and
15,000,000 Shares are held by Harvest. Blink Field Limited is
a participating shareholder of Harvest and subscribed 90.9% of

Harvest's participating shares.

4. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Ho has total interest in 4.
45,513,546 Shares, of which 35,042,523 Shares are held by
Lake Ranch Limited (“Lake Ranch”) and 10,471,023 Shares
are held by Kai Le Investment Holdings | Ltd. (“Kai Le"). Lake
Ranch and Kai Le are wholly owned by Mr. Ho. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Ho is deemed to be interested in the Shares which

Lake Ranch and Kai Le has interest in.

5. The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital 5,

of the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Save
as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transaction” and
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which was subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group has conducted the following
connected transaction which was required to be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules:

Formation of Joint Venture Company

On 6 June 2024, Star Odyssey Limited (“Star Odyssey”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
shareholders’ agreement (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) with
Tower Talent Holdings Limited (“Tower Talent”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Digital Domain Holdings Limited (a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda with its issued shares listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 547)) (“Digital
Domain”), in relation to, among others, the formation of Star Plus
Domain Limited (the “Joint Venture Company”) with joint contribution
by Star Odyssey, Tower Talent and a company (the “Management
Team Company”) owned as to 50% by Ms. Ma and 50% by Mr. Seah
Ang, the chief executive officer and an executive director of Digital
Domain, to develop and commercialise an Al-driven digital rights
library for media entertainment content creation, which is intended
for the production of media entertainment contents (including but not
limited to digital content and virtual humans in metaverses and new
media platforms), as well as its commercialisation on global scale.

Upon its incorporation, the Joint Venture Company will be owned
as to 40% by Star Odyssey, 40% by Tower Talent and 20% by
the Management Team Company, with capital contribution of
US$400,000, US$400,000, and US$200,000, respectively.
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The Joint Venture Company is intended to enable the Company and
Digital Domain to pool their respective strengths towards creating
greater value to their respective stakeholders. The Board believes that
formation of the Joint Venture Company is in line with the Group’s
business development strategies and plans, which will be conducive
to the future business development of the Group. The Board believes
that the Joint Venture Agreement provides the Group with a good
opportunity to expand its business scope into digital content and
virtual human creation, as well as explore new revenue stream for
the Company with a view to bringing stable and sustainable growth in
revenue to the Group in the long run.

As the Management Team Company is owned as to 50% by Ms.
Ma, the chairperson of the Board and an executive Director, the
Management Team Company will be an associate of Ms. Ma and a
connected person of the Company. Therefore, the entering into of the
Joint Venture Agreement will constitute a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6 June 2024 for
further details of the Joint Venture Agreement.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules:

ChouChou Framework Agreement

On 8 October 2024, the Company and JVR Music entered into a
framework agreement (the “ChouChou Framework Agreement”)
for a term from 8 October 2024 to 31 December 2026, pursuant
to which JVR Music will share licensing fees received by the Group
from any entity which is not controlled by the Company or under
common control with the Company, regarding the use, application,
or exploitation of the ChouChou (/& R£2) (a nijigen-style personality
of Mr. Jay Chou, the trademark exclusive right/ownership of which is
co-owned by the Group and JVR Music) IP rights.

Given the increasing popularity of the ChouChou IP, the entering into
of the Chouchou Framework Agreement allows the Group to further
exploit the commercialization opportunities and market potential of
the ChouChou IP rights.

JVR Music was owned as to 45% by Mr. Yang, a non-executive

Director. Accordingly, JVR Music is a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rule.
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The annual caps of the transactions under the ChouChou Framework
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2026 (being
the licensing fees payable by the Group to JVR Music for ChouChou
IP licensing) are RMB15.0 million, RMB17.5 million and RMB20.0
million, respectively. For FY2024, licensing fees payable by the
Group to JVR Music and subsequently amortized for cost recognition
in accordance with the licensing contracts entered into between the
Group and other independent parties in respect of the ChouChou IP
was approximately RMB2.6 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 8 October 2024
and 29 October 2024 for further details of the ChouChou Framework
Agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that the terms of the Chouchou Framework Agreement are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and are entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditor of the Company to conduct a limited assurance
engagement on the above non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing
Connected transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
reported their conclusion to the Board, stating that:

(i)  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the relevant non-exempt continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Company’s board of directors.

(i) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions.

(i) with respect to the aggregate amount of the relevant non-
exempt continuing connected transactions, nothing has come
to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the relevant continuing connected transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
IN RELATION TO CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to those connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions conducted by
the Group during FY2024 which were not exempt from the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that the Group has followed the relevant
pricing policies and guidelines (where applicable) as set out in the
respective agreements governing the above-mentioned continuing
connected transactions conducted during FY2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, during FY2024
and up to the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
of the Company, the accounting principles and practices, financial
reporting process, internal control adopted by the Group and the
audited annual results for the FY2024, with no disagreement by the
Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the FY2024 have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Company’s auditor is to be proposed at the upcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
Ma Hsin-Ting

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the FY2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is dedicated to implementing high standards of corporate
governance in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders
and enhance its corporate value. The Company has adopted the CG
Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance.

The Board is committed to the Company’s objective of consistent
growth and increase in Shareholder value. The Board has the
collective responsibility to formulate the Company’s business
strategies and monitor its operational and financial performances
in order to promote the Company’s success and achieve long-term
financial stability and return.

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and their principal role and
function in relation to corporate governance is to formulate and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company,
to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, to formulate,
review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employee and
Directors, and to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company
under the annual report of the Company.

To the knowledge of the Directors, during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this report, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code. The
Directors will use their best endeavours to procure the Company to
continue to comply with the CG Code.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors and by relevant employees of the
Group. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by
the Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code and its
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions during
the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contribution of the Board
and management

The Board is committed to enhancing the Company’s long-term value
and maximizing the return on investments for the Shareholders. It
is responsible for the overall management of the Company and is
authorized to formulate business strategies and management policies,
as well as to establish effective corporate governance and internal
review mechanisms. The Board is well balanced with Directors
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The executive Directors, the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of experience
and expertise to the Company. In particular, the independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for bringing effective independent
views and judgement on matters such as corporate performance,
accountability, key appointments and code of conduct, and to take
lead where potential conflicts of interest arise. The Board has also
established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, and has
delegated to the committees various duties. All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties
in utmost good faith, in compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders. In particular, all Directors shall fulfil the fiduciary
duties and duties of skill, care and diligence to a standard at least
commensurate with the standard established by Hong Kong law and
set out under the Listing Rules. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.
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The senior management of the Company are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the above-
mentioned officers. The Board has the full support of the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND CHANGE IN BOARD
COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (Chairperson)

Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (Chief financial officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung
Mr. Chen, Chung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Xue, Jun

Mr. Yang, Dave De

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

The brief biographical information of each Director is set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and senior management”
in this report. Save as disclosed therein, there are no other material
relationships (whether financial, business, family or others) among
the members of the Board.

On 18 April 2023, each of the Directors have entered into a service
contract or a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms.
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CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairperson (“Chairperson”) and the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company are held
separately as required by code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer have separate
defined responsibilities. The Chairperson is responsible in forming
the Company’s overall strategies but is not involved in the day-to-
day business operation of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer
is authorized by the Board to directly handle, with the support
of the senior management, the Company’s daily operations and
management. Their respective roles and responsibilities are set out in
writing, which have been approved and adopted by the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board at all times met the requirements under Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing no less
than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

During the Reporting Period and to the date of this report, the Board
has not been informed by any of the independent non-executive
Directors indicating a change of circumstances which may affect
his or her independence. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election and
re-appointment. Any Director with unexpired term of office may
be removed by an ordinary resolution in a shareholders’ general
meeting. In addition, any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and be eligible for re-election
and re-appointment.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Each Director is provided with the necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations. Directors
are also provided with updates on the regulatory developments and
changes from time to time so as to ensure effective performance of
the Directors’ responsibilities and ensure that their contributions to
the Board remain informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code in relation to Directors’ training. During the
Reporting Period, relevant reading materials including compliance
manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been
provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is as
follows:
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Ms. Ma B4 v
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Non-executive Directors FHRITEF

Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung S &8 5 A v

Mr. Chen, Chung PR A SE A v
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BOARD MEETINGS

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, at least four
regular Board meetings should be held in each year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of directors,
either in person or through electronic means.

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly. Notice of not less than 14 days is given of all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with the opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda. The agenda and accompanying board
papers are sent to the Directors or Board committee members at
least three days before meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review these documents and be adequately prepared.

During the Reporting Period, the Company convened four Board
meetings and had one general meeting. The below table sets forth
details of the attendance at these Board meetings:

EFEEMR
BEEEEATANFARICEL FAFES
ERMZLNREEETHEH  ANTE—

mAERD éEM%ﬁ%.ﬂj}* HBEBE TR
B -

A

ARREHEAEHRITEETSSHNEDN - B
ExeflemmMETLONIAREY LME'E%E?L
EEREHEYRABEEMNAZRE - Hi2 L
MEFeXHERENEL= %%L%i%%i
EZeZBEeRE  URRREERAEHENA
X R RERIETRDER -

R|EHE - XRRERAREFTE SRR LRK
RRE - PREJIZFEZTEERNHEFE

Meetings attended/number of meetings

HESHRRY THXH
Name of Directors General meeting Board meeting
EENs BRXE EEgER
Executive Directors HBIiTEF
Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting BBz L 1/1 4/4
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan E gL 1/1 4/4
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki FEE B T A& 1/1 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHITEF
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung 15 & 8 5 A 11 4/4
Mr. Chen, Chung BRAP KA 0/1 3/4
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRITESE
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De 5t 4 1/1 4/4
Dr. Xue, Jun R 1/1 4/4
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee BEHEA T 11 4/4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Each of the Board committees has specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their respective authority and duties. The
Board Committees operate in accordance with their terms of
reference established by the Board.

Audit Committee
The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 June 2023
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yang, Dave De, the chairperson, Dr. Xue, Jun
and Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The Audit Committee shall serve as a focal point for communication
between other directors, the external auditors and the internal
auditors regarding their duties on financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, and external and internal audits.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to provide
an independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal controls of the Group and adequacy of the internal
and external audits. Such responsibilities shall include, among the
others, (i) managing the relationships between the Company and the
Company’s internal and external auditors, such as the review of the
external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of audit process; (ii) reviewing the financial information of the
Company; and (iii) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee convened three meetings during the Reporting EZZE @ REPBMBHAINEZE - TR
Period. The table below sets forth the details of the attendance at ~ ZZ &ML EEE
these meetings:
Number of meetings
attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings
HEE®XE
ZEORENSE FERRE
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De 5t 4 3/3
Dr. Xue, Jun EEE L 3/3
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee BEELL 3/3
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the FY2024 and confirmed that
it has complied all applicable accounting principles, standards and
requirements, and made sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee
also discussed the matters of audit and financial reporting. It had
also reviewed the significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems and connected transactions, and have discussed with the
auditor of the Company about the tasks they performed.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the remuneration of the auditor
for the FY2024 and has recommended the Board to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company for the year
ending 31 December 2025, subject to approval by the Shareholders
at the forthcoming AGM.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Reporting
Period included, among others, the following:

° reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

° reviewed the Company’s cash flow and monitoring the
Company’s overall financial condition;

° reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and
recommended improvements of such systems to the Board;

o reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of the audit
functions of the Company and recommended improvements of
such functions to the Board; and

° reviewed the arrangements which employees can raise
concerns on possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters, and investigating such matters
(where necessary).
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 19 June
2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee and Mr. Yang,
Dave De. The chairperson of the Remuneration Committee is Ms.
Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; (ii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management; (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (v) considering salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group; (vi) reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; (vii) ensuring no Director or any of his or her associates
is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration; and (viii)
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee convened
two meetings. The table below sets forth the details of the attendance
at these meetings:
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Number of meetings

attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings

HEE®EXE
ERERENA BERE
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee EEHEL L 2/2
Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting BFoEzt 2/2
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De 4t 4 2/2
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The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
Reporting Period included, among others, the following:

o reviewed and recommended to the Board the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company and the remuneration
packages of all Directors, Supervisors and senior management.

Compensation of the Directors and senior management

The Directors and senior management receive compensation
in the form of salaries and bonuses, contribution to retirement
scheme, medical insurances and other social insurance. The
Company regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management.

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid by the Company to
the Directors (including salaries, allowances and contributions
to retirement benefit scheme) for the FY2024 was approximately
RMB8,655,000 (FY2023: RMB3,985,000).

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid by the Company to
its five highest paid individuals (including the Directors and senior
management) (including salaries, allowances and contributions
to retirement benefit scheme) for the FY2024 was approximately
RMB11,482,000 (FY2023: RMB7,254,000).

None of the Directors had waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the FY2024.

The Board will review and determine the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management
and will receive recommendation from the Remuneration Committee
which will take into account salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

For additional information on the Directors’ and senior managements’
remuneration for the FY2024 as well as information on the highest
paid individuals, please refer to note 8 to consolidated financial
statements.
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Further, and pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the annual remuneration of members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the FY2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band
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s RIBEFREATRTARXFELS R &
REBEEKRE (TEEES) R2024H FIRIRE
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Number of persons

¥ A & AB
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0007% 7T % 1,500,000 7% 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 19 June
2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Xue, Jun and Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.
The chairperson of the Nomination Committee is Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting.

The primary responsibility of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to
fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management. Such
responsibility includes, among others, (i) reviewing the structure, size
composition and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board; (ii) developing the
criteria for identifying and assessing the qualifications of and
evaluating candidates for directorships; (iii) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board on selection of individuals nominated;
(iv) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (v) making recommendations to the Board on appointment
and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors; and (vi) reviewing the Board'’s diversity policy.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee convened
one meeting. The table below sets forth the details of the attendance
at these meetings:

REmR - BEAZEER
5% B 1

FM1IREZE - TR

Number of meetings

attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings

HESRRE
SRENENSE BERE
Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting BBzt 11
Dr. Xue, Jun BEIEL 1/1
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee B R L 1/1
The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the  1EHZEE @RS HMETN TIERE (Hh )
Reporting Period included, among others, the following: LATN&IA :
e reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the o  IiTEFEMEHE  #HE A kZTl

Board;

° assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
nomination policy.

Director nomination policy

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board on selection of individuals nominated.

The Company has adopted a Board’s nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors. It aims to ensure that
the Board has a balance of talent, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company in order to promote
the Board’s decision-making ability and overall effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

° compatibility with the characteristics and structure of the
Board, taking into account the talent mix and needs of the
Board at the relevant time;

° qualifications including professional knowledge and experience
relevant to the Company’s business and/or being a board
member;

° willingness, ability to devote adequate time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
Committee(s);

° integrity; and

° requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes the importance and benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in achieving the Company’s strategic goals and sustainable
development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
expertise, skills, experience, independence, age, culture, ethnicity
and gender. The Company will select potential Board candidates
based on his or her potential contribution to the Board while taking
into account the board diversity policy and other factors. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The Board comprises eight members, including two female Directors,
with a mix of cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry experience. They
obtained degrees in various majors including but without limitation
to marketing and distribution management, science and law. Taking
into account the Company’s business model and specific needs
as well as the presence of two female Directors out of a total of
eight Board members, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved gender diversity.

The Company is also committed to adopting a similar approach to
promote gender diversity within the management (including but
not limited to the senior management) of the Company to enhance
the overall effectiveness of corporate governance of the Company
and that it will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board going forward. It is the Company’s
objective to maintain an appropriate balance of gender diversity with
reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices. The Company would put greater
emphasis on gender balance and equality in future recruitments and
in identification of potential candidates, so that sufficient potential
candidates of different genders are in place to fill the vacancy of the
Board and management of the Company, when necessary. As at 31
December 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) was approximately 42.1% male and 57.9% female.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the implementation
of the board diversity policy and compliance with relevant codes
governing board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee will review the board diversity policy and the Company’s
diversity profile (including gender balance) annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate
governance report.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations” above, at no time during the Reporting Period was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements which enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate nor had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the FY2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 76 to 83 of this annual
report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, were engaged
as the Company'’s external auditor for the FY2024.

An external auditor may provide certain non-audit services to the
Group as long as these services do not impair its independence or
objectivity.
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Before any engagement with external auditor for non-audit
services, external auditor must comply with the independence
requirements under Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report of this annual
report. During the FY2024, the remunerations paid or payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers regarding the audit and non-audit services
are set out as follows:

FHE SN DA AT IR G I AR MR TS AT - SN AX IR
AT EAG A GBI OME S H T EE
SF BRI SR E o A2 RS LB B B 1 S B
TR B 3R AT AR 0 BN A S WA B
BB RS « K2024817F + AR BRIE R BURTS
LA SRR B SR K B 3BT 5 B A0 B & 8 71
mT

FY2024

2024 Bt £

RMB'000

ARETFT

Audit and related service ZE % A8 8 RS 3,000
Non-audit service FEAZ BH AR 75 -

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
design and implementation of internal controls and risk management
which cover financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk
management of the Company, as well as continuous monitoring the
effectiveness of such internal controls and risk management.

The Company has established risk management and internal control
systems consisting of policies and procedures that it considers
to be appropriate for its business operations. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Audit Committee has been authorised by the Board, to monitor the
implementation and to review the risk management and internal
control systems on an on-going basis, with the assistance of the
senior management of the Company. During the Reporting Period,
the Board has conducted two reviews on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control of the Group. In conducting the
review, the management of the Company discussed with department
heads and other employees and reviewed the relevant documentation
(if any) in relation to any actual or potential risks and non-compliance
and the implementation of the internal control procedures and/or
policies. No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions
of the Group have been identified. Results of the review have been
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reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee. In particular, the
Company has adopted and implemented the following:

(1)

internal control mechanisms to timely identify any connected
transactions and ensure compliance with the applicable rules
and regulations including the Listing Rules;

an internal accounting policy with guidelines in relation to the
revenue recognition, bookkeeping, account settlement and the
preparation of financial statements;

internal policies setting out procedures of how to handle
counterfeit products and infringement incidents in order to
prevent and tackle counterfeit products and infringement of the
Group’s intellectual property rights;

internal policies, procedures and measures in relation to data
protection; and

a set of internal control measures for the new retail segment
of the Group addressing different stages of the Group’s health
management products (e.g. raw materials procurement,
research and development, manufacturing, advertising, sale
and distribution, etc.) to ensure compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations in each stage, such as to request of
internal quality control reports from third party manufacturer to
ensure compliance of the relevant laws and regulations during
the manufacturing process.

The Group has identified the following risk categories and adopted
relevant risk management policies:

Financial reporting risks

(1)

)

adopting comprehensive accounting policies and procedures
in connection with financial management, budget management
and financial statement preparation;

offering ongoing trainings to finance staff in relation to the
abovementioned accounting policies and procedures to ensure
that they are well-observed and effectively implemented; and

delegating the finance department to review the Company’s
management accounts in accordance with the accounting
policies and procedures adopted;

%

(1)

(2)

()

(4)

(%)
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Operational risks

(4) adopting measures to ensure products under the Group’s
new retail segment will comply with all applicable laws and
regulations;

(5) adopting measures such as closely monitoring the behaviors
of the celebrities and KOL whom the Group has a working
relationship with to ensure that the Group’s operations under
its IP creation and operation segment would comply with
the relevant regulations in the livestreaming, marketing and
entertainment industry of the PRC; and

Human resource risks

(6) adopting internal policies in relation to recruitment, trainings,
work ethics and legal compliance, including handing out of
guidelines containing best commercial practices and work
ethics.

Based on the aforementioned systems and functions implemented
by the Company, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s has
adequate and effective internal control procedures in place.

The Company does not have an internal audit function for the
Reporting Period. The Board has discussed and reviewed annually
the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size and complexity of the operation of the Group, the Board
considers that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function as the existing supervision of the management could
provide adequate risk management and internal control for the
Group. The Audit Committee would regularly review the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group.
The Board will regularly review the need to set up an internal audit
function or engage an external service provider to review the Group’s
internal control and risk management system.

The Group’s management will continuously monitor and improve
the procedures to ensure that the effective operation of its risk
management and internal control measures is in line with the growth
of its business and good corporate governance practice.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously
of its obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Company has adopted a continuous disclosure compliance
policy which sets out guidelines to the Directors and officers of the
Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated
to the public in equal and timely manner.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lai Ying Tung (“Ms. Lai"), delegated by Vistra Corporate Services
Limited, an external service provider, has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 28 December 2023. Please
refer to the section headed “Biographies of Directors and senior
management” for the biographical details of Ms. Lai. Ms. Lai’s
primary contact person of the Company is Mr. Lai Kwok Fai Franki,
the chief financial officer of the Company.

Ms. Lai has attended sufficient professional training for the Reporting
Period as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. All Directors
have access to the company secretary’s advices and services.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with the
Shareholders as well as to provide timely disclosure of information
concerning the Company’s material developments to its Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

The Board considers the annual general meetings of the Company
as an effective forum for communication between the Shareholders
and the Board. To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions will be proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
Shareholders’ consideration and voting. In addition, the Company
regards annual general meeting as an important event, and the
chairperson of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, as well as the external
auditor of the Company, shall attend the annual general meeting of
the Company to address inquires from the Shareholders (if any). If the
chairperson of any such Board committee fails to attend the annual
general meeting, other members of the relevant Board committee
or any other person whom the chairperson authorized will attend
the annual general meeting. In addition, all resolutions proposed at
general meetings will be voted on by poll. The voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (http://www.splegend.com) on the same day of the
relevant general meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website (http://www.splegend.com), where the latest information
and updates on its business operation and development, corporate
governance practice, contact information of investor relations and
other information are published for the public’s access.
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The Company has reviewed and assessed its shareholder
communication policy and considered that it effectively implemented
during the Reporting Period on the basis that (i) Shareholders and
the investment community were provided with timely access to the
latest information and current development about the Company
via publications on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; (ii) physical or online annual general meeting was held
to reach out to Shareholders to encourage their participation and
address their questions; and (iii) Shareholders’ enquiries, as received
through the investor relations set out below, were attended by the
Company on a timely basis.

The Company will continuously review the abovementioned
shareholder communication policy to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) and to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Any one or more Shareholders (the “Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less than 10% of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital
of the Company shall have the right to make a requisition to convene
an EGM and/or add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting by writing
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company. The Board
shall convene such EGM within two calendar months after the deposit
of the written requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s)
himself or themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholder’s enquiries to the Board
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the investor relations, whose
contact details are as follows:

Address: Star Plus Legend Tower

1777 Lvdi Boulevard

Huagiao Town, Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province
People’s Republic of China

Rooms 2310-11, 23/F, Tower 2, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong

Email: ir@splegend.com
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company meets the Shareholders at the annual general meeting,
publishes interim and annual reports of the Company’s website
(http://www.splegend.com) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(http://www.hkexnews.hk), and releases press releases on the
Company’s website to keep the Shareholders and potential investors
abreast the Group’s business and development.

As such, the Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant change in
the Articles. The Articles is available on the Company’s website
(http://www.splegend.com) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(http://www.hkexnews.hk).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation to the
declaration, payment and distribution of dividends. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall take into account, among
other things, the Group’s operating results, financial position, any
legal and regulatory restrictions on dividends, working capital
requirements and other relevant factors that the Board considers
appropriate from time to time. The proposed payment of dividends
must also be at the discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The Board will conduct review on
the dividend policy as appropriate from time to time and does not
guarantee any declaration or payment of dividends in any specific
amount for any specific period.

By Order of the Board

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
Ma Hsin-Ting

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Star Plus Legend Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 84 to 203, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
° Revenue recognition of the new retail business

° Revenue recognition of the IP creation and operation business
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter
RBENER

Revenue recognition of the new retail business

HTEREMHBARR

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HEAMBHRRMES

One of the Group’s major sources of revenue is derived from the new
retail business, which is focused on the sale of health management and
skincare products through various online and offline channels. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue from the new
retail business was RMB270 million, represented 46% of the Group’s total
revenue.

EEEEG—EFERARBRENTESL FINERSER
TRBRTREHERRERRERER - BE2024F12A31 B FF
B BEXERENTEEBNRARARK0EET h E&E
B ARI46% °

The revenue from the new retail business is recognised at point in time
when control of the underlying products is transferred to the customers.

MEEXBHORARBBEERNEHREEERPHORMARER -

We focused on the recognition of revenue from the new retail business as
high volume of sales transactions was involved, and significant audit time
and resources were committed in this area.
BMEIRARENTELBOUARHR I RENHEER I RNE
BEHRARERTHRRER

78 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

¥ 37 1% B9 B 48
BHEEMASKEARAF

B¥ (&)
(RESFHEEMA B R A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRNENMRERREHER

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of the new retail
business included:

PR T EXZBORAER 2 RFBE

o Understood, evaluated, and tested on a sample basis,
management’s key controls over the recognition of the sales
transactions of the new retail business, which covered the process
from initiation of customer orders to settlement of trade receivables
or net off against advance receipts from customers, where
appropriate;

. EREEETH FHURITEBHEANTSEERHER
SUERES AR RENTPRERITEELEE HRNGE
FMBRREE PR (NER) MR :

° Checked selected sales transactions during the year, to the sales
orders, delivery records, and cash receipts; ‘
o BEFANETHERS HETE INZHRAEKA:

o Tested selected sales transactions that took place immediately
before and after 31 December 2024 against the supporting
documents to assess whether the transactions were recognised in
the appropriate reporting period; and

o BEEEXHHZEE024F12A3BAAETHETHER
SETAR U SREREERERERR &

o Performed confirmation procedures on the balances of trade
receivable or advance receipts of selected customers, as
appropriate, as at 31 December 2024,

. HETEFPN204F12A31ANE SEREFBR B RFBL
& (IR ) AT B RER o

Based on the procedures performed, we found the revenue recognition
of the new retail business tested to be supported by the evidence we
obtained.
REMBTNEF ZAMAER AOEDNERTIRAARNTE
EBHORARR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter
RBENER

Revenue recognition of the IP creation and operation business

IPEIEREERBABARER

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HEAMBHRRMES

Another major source of the Group's revenue is derived from the intellectual
property (“IP") creation and operation business, which included provision
of planning and management services to the production of media contents
and events and licenses its celebrity IPs and sells related products. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue from the IP
creation and operation business was RMB314 million, representing 54% of
the Group's total revenue.
ERENS—FERATRRRENBER((PHEIERBERK &
BRAEBAR LB BEERMERE R E R BB T HAL IP K
ERBER HE2024F12A3181LFE ESEREIPEIERE
BEBMBRARARKILEET b BEEBRARS% -

The revenue from the IP creation and operation business is recognised
either at point in time upon when the Film and TV programs and
entertainment videos are delivered and accepted by the customers, or on a
straight-line basis over the licensing or broadcasting contract period.
REPEIEREELBORARINREPE R AL B RIRERIE
R X AR R ERRN A EN S NPRIREREER -

We focus on this area as the magnitude of the revenue from the IP
creation and operation business, variety of services offered by the Group,
management’s judgments on the assessment of acting as principal or
agent, and significant resources were spent on auditing this area.
BRI AENERIPAEREBEEBNRAFRL - ERERMEN
BB ZEMN  EREHERTEARKE AN G B A REST
EAEEEBNABER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ENpmEdnmEERREFTE

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of the IP creation and
operatio\n business included: ‘
BPBRIPEIE R EEXBNRAER L EFEHE

o Understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s key controls over the recognition of the sales
transactions of the IP creation and operation business, which
covered the process from approval of contracts to settlement of
trade receivables;

. RREEETR IRURBEEEURAIPAEREERY
RSHER ZMBREH - ERRAELHELSNELEEE IR
HIERBIE

o Obtained, on a sample basis, the IP creation and operation
contracts with customers, and assessed the appropriateness of the
revenue recognition policies based on the key terms and conditions
of the contracts, including the identification of performance
obligations, the timing upon which control of the products or
services is transferred, and the assessment of acting as principal
or agent in accordance with the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o  HEERERPEMNPAEREEFBANTERGNNG
REF LG TRRABRRLRNEZ L - BEBNBAES
BYERKREEGENEEURBERTEHENNRTT
EREBARREANGTS

o We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions to ensure
the occurrence of the performances and accuracy of revenue
recognised by (i) checking the key terms and conditions of the
underlying contracts; and (ii) recalculating the revenue amounts;
and

o BMERARSETHREIR  BBRNBEEBASONEZK
%ﬁﬁg:&wé%ﬁﬁ%Aﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%%i&%kmﬁ

J We performed confirmation procedures on the balances of trade
receivable or advance receipts of selected customers as at 31
December 2024.

o HEMUBTEFR204F12A318ME HEKFIELEKRK
TEREERIETT IR RERR o

Based on the procedures performed, we found the revenue recognition
of the IP creation and operation business tested to be supported by the
evidence we obtained.
REFMATORER  ZMER  BAEROE RS IPEIE
REEXBRIBARER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is LEONG, Kin Bong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEZEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024F12A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
HE12BA31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Wi AR¥TFIT AREFr
Revenue A 5 584,010 430,213
Cost of revenue SHE MR 7 (256,993) (153,880)
Gross profit EF 327,017 276,333
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAY 7 (143,294) (112,317)
General and administrative expenses — B RITBRAEX 7 (114,021) (106,633)
Provision for impairment losses TREENBEBERE
on financial assets 3.1(b) (5,338) (3,192)
Other income HAb A 6 12,794 9,563
Other gains, net Hihdyzs o F5 6 6,269 763
Operating profit EEAH 83,427 64,517
Finance income s 4,231 3,590
Finance costs B PR (837) (1,249)
Finance income, net FISBA - FEE 9 3,394 2,341
Share of loss of investments accounted for ~ JEA5 i F#E 2% A BR
using the equity method M E BB 16 (3) -
Profit before income tax fRER S RALRT 86,818 66,358
Income tax expense FSHAX 10 (36,578) (25,447)
Profit for the year FRRF 50,240 41,411
Other comprehensive income HEti2@ElKA
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified ~ H# AJfE EF 742
to profit or loss By EH
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBRESE
translation of foreign operations ER =5
ltems that will not be reclassified to BTEEHEE
profit or loss By EEH (1,221) 753
Exchange difference on translation from B EBREZ 25| G
functional currency to presentation currency ~ E A RI[E X =5 11,776 12,735
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMBERA
net of tax MERRE 10,555 13,488
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ZERABE 60,795 54,899
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeZ2EmkaE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

Year ended 31 December
HE12BA31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kz AR%TiT ARETFT
Profit for the year attributable to: DTFTATEEERRT :
— Owners of the Company S VNGIE 2PN 56,054 34,515
— Non-controlling interests — PR R A (5,814) 6,896
50,240 41,411
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Bl TFT&FEES TR A #8# :
— Owners of the Company —AREEEA 67,212 48,093
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (6,417) 6,806
60,795 54,899
Earnings per share for profit attributable to FoRHBARGERTMOBRET
owners of the Company (UEBEAR®HIT) :
(expressed in RMB per share):
- Basic —EK 1] 0.07 0.05
~ Diluted —#8 11 0.07 0.04

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should — _Fft4R & 2 [ U 25 2% FE B BERH T 5T — BE R 38 -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BBz
i = 4

As at 31 December 2024
R2024F12AH31H

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ABR®FT AREFr
ASSETS =&
Non-current assets FERBFE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 12 130,208 67,542
Investment properties B 14 12,857 =
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 14,786 21,511
Intangible assets EREE 15 20,564 19,969
Investments accounted for using the FRAEDEARNRE
equity method 16 5,000 5,004
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZH
profit or loss EREE 17 12,680 2641
Other receivables H th e U 5k 18 22 5,113 =
Deferred income tax assets RIEMEREE 32 8,266 10,564
Other non-current assets EmIERBBEE 18 7,408 52,641
216,882 179,872
Current assets mEEE
Inventories BE 19 26,154 20,482
Film and TV programme rights SR ER B hiR e 20 166,217 108,287
Trade and other receivables B NHMEWFRIA 20 398,921 327,396
Prepayment and other current assets ENFRENEMNREEE 23 76,654 66,634
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFTAERA
profit or loss TREE 17 61,310 25,913
Restricted bank deposits ZRHIERITER 24 3,841 28,167
Cash and cash equivalents BeMESEEY 24 296,536 145,823
1,029,633 722,702
Total assets BE#E 1,246,515 902,574
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HERER
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &H X FRBAE(LES
Share capital &N 25 59 57
Share premium and reserves R% 17 3% (B & 1 26 678,159 459,737
Retained earnings REBAF| 275,482 224,420
953,700 684,214
Non-controlling interests FEERER 5,965 7375
Total equity wEgs 959,665 691,589
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEeMBKAE

As at 31 December 2024

2024 12 B31H

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ARETFT AREFr
LIABILITIES ai®
Non-current liabilities ERBDAEAR
Borrowings (BN 29 - 5,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 7,254 2,173
7,254 7,173
Current liabilities mEBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 KEMEMFKIA 28 130,747 117,677
Borrowings fE 29 5,000 5,000
Lease liabilities HERE 30 5,069 3,704
Contract liabilities AHEE 31 72,766 33,147
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTS M aE 66,014 44,284
279,596 203,812
Total liahilities BERE 286,850 210,985
Total equity and liabilities HERARHER 1,246,515 902,574

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be | ift4R & B AR 0 2% FE B BE B P 5T — B B 38 -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 84 to 203 were approved by the 84 E 203 BM I IERMERN2025F3 531 HIEE
Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf ~ E&HETHIUNTATRREZECEE

by

Qian, Sam Zhongshan Lai, Kwok Fai Franki
sl S
Director Director

o o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeEREHER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12 A31 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREE AES
Share
premium Non-
Share and  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves  earnings  Sub-total interests equity
B s E JEE iR
BA  REE RERF NEF B eER
Note  RMB000  RMB0O0O  RMB000 RMB000 RMB00O0 RMB000
ARE  ARE ARY ARE ARY¥ ARE
Mzt FIT FT FIT FIT FIT FT
Balance at 1 January 2023 ®2023F1 B 1 BM&eR 38 33,343 200,161 233,542 569 234,111
Comprehensive income 2EBA
— Profit for the year —ERREF - - 34515 34515 6,896 41411
— Currency translation differences —EMmE R - 13578 - 13578 (90) 13,488
Total comprehensive income 2EKARE - 13578 34515 48093 6,806 54,899
Transactions with shareholders in their ~ BBRR (MR H13)
capacity as shareholders ETZRS
Capitalisation issuance BRI BT 13 (13) - - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment BRLENRDAERN
transactions NS 27 = 1,058 = 1,058 = 1,058
Issuance of ordinary shares upon REREERETETAR
global offering, net of listing expenses (3% EHEI) 6 288701 - 288707 - 288,707
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREETRE 26 - 10256  (10,256) - - -
Dividends declared and paid by /NG = O
the Company 33 - (54,029 - (54,029) - (54,029)
Derecognition of financial instrument 4% |- HE 32 b 45 B R RE F 1)
with redemption rights SRIA - 166,843 - 166,843 - 166,843
Total transactions with shareholders i~ HBE R (MRS 7)
their capacity as shareholders ETCRANEHE 19 412816  (10,256) 402,579 - 402,579
Balance at 31 December 2023 2023 12A31H
pf=1] 57 459,737 224,420 684,214 7,375 691,589
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEREDx

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAFHE AR
Share
premium Non-
Share and  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves  eamings  Sub-total  interests equity
B aE E 334

BE RER RERY Uiy €2 Aua

Note  RMB'000 ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE® AR® AR® AR®R ARR ARR

Wit FI Fr F Fr FI F

Balance at 1 January 2024

Comprehensive income
— Profit for the year
- Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with shareholders in their
capacity as shareholders
Investment from non-controlling

1202451 R 1 BIRER

2EHA
R
~EEBEEE

REMARE
BERR(URESR)

EfTexH
FEBRREE

57 459,737 224,420 684,214 7,375 691,589

- - 56,054 56,054 (5,814) 50,240
11,158 = 11,158 (603) 10,555

11,158 56,054 67,212 (6,417) 60,795

shareholders - - - - 5,007 5,007
Equity-settled share-based payment BREZNRL AERN

transactions RFR 5 27 - 364 - 364 = 364
Placing of new shares RREMK 25 2 201,908 - 201,910 - 201,910
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREETRHE 26 = 4992  (4,992) - - -
Total transactions with shareholdersin BB R (MR H3)

their capacity as shareholders ETERANEHE 2 207,264 (4,992) 202,274 5,007 207,281
Balance at 31 December 2024 20245 12A31H

k-1 59 678,159 275482 953,700 5965 959,665

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be — _Fili4R& HEss B Bh 2k fE B BE M P 5T — BE R0 o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FealefER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024F12A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEEE

2024 2023
2024 4 2023 %
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz AR¥FT ARETFT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHREHERE
Cash used in operations KEFARS 34 (17,075) (110,308)
Interest received B U F B 4,231 3,590
Income tax paid BEFTEH (12,550) (12,116)
Net cash outflow from operating EEIDELENTS
activities mHBRE (25,394) (118,834)
Cash flows from investing activities BRRATHRSHEERE
Payments for property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - 5= KRR 2 (18,408) (5,074)
Payments for intangible assets BREENK (14,455) (8,320)
Payments for investment in concerts BEIRERENK (30,218) (3,599)
Proceeds from settlement of investment in BB REEREMBHIE
concerts 38,310 -
Payments for investments in wealth AESER AT EN R ER
management products measured at HEHRRK
amortised cost (204,198) (72,496)
Proceeds from redemption of wealth BEILEER AT ED
management products measured at BYERABHE
amortised cost 209,677 72,496
Payments for investments measured at fair ~ IAAF(ET ABZHAERN
value through profit and loss KE MR (37,040) (18,124)
Payments of deposit for investments TREENEZRSE - (84,548)
Refund of deposit for investments BRERSER 84,548
Payments for long term lease Eﬁﬂfﬂf}\ﬁm - (15,000
Loans to related parties =&l ) (12,772) -
Loans to third parties ERFE= ﬁ (41,000) =
Loans repaid by related parties s ERER 729 =
Payments for investment in associates REEE R RIHRER R (3) (5,000)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RETEHHRESTHBHE (24,830) (139,665)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

*T = iﬂﬁlllt;i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
W AR¥TFIT AREFr
Cash flows from financing activities METHREREERE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares NERBERBEITEBER
upon global offering FTi5 k1A - 288,707
Net proceeds from placing of RREFRAEFIEFR
new shares 25 201,910 -
Capital injections from non-controlling interests JFIEAS 1 5+ & 5,007 =
Dividends paid to shareholders RS FREMRE - (54,029)
Payment for listing expenses EmAIER - (4,902)
Repayments of borrowings BEBK (5,000) (5,000)
Interest paid ERFLE (443) (727)
Lease payments BERK (7,206) (5,470)
Net cash inflow from financing METHRS
activities WARE 194,268 218,579
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ReRASESEMEM
equivalents (Hd) B8 144,044 (39,920)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYRELREFEY
of the year 24 145,823 182,633
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXEHHRe LR
and cash equivalents wf‘f%ﬂ’]w =L 6,669 3,110
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FXRAERFELERB/M 24 296,536 145,823

=

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  Fii4F A IB LR E R EEBENIM T —HFRIE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn & M58 R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024F12A31HIEFE

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 3 January 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is P. O.
Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205 Cayman Islands. The business
address of the Company is Star Plus Legend Tower, 1777 Lvdi
Boulevard, Huagiao Town, Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province,
China.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in new retail business and IP creation
and operation business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The Company is controlled by Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (“Ms. Ma”),
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung (“Mr. Yang”), Ms. Yeh, Hui-Mei (“Ms.
Yeh”), Mr. Chen, Chung (“Mr. Chen”) through their investment
holding companies. Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen
have entered into a concert party agreement and therefore
are collectively referred as the controlling shareholders of the
Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 13 July 2023.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 are presented in Renminbi thousands

(“RMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025.
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRS) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:
o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
° Hong Kong Accounting Standards, and

o Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared on
a historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4
below.

2.1

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

BB ER S B REE

REEE
AEBGEMBERRCREZTBEMBRS
EAREFBRRGD (F6228) 2 WEMRTE

BEMEREER B A TRBXBAERX

BREMBREEL

. EEEHE:R

BAGMASFHIRE -

RAEMBRREBRBELRAELERS 1
BAVTEAENETEREERSRAR
BRI o

REBATEMBREENDTIEREE
ARG TEREE  TERETEEBNE
RAASB SR ECROARREDL HE - PR
REHBREMEE - EGREMEHREM
EEEANBREGIHNESERENTX
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.2
(a)

94

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for its annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2024

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
Non-current liabilities with covenants — Amendments to
HKAS 1;

o Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by

the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause — Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised):

o Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to
HKFRS 16; and

o Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

2.2
(a)

RRBERSHBRED )

BB EREEEH
ZTREFNFHETRAEECITER
AEBER2024F1AIBRBZFERSE
HIRIE A A T 3R] R B RT R -

O BaeEoEARDHIERS) KT
RanEnsaE - BB GERZE
158 (BETAR)

. MBHBERN2I - ERAHSERE
KEEGEINERERZNE-FE
I ACICHIDE

. EREMNEERE-FBVBHRE
ERF 165 (BRTA) : &

. HEFMBMELZE-—FB G ERFET
5)E)§ii&%ﬂﬂ%#ﬁ%$ﬁﬂ%7ﬂ(fzu
) e

LFHETAHEEHRCRRAN S EILE
TAFE BHRTSHASCRRPRES
BEXFE-



2.2
(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New standards and amendments to existing standards not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments to
accounting standards have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting periods and have
not been early adopted by the Group:

2.2
(b)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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BB EREEEE (&)
BXENOIFTETERR R ER G ETTE

ETHA @t ENRG ERETADHE
B 7R 2024 F 12 A 31 B ¥ & B 58 &l
FER - MANSKETRERF RS

Effective for REOTREMEZ
Standards and reporting periods B HED
amendments heginning on or after ENRETE HEX
HKAS 21 (Amendments)  Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025 BB GRERIE fEa i ak 205%F1A1H
ACHES)
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the 1 January 2026 EAUBREEN BIeBIANSER 2006F1A1H
(Amendments) Classification and FIRRAEN HE
Measurement of Financial BREEET
Instruments ACHEY)
Annual Improvementsto  Clarifications, simplifications, 1 January 2026 ERUBAS e SENETIEEED 2026F1A1R
HKFRS Accounting corrections, and changes EAMFEYR  H-BHNSE-8
Standards - Volume 11 intended to improve E-F115 - BEERET
consistency in:
* HKFRS 1, First-time o BANBREENZ
Adoption of International 15 ERERER
Financial Reporting FsmEER
Standards;
o HKFRS 7, Financial o BANTBREERNE
Instruments: Disclosures 75 eBIE:E
and Guidance on HRBH KRS E8
implementing HKFRS 7; T HARERES|
¢ HKFRS 9, Financial o BERBREENE
Instruments; 9% £RTA:
o HKFRS 10, Consolidated o BANBREENS
Financial Statements; and 105 A BBR
kiR
o HKAS 7, Statement of Cash o BAGHENET
Flows. %OHEMER
HKFRS 18 and HK Presentation and Disclosure in 1 January 2027 BERMKREEDN UBRAZEREEE 2027F1A1R
Interpretation 5 Financial Statements FI8RREARTBRANZI -
Presentation of Financial BELH ANBEEREXER
Statements Classification by EHoTBER 2D
the Borrower of a Term Loan L
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027 ARHBASEY EARHEMANBL 2027F1A1A

Accountability: Disclosures

F19%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

2.2
(b)

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New standards and amendments to existing standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new standards and
amendments to standards when they become effective.
The adoption of HKFRS 19, Amendments to HKAS 21,
Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 and Annual
Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
would not have any material impact on the Group.

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of
applying the HKFRS 18 and HK Interpretation 5 new standard
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. From the
high-level preliminary assessment performed, the following
potential impacts have been identified:

° Although the adoption of HKFRS 18 will have no impact
on the Group’s net profit, the Group expects that grouping
items of income and expenses in the statement of profit
or loss into the new categories will impact how operating
profit is calculated and reported. From the high-level
impact assessment that the group has performed, the
following items might potentially impact operating profit:

- Foreign exchange differences currently aggregated
in the line item “other gains, net” in operating
profit might need to be disaggregated, with some
foreign exchange gains or losses presented below
operating profit.

o The line items presented on the primary financial
statements might change as a result of the application
of the concept of ‘useful structured summary’ and the
enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation.
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2.2
(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
New standards and amendments to existing standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group does not expect there to be a significant
change in the information that is currently disclosed in
the notes because the requirement to disclose material
information remains unchanged; however, the way
in which the information is grouped might change as
a result of the aggregation/disaggregation principles.
In addition, there will be significant new disclosures
required for:

- management-defined performance measures;

- a break-down of the nature of expenses for line
items presented by function in the operating
category of the statement of profit or loss — this
break-down is only required for certain nature
expenses; and

- for the first annual period of application of HKFRS
18, a reconciliation for each line item in the
statement of profit or loss between the restated
amounts presented by applying HKFRS 18 and the
amounts previously presented applying HKAS 1.

From a cash flow statement perspective, there will be
changes to how interest received and interest paid are
presented. Interest paid will be presented as financing
cash flows and interest received as investing cash flows,
which is a change from current presentation as part of
operating cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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(a)
(i)

98

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the Board of Directors.
The board provides principles for overall risk management.

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
Group entity.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.
Cash repatriation from the PRC are subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group did not have other significant
exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
respective dates of consolidated statements of financial position
are as follows:

3
3.1

(a)
(i)
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AEEXBHRSEMERAR  mHRR (2
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e mEE
9 BE B B
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HOME @R - 1 BE R MRS R ETHE
BT A8 4 ) 91 BE 61 AR R R AR ) » AR R
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RiREMBARKREEEBOEEENAT

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FiT AR Fr

Assets aE

RMB AREE 4,135 924
HK$ BIT 2,339 2,239
US$ EV 177 6,323
EUR B 3 -
7,254 9,486

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT




3.1
(a)
(i)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s entities with functional
currency of HK$ had aggregate RMB net monetary assets
of RMB4,135,000(2023: RMB924,000). If RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, the pre-tax profit would have been
approximately RMB207,000 higher/lower (2023:RMB46,000
higher/lower) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s entities with functional
currency of HK$ had aggregate US$ net monetary assets of
RMB777,000 (2023: RMB6,323,000). Under the Linked
Exchange Rate System in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$,
management therefore considers that there is no significant
foreign exchange risk with respect to US$.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s entities with functional
currency of TW$ had aggregate HK$ net monetary assets
of RMB2,339,000 (2023: RMB2,239,000). If HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against TW$ with all other
variables held constant, the pre-tax profit would have been
approximately RMB117,000 higher/lower (2023:RMB112,000
higher/lower) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except
for cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits,
the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group’s borrowings as at 31
December 2024 were all at fixed interest rate and their fair
value approximated their carrying value due to short-term
maturity. Thus the interest rate risk is insignificant.

3.1
(a)
(i)

(ii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

MEREER 2
MERBER &)

mEmAE (E)

SPERBR (2)

MN2024% 12 A31 8  KEBH EE A
BETHNERBAAARBEEEEFTELEA
R #4,135,0007 (20234 : A R #924,000
o) cEFMAHMEERBFTENERT
MARBELBLHAEBES%  BIREE
20244 12 A 31 B - F [Z R BR T A0 % i 2
BI_EF T RE4 AR 207,000 7T (2023 4F -
EFH IR ARE46,0000T) ©

R2024F 12 A31H - XEENEERE /B
THERAAXITEREEFERARY
777,000 7T (2023 4F : ARR¥6,323,0007T) ©
ERBHEGERGIZT BT iR T
FitERERSEITARTL EEAIME
Bz o

2024 12 A31H - AEFENEEE A
EENERBALEBTLERKEEFEAAR
2 339,000 7T (20234 : A R # 2,239,000
) EFAEHEMESREFETENBRT
WBELTRLEEAE,2E%  AIREZE
20244 12 A31 B It FE BB ANEF 155
R EF TN ARYEE 117,000 7T (2023 £ -
R TEARE112,0007T) °

BReRERAFENERE
MRAREYBEAH LEE (R RAS
=@ R ER B TERRIN) - AR
BHRARGERS REEA L TEHS
HERDHHPE -

AEBHMRERERRE B - ZFEH
EREMEREAKREERH RS REN X
[B B o A= E R 2024 5 12 A 31 B &Y & 535
REEMNXE  BHRNEHIE - ERF
EEERREERS Bt FERERBRIEAERX

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z UG5 99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

3.1
(a)
(iii)

(b)
(0

100

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, including
investments in wealth management products (“WMPs”). To
manage its price risk arising from the investments, the Group
diversifies its investment portfolio. The sensitivity analysis
performed by management is set out in Note 3.3(iii).

Credit risk

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of
the Group mainly arises from financial assets, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposits and trade and other
receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
these assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before
accepting any new debtor, the Group assesses the potential
debtor’s credit quality and defines credit limits by debtor. Credit
limits granted to debtors are reviewed regularly. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s bank balances are deposited in banks and
financial institutions with good reputation in the PRC and Hong
Kong. Accordingly, the credit risk on these bank balances is
limited.
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3.1
(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to
HKFRS 9's expected credit loss model.

- Trade receivables
- Other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

Management has assessed the expected credit losses on
individual basis or grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The assessment is
based on the background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience. Management
also considered the default rates and loss given default from
external rating agency report and forward-looking information
that may impact the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances. Trade receivables with known financial difficulties
or significant doubt on collection of receivables are considered
to be subjected to higher risk of default and are tested
individually.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023
and 2024 was determined for trade receivables, and the
expected credit losses below have incorporated forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMEBERRER 2

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBRAKREARZ)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) () EEmREE)

(i)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EMEEREZE)
Trade receivables (Continued) B BN E ()
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024 the expected credit loss MR2023F k202412 A31H BES5 E WK
provision for the trade receivable was determined as follows: HENEHEEEEREETOT

Overdue Overdue Overdue Overdue Overdue
Not 1-30 31-60 61-90 91-120  over 121
overdue days days days days days Total
B iBH ok k.0 k.0
8% 1E30H 31FE60H 61FE9H 91EF1200 121HLE st

Trade receivables EHEERE

At31 December 2024 1 2024F 12 A31H

Expected loss rate BHEREE 0.69% 4.91% 787%  11.78%  1667%  27.20%
Gross carryingamount  BREEE

(RMB'000) (AREFTT) 275,128 11,638 3,204 365 18 21,672 312,025
Loss allowance provision 5182 & & &

(RMB'000) (AREFT) (1,886) (572) (252) (43) (3) (5,894) (8,650)

At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A 318

Expected loss rate BHEEEX 1.28% 0.18% = = - 2879%
Gross carryingamount  BREAIAE

(RMB'000) (AR®TT) 160,144 7,761 2,445 - 3,557 5470 179,377
Loss allowance provision 518 (E & &

(RMB'000) (ARETT) (2,046) (14) = = - (1,575) (3,635)
Impairment losses on trade receivables are separately 2o WS EREEERNES 2EkEE
presented as “Provision for impairment losses on financial hEBEYASREERBEEBRE] -
assets” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive BoEIRZEBNITEASIErIRE B EE F
income. Trade receivables are written off when there is no LA SH o I A IR A] B TE ERM B R B 35 (H
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no AR B A EAEARE B ERGERNGTE
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, ARBEFRBERTEBRENSRE -

the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and indicators of severe financial difficulty.
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(b)
(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly include amounts due from related
parties, deposits receivables, loans to third parties and staff
advances. The management of the Group makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experiences. The Group
measures credit risk using Probability of Default, Exposure
at Default and Loss Given Default for deposits and other
receivables. This is the approach used for the purposes of
measuring Expected Credit Loss under HKFRS.

° Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in 'stage 1" and have their credit
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis.

° If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically,
when the debtors is more than 30 days past due on
its contractual payments) since initial recognition is
identified, the financial instrument is moved to 'stage
2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The
expected credit loss is measured on lifetime basis.

° If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to 'stage 3‘. The expected
credit loss is measured on lifetime basis. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its
contractual payments,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

3.1
(b)
(i)

104

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

o actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations,

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of individual property owner or the

borrower.

The average loss rate applied as at 31 December 2024 was

1.19% (2023: 0.58%).

As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance provision for trade
and other receivables reconciles to the opening loss allowance

3 MERBRER 2
3.1 MERBER 2
(b) (ERME(E)
(i) &MIEREE)
H A pEs 208 (4)
o TEHHERABIELHENE
REAEHWES SR HE
SRR E R AR E AT E) -

o [EAREEHERANKLEEEN
ERRBHEAES -

R2024F 12 A3l BERANFEHEE RS R
751.19% (20234 : 0.58%) °

MR2024F 12 A31 B » B 5 K& H th f& Y 518
MEBEREGREEZBBENRINEBERER

for that provision is as follows: HERMAT
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
BEHBWRE HUEKRE #at
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFIT AEETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1,134 197 1,331
Provision for impairment losses & & & 2 Ja (B &5 18 B s
on financial assets 2,501 691 3,192
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 3,635 888 4523
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1A1H 3,635 888 4,523
Provision for impairment losses <& B & £ 5 (B &5 18 1
on financial assets 5,015 323 5,338
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31 H 8,650 1,211 9,861
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

3.1
(c)

To manage the liquidity risk, management monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow. The Group
expects to fund the future cash flow needs through internally
generated cash flows from operations.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

On demand
or within

1 year

BEX

"R
RMB000
ARETT

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

MERKBER »)
MERBER 2

ABELEE

AEEADECRER  SRENEHESR
EARRERAEERHELEBEURE
SRESEBYNMEDTEN - AEEEDAE
BABELNCLESREARKES R
ETRIBHES o

TREEMBIRARABRESOIHEDN
MNAPRZEHEIBENSTAEEN S
BAG RTPAERBENSERBHOARMEAR

N1
EnE °

Between Between
1 and 2 and More than
2 years 5 years 5 years Total
—EmE mELFE BBIE st
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

ARETE ARETrT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2024
Trade and other payables

(excluding salaries and staff welfare
payable and other taxes payable)
Borrowing and interest payables

Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables

(excluding salaries and staff welfare
payable and other taxes payable)
Borrowing and interest payables

Lease liabilities

R2024%12A31H

B 5 REMENKER
(TefENFERET
RIS ES AR Y

fiE SR B BB

2023128310

B R EMBNTE
(TREENEERET
BRI REMEMNTHE)

B R ERFE

89,116 = = = 89,116
5,156 = = = 5,156
5,102 2,262 6,115 153 13,632

99,374 2,262 6,115 153 107,904

97,611 = = = 97,611
5447 5,156 = = 10,603
3911 1,779 573 - 6,263

106,969 6,935 573 = 114,477
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

106

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities less
cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits. Total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2024 were as
follows:

MERKBER »)

EXRBEE
AEBTEELMAEEERBAEER
18 T EOR I OB IO AL ) 0 DA BIRER2S
B4R - [ RS 3 BE H A R 25 A8 R 5 (0 3% -
A e 15 o M) R AN R DURUE B AR A o

RERNAREARRE  AEEAEHAER
BERXMOBRESHE MRREEDER - #
THROIEEEE - TR ET

AEBBRBEEAABLLREREER - ZHE
BEGFERABENTE - B FRIRE
REENHEABRRELRBASFEDMN
RZBRGIRTERTE - RERREAWT
RPN [ #E 28 | MERS BT & o

M20234 K2024F 12 A31AMNE RAE &
[ Il N

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FiT AEBFT
Net (cash)/debt (R&), BB FE (283,054) (158,113)
Total capital FEE=WN 676,611 533,476
Gearing ratio BEARBREEE N/AF & H N/A 7 i@ FA

The Group turned into net cash position due to the increase
in cash and equity as a result of proceeds from initial global
offering.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgments and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of
the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has
categorised its financial instruments into three levels as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for investment
in certain WMPs without observable market data.

3.3
(i)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

MERKBER »)

AT EEN

L FHEE
AGMABETRIBREFRARIZATF
EEHENS T AN TEMAIELM LR
fhEt o BB AREE A TER B ARE
A SEMEE  AEEEESMIAS A=
EE R -

F—E: HEBRMSELEENERTA (W
AREBEENITAETANMEAES)
MR FESERRERAROTES
BEET AKEMRFEERE
EFRANMERESERFERE -
ZETAFHAEZE -

AEARBRMSEEENTRTA (]
WSHMTET R) WA FENA
BEXMERE  ZFEERMNE
ENAABEMERE YRE
BRI E B EME o Wt E
TERFEMBMEEABAHK
BHREE  AIZTASAE
°

FZ=E: W ENXZHEEANHABIEILIE
BIEATBRMISEES L - A%
THFAFEZE - R4 a] &
RMBHENE TEVERKRE
mE IRt ©
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMEBERRER 2
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LFEMEEHE)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) KFTEEEE)
An explanation of each level follows underneath the table: TRASERNHHA
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E=—B BERE it
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiiz ARBFT ARMTRT AR®TFT

At 31 December 2024 2024512831 H
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at fair value AT ER A&
through profit or loss (FVTPL) (BATEFAEZE)
M RLEE 17
Hong Kong listed equity BB ETRARES
securities 37,273 - 37,273
Loan to a related party BERT—R@H S - 12,680 12,680
Wealth management products 1 B 2 S - 20,664 20,664
Derivatives TETA - 3,373 3,373
Total financial assets SMEEHLE 37,273 36,717 73,990
Level 1 Level 3 Total
F—[E F=E Bt
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
it AREFIT AREFTT ARETTT
At 31 December 2023 #2023 128318
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEHABD
through profit or loss (FVTPL) (AT EFABR)
NEmEE 17
Wealth management products I8 B /2 - 18,716 18,716
Investment in Fuzhou concert BMNEEERE = 7,197 7,197
Derivatives PTHEITAR = 2,641 2,641
Total financial assets eMEERE - 28,554 28,554
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMEBERRER 2
Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LFEMEEHE)
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (i) EHEXFTHEHAKIFES L FENE (F
(Level 3) =E)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 items TRENHE2023F k2024F 12 31 H
including investment in a wealth management product, IEFEE-[EHEE (BEERYERKRE &
investment in concerts, and derivatives generated from BEERERRBELARLNBARKEE
investments in an associate and a subsidiary for the year ended EMTETR) WEE -
31 December 2023 and 2024.
Investment
in a wealth
management Investment in
products concerts  Derivatives Subtotal
BMES HEE
i ®’E fIETR UMy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TIT AR®Tir AR¥TT AR¥TFT
Current e B
As at 1 January 2024 R2024%F1H1HR 18,716 7,197 - 25,913
Additions NE - 26,620 - 26,620
Settlement wHE - (38,310) - (38,310)
Transfer from non-current assets & B3R B) & & - = 3,373 3,373
Fair value change NEEEE 1,514 4,493 - 6,007
Exchange difference E R ZE% 434 - - 434
As at 31 December 2024 R2024% 12 A31 H 20,664 - 3,373 24,037
Loan to
a related
Derivatives party Subtotal
BT
TEIR —wBEABRA UM
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AREFT AR¥TFT
Non-Current £
As at 1 January 2024 R2024F1A1H 2,641 — 2,641
Additions NE - 12,772 12,772
Repayment g - (729) (729)
Transfer to current assets R REEE (3,373) - (3,373)
Fair value change NEBEZS) 732 441 1,173
Exchange difference E R Z% - 196 196
As at 31 December 2024 R2024% 12 A31 H - 12,680 12,680
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

3:3
(iii)

110

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The fair value assessment methods and related key assumptions
and judgments adopted by the Group’s management is income
approach (specifically, discounted cash flow method): Uses
valuation techniques to convert future amounts (specifically,
cash flows based on the expected rate of return) to a present
amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
purchased certain wealth management products with floating
returns from a licensed financial institution.

The investment in concerts represents the investment in Jay
Chou Carnival World Tour 2024 (the “Concert”).

The derivative represents put options in relation to the
investments in Beijing Star Plus Fu‘an Business Management
Co., Ltd. and Beijing Star Plus Jia Hui Business Management
Co., Ltd (Note 17(b)).

The following table summarises the information about the
significant unobservable inputs used in the level 3 fair value
measurement of investments in a wealth management product,
concerts, and derivatives.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

3.3
(iii)

BERBRER 2

DEEG (2

3 EMA BiE R 5 2 F B BIR
AEBEEBREBHAFETIGTEUR
R ES R A A% (ARARS
REBRIR)  RAMERNEARSE (A
BAENENERRENESHE) BiRAR
g

HEC0245 128318 ILEE  AEE AR
MR BEEE T YRV ER -

RIBE R E 158 E AN 2024 5 G F 1 5K
mEEg (DEEE)MKRE -

TETAERREILREZRIERAHEESR
RARIMILR 2RI ERHERERAR (M
FE17(b)) B B ey 04 B -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

Fair value as at

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

3 MERBRER 2

3.3 LFEMER @)
(i) fEEEA B 1# R 8 2 FEAREFE (E)

Significant

Description 31 December 2024 observable input
20245128 31H
il 5t BAFEE EXTHRGBASE
RMB’000
AR #TFiT

Wealth management product (a) 20,664 Net asset value per share.

B EmKE () BIREEFE -

Derivatives (b) 3,373 The risk-free interest rate of periods within the
contractual life of the derivative is based on
the market yield of the Chinese sovereign bond
with a maturity life equal to the expected life to
expiration. Expected volatility is estimated based
on the average of historical volatilities of the
comparable companies in the same industry as at
the valuation dates.

PTET A (b) PTHETESHNFHANSHNERRAEAZIEA
BB ERENTEEEN TS REER
B - HHRBEXRBMHEBRITEA AR
EsRE R FHEMRE -

Loan to a related party 12,680 Expected future cash flows are discounted at rates

ERT 2@

Investment in concerts -

that reflects the internal rate of return of the
underlying investments.

TEEIR RIS R B RREIEEIRENHEREL
ST

Future cash flows are estimated based on expected
return, and the contracted investment costs,
discounted at rates that reflects the internal rate
of return of the underlying investments.

AR 2 mEANTEHADR RS HRE KA
I 1% [ B AE B #2 8 A 3D (B 3 3R () A1 R BRER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

3:3
(iii)

112

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

(@) The Group subscribed participating shares in funds
managed by commercial financial institutions who
determined the valuation of the fund periodically. The fair
value was determined by a combination of observable
and un-observable inputs.

(b) Regarding the derivatives, the Group has engaged an
independent valuer to determine the fair value of the
put options. The fair value was determined by Binomial
Option Pricing Model with a combination of observable
and unobservable inputs.

A change in the expected rate of return or the discount rate by
1% does not have significant impact on the fair value as at 31
December 2024.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair value
hierarchy classifications during the year ended 31 December
2024.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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138 A B B 5 2 FEMBIE (&)

() AEERBHELLBRETEHE
SMSRE  AEESMBET S
FRESMGEE  ATEATEER
TAEREABBEAAEE -

(b) BOTETAMS AKECZREBY
HEMEEREHENRAFE 2F
BNEAABERTABEEGARE
Ho_RABEEEEAET -

2024612 A31 A - TEHEAEI 3R K 5k AL IR X
FHI%HRATEIEEATE -

BHE2024F12A31BIEFE R FEEBR
DENE— ZR=ZEZHETEER -

EX &t fhat & FIER

fEt RAE S B EETHE  URBBEL
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(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGMENTS (continued)

Revenue derived from IP creation and operation business
Revenue from provision of event planning and management
services, and licensing services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the terms agreed on the contracts. Revenue from
celebrity IP management services is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the show or broadcasting period.

The Group is considered as an agent or principal for its
celebrity IP management services taking into the consideration
indicator such as whether the Group control specified services
provided by another party before the services is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which
it expects to be entitled in exchanging for arranging for the
specified services to be provided by the other party.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group management determine the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the expected credit losses of these receivables.
The assessment is based on the historical loss experience,
adjusted to reflect the effects of current market conditions
and forward-looking information, which requires the use
of judgments and estimates. Management reassesses the
provision at each reporting date. Details of the expected credit
loss assessment are set out in Note 3.1(b).

Estimation of the fair value of certain financial assets

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.3.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in consumer
preferences and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management reassesses these estimations at
each balance sheet date.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

BEXgsHAsTRAE 2

REIPEIEREERHAOBRA

RAUEB KB N E R RS M AT R RIS B U A
BANBEGRTIABREER - AZIPERE
ARIS YU AT IR H BB AR IR B AR RERR ©

FEBEREREPAEPEERBHRIEA
HEFEA  ERHREREEEAREER
BEBERPRRGEN S —FRENRE
ERT - EARNKEER/RIEAR - Al
A HRBEERGMBRARIBRNE
MERRMBE S RERWA -

R 5 B F i 78 % 5% TR (B

AEBWEEEREHE S REMEKER
TR I8 B 15 B &5 18 A RT 4 R E % 5 B UK IA
HRLERE A - RO ENBEBBRERIEL
3 17 58 B A RBR E B T 35 4K 0 e A RE 1
EMOTE SR RERHEG LG - 12
BN&RE BMENTGHEME - AHREEES
BRHEFIBHNMES.1Db)

ETemBELTHEME
TEREEDTSERXZNERTANRFE
RAMBERMETE - NEEEREHEEE
ZRIT% UXBRBEREPRGFENT
SERRER - TR E 2RI LBABEN
BRBERMEI3 -

FRHTTESHBE
FEMNAERFENEREEHBERD
AT EERBFATINAREERS - 2%
st TOERE A T 5 IR0 A R B I 35 &
BOMEERNBELREL - A HEL
RO EREFHFREABRIRNTE
BEEMEREETTE) - Al @ RAESAEY -
EEEREHEERABRAMENFHEZ
Ffhat e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

(e)

(f)

114

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGMENTS (continued)

Net realisable value of Film and TV programme rights

The Group’s management determines the impairment for the
Group’s Film and TV programme rights with reference to the
estimated future economic benefits derived from the use of
these assets. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of the economic benefits
derived from the assets of similar nature. The Group takes into
consideration both internal and external market information,
for example, the sales forecasts, sales and distribution costs
budget and the general economic condition of the relevant
markets. Management reassesses these estimations at each
balance sheet date.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the provision
for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are
transactions and calculations during the ordinary course of
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the period
in which such estimate is changed.
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e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 KARSEEE
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as FERERAREEBHATRAIEETE - F
the Board of Directors of the Company. Management has BEDNRELARAREETSENANSE
determined the operating segments based on the information BREERBNEREELE DS -
reviewed by the Board of Directors of the Company for the
purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance.
The Board of Directors of the Company considers the business AARESSRRINHIRENE MR
from perspective of types of goods or services delivered or ARAREERER - RBZE2024F 12 A31
provided. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the HIEFE  AEERKEERAIREDINAT
Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:
New retail: Retail of health management FEE FEREEEEM&EAM
products and other products in EmNEE
the PRC
IP creation and operation: IP creations, media content IPEIE &8 : IPAIE - HEBAREIE &
creation, event planning and FREINPEEIPER
celebrity IP management
Segment revenue and results (@) SEBBA R KR
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEEREREREERBEBUTIEE
services over time and at a point in time in the following major (BB ERMRBEERREFEA
business lines:
IP creation
New retail and operation Total
HEE IPRIEREE #at
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000
ABBFIT AEETFIT ARETFT
Year ended 31 December 2024  # ¥ 20245 12A31H
ILEE
Segment revenue SEBUA
— recognised at a point in time — AR 2R 269,750 200,704 470,454
— recognised over time —REREEER - 113,556 113,556
Total segment revenue S ER UL A 269,750 314,260 584,010
Year ended 31 December 2023  # ¥ 20235 12A31H
ILEE
Segment revenue S
— recognised at a point in time — A E 2R 239,808 86,239 326,047
— recognised over time —RERBEER = 104,166 104,166
Total segment revenue YA 239,808 190,405 430,213
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

(a)

116

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The segment revenue and results and other segment

information are set out below:

5 WARSEEH 2

() PEUAR KM (=)
DEMAREEA RIS BERBIINT :

IP creation
New retail and operation Total
HZE IPRIEREE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFiT AR ¥TFiT AR ®Tir
Year ended 31 December 2024  #ZE 2024 12A 31 H
IEFE
Revenue WA 269,750 314,260 584,010
Cost of revenue $H 1 P A (90,907) (166,086) (256,993)
Segment gross profit 5 EBE R 178,843 148,174 327,017
Selling and marketing expenses  $H% & & #5I (143,294)
General and administrative —BRITBX
expenses (114,021)
Provision for impairment losses & Bl & & BB BT 1B B &
on financial assets (5,338)
Other income H i A 12,794
Other gains, net s - F5E 6,269
Finance income, net AU » FEE 3,394
Share of loss of investments 1 A A A BRE
accounted for using the equity ~ BIHIREE1E
method (3)
Profit before income tax FxFr S MATRT 86,818
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

5 WARSEEH 2
(a) DEWUARESE &)

IP creation
New retail and operation Total
FEE  IPREEREE waEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Segment gross profit

Selling and marketing expenses

General and administrative
expenses

Provision for impairment losses
on financial assets

Other income

Other gains, net

Finance income, net

Profit before income tax

BXE2023F12A31H
LLFE
YA

D EER

HEREHMAX
— R RITHRAX

TREERERERE
H W A
H it lezs - 588

ARG - 3R

B P 1575 At A

239,808 190,405 430,213
(93,970) (59,910) (153,880)

145,838 130,495 276,333

(112,317)

(106,633)
(3,192)
9,563

763
2,341

66,858
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

(a)

(b)

118

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, all of the
segment revenue reported above was from external customers.
There were no inter-segment sales for both years.

Segment results represent the gross profit generated by each
segment. This is the measure reported to the Board of Directors
of the Company for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessments.

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported to the
Board of Directors of the Company and therefore information of
separate segment assets and liabilities is not presented.

Geographical information

Most of the Group’s segment revenues are derived from
mainland China except certain revenue from the IP creation
and operation segment.

The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers
analysed based on location of the operations of the business is
set out below:

(a)

(b)

WARSEEHE 2
DM AR EE Z)

H E 20234 K2024F 12 A31 B ILFE -
LT 2FBEANFFA D ERAL K BINERS o
MIEEENGEDHAHEE -

PRI IEE D HEE 2 BRI - U ARA
FEERRATGELRTALANEFR L
SRR -

SHAEREBLTEHAAADESS
B AR T2IBIHHEERAEE
%o

HwESH
BRORE IPRIE R &N BOETIRAIN - &
SERE D 7 B AR S B A -

7 S B4 2 765 4 44 B 4 409 1 10 S B0 8
WA S BRI

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TiT AREFor

Revenue A
Mainland China AR P 571,146 428,140
Others HAith 12,864 2,073
584,010 430,213
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(c)

(d)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

major products or service is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

5 WARSEEH 2

(c) BAS®
BEREMARBOENTFLAHBADT :

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFiT ARETFT

Sales of health management products and ~ $HERFEEIEE 7 N EE @
skincare products 264,948 237,440
Production of Film and TV programme rights 8218 &5 B i 84 4E 167,591 84,142

Production and licensing of entertainment ~ #R 2448 $E S [z 4 25 4

videos 31,761 15,840
Event planning and management EEREINREIE 27,900 6,957
Celebrity IP management FHEIPEE 65,210 71,239
Licensing and royalty income RERETEERABIRA 18,538 9,941
Rental income HEWA 1,908 =
Sales of other products SHE H A E 6,154 4,654
584,010 430,213

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, revenue
may be recognised over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if the
Group:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

(d) WARRHETRE
WAREREIRBEHEHEEBRERTP R
FER - T B MR TERANZ A HNER
M WA R BERS R S R — B R MR -

HAEBERFE T ED—BER  §R%R
T H0 1 Tl #E S B s FEf 2 7%

—  REMAEE SRR UELFE R B F

e
m

— BEARKEREAOMELHIENEP AT
HIEEE © 3

- YEEAHAKEMmMSAEEMBEN
BE - A S B R 98 5 #01T E AR K
Bl 258 SEK B HIH A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

(d)

120

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms agreed
on the contracts or over the TV show or broadcasting period.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation
is measured based on time-based measure of progress
that best depicts the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance
obligations. For such arrangements, the Group allocates
revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative
standalone selling price. The Group generally determines
standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers. If the standalone selling price is not directly
observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin
or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on
the availability of observable information. Assumptions and
estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling
price of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgments on these assumptions and estimates may impact
the revenue recognition.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the goods or services to the customer, the
Group presents the contract liability when the payment is made
or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due from the customer).

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

(d)
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(d)

(i)

(ii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
The following is a description of the accounting policy for the
principal revenue streams of the Group:

Revenue from new retail business

(1)

Sales of health management and skincare products

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, which is generally upon the acceptance of the
products. The Group recognises revenue in an amount
equal to the contract sales prices less value-added tax,
estimated allowances for sales returns, volume discounts
and incentives paid to distributors. Allowances for sales
returns, volume discounts and incentives to distributors
are estimated based on contract terms and historical
patterns.

The Group is regarded as the principal in the sales
transactions as (a) the Group is the primary obligator
of providing the specified goods or services to its
distributors; (b) the Group retains the inventory risk and
is responsible for the delivery of products; (c) the Group
has the sole discretion in determining the pricing policy
for the health management and skincare products and
the discounts, incentives and fees necessary for the
promotion of sales. Thus the revenue from sales of health
management and skincare products is recognised on a
gross basis.

Revenue from IP creation and operation

(1)

Revenue from production of Film and TV programme rights
Where the Group undertook the role of investor for the
production of Film and TV programme rights, it either:

° licenses the copyright and ancillary rights of such
Film and TV programme rights to customers
for a fixed fee for a period of time in designated
geographical regions. Revenue is recognised at
point in time upon delivery and acceptance of the
Film and TV programmes by its customers, when
the control is transferred so that the customers are
able to direct its use and to obtain the associated
benefits; or

(d)

(i)

(ii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

WARSEEHE 2

W A\ RERR O R BT IBIR ()
AT EAREE E BRA KRG 5T R A -

e

(M

EXBIMA

HERREERERS
HEEMMSRANEEZHRER
EEPRER  — R E m i WK
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

(d)
(ii)

122

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from IP creation and operation (Continued)

(1)

(2)

(3)

4)

Revenue from production of Film and TV programme rights

(Continued)

° sells the copyrights and ancillary rights of such
Film and TV programme to customers in exchange
for cash consideration determined based on an
agreed calculation, e.g. advertisement income for
each episodes in designated geographical regions.
This constitutes a variable consideration and such
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that there will be no significant
reversal when the uncertainty is removed.

Revenue from production and licensing of entertainment
videos

The Group produces and licenses entertainment videos
for customers’ specific events with fixed considerations.
Revenue is recognised at point in time when the videos
are available to the customers, which is generally on the
delivery and acceptance of the videos when the the rights
to use the videos are granted to the customers.

Revenue from event planning and management

Revenue from event planning and management
where the Group undertakes the role of planning and
management of concert or internet live broadcasting, is
recognised over the period of the concert or internet live
broadcasting when the customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the
Group’s services. Revenue is recognised using a straight-
line basis over the period of the concert or internet live
broadcasting.

Licensing and royalty income

The Group licenses proprietary celebrity intellectual
properties and produces media contents to third
parties. Any upfront agreed licensing fee is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the period of the license
agreement. Royalty income from the licensing
arrangements is recognised in accordance with the terms
of agreements.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from IP creation and operation (Continued)

(5) Celebrity IP management income
Revenue from celebrity IP management represented the
service fees earned by the Group through managing IP
of certain celebrities and is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the show or broadcasting period.

The celebrities, whose IP is managed by the Group, have
the discretion to determine the basis of performance
measurement and the service prices in the contract with
advertisers and bear majority of the service costs. The
Group is regarded as an agent in such an arrangement
and, therefore, recognises revenue from Celebrity IP
management on a net basis.

Since the Group has the ability to determine the pricing of the
Film and TV programmes rights, entertainment videos licensing,
the concerts or internet live broadcasting and proprietary
celebrity intellectual properties licensing as described in item
(1) to (4) above, and negotiate the service terms, and bear the
relevant costs including the self-production costs of Film and
TV programmes rights, entertainment videos and concerts or
internet live broadcasting, and take responsibility for managing
the licensed libraries, the Group is regarded as the principal
and recognises revenue from the above revenue streams
on a gross basis and recognises production costs and other
applicable fulfillment costs as cost of revenue.

5

(d)
(ii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET

124

H iy A B H iy =2 /B8R

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AR TT

Other income

Government grants (a)

Interest income on loan receivables

Additional deduction of input VAT

Investment income from wealth
management products

Income from other activities

Other gains, net

Net foreign exchange losses

Gain from fair value changes in financial
assets at FVPL (Note 17(b)(iv))

Others

Htig A
AT Bh (a) 8,226 7,643
FE U E R F B URA 452 =
IS E R AR = 344
B ERRERS
4,116 1,363
HibEB A = 213
12,794 9,563
Htih 98
i 5 E5 18 5 5 (793) (3,165)
BAFEFABEZEMEEDN
DN EE B (HF17(b)Gv)) 7,410 3,233
Hih (348) 695
6,269 763

(@) Governments grants primarily comprised financial
subsidies received or receivable from the local
government for maintain stability of employees and
business and one-off awards for the Group’s contribution
to Kunshan Huagiao and Hangzhou Economic
Development Zone. These grants were recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other

contingencies attached to the grants.
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and marketing
expenses and general and administrative expenses are

analysed as follows:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

BEESMAXZ
FEASHERA - HEREHEIUR KR
THREXORAZANMT :

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARFiT ARETFT
Cost of Film and TV programme rights TR BREER (MiE20)

(Note 20) 110,451 30,643
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) BRERHHL (F1:8) 106,227 70,505
Cost of goods sold (Note 19) EEEMKA (HE19) 79,378 81,083
Commissions B 46,350 25,815
Cost of event planning and TEBREI R BB R A

management services 46,186 27,568
Advertising and marketing expenses EEREHEAS 41,058 43,646
Legal and professional fees FREREEEH 16,078 6,591
Travelling and entertainment expenses 2= ik N BN EE R 2 10,984 13,787
Transportation and logistics expenses B R nFx 9,735 8,844
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz - BERZETE (WiE12)

equipment (Note 12) 8,177 5,460
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) & R#EZAEITE (H71:713) 5,544 4,103
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) R & E S (A1:+15) 4,505 1,191
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B & 3,000 3,800
Rental expenses for short-term leases EHEENHEeRX (#7F30)

(Note 30) 3,698 3,469
Other tax and surcharges H bR IE K E 2,640 2,317
Donations B 1,690 =
Depreciation of investment properties WEYETE (Kt 14)

(Note 14) 1,429 =
Provision for impairment of inventories GFERERE (KL 19)

(Note 19) - 197
Listing expenses EWAX - 31,930
Others HA 17,178 11,881

514,308 372,830
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

8

(a)

126

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

8

EEREFMAZ(BEEEHL)

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRTFIT AREFT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TENIEA 82,965 51,690
Share-based compensation expenses LA RS 1 4 B0 9 S BN Bl 2
(Note 27) (Bt&t27) 364 1,058
Pension costs RIRE AR
— defined contribution plans (a) — A ERKETE () 5,788 6,247
Other social security costs, housing benefits  H it @ {RERK A - EEIBF]
and other employee benefits K E AR & F 17,110 11,510
106,227 70,505

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes administrated and operated by the local municipal
governments. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds
which are calculated on specified percentage of the salary of
individual employee to the schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the employees.

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have joined the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”),
defined contribution schemes managed by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Schemes, the Group and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme based
on 5% of individual employees’ salary as required under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The monthly
contributions of both the Group and the employee are subject
to a cap of HK$1,500 and any additional contributions are
allowed on a voluntary basis.

No forfeited contributions is available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE, INCLUDING 8 EABRTAX(BREESRM&) »
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (h) EEEEHFHMAL
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five individuals HZE2024F12A31 8 LFE  A5BH &
whose salaries and related benefits and were the highest FIEEEF RSN REEATBEIEME (2023
in the Group included two (2023: three) directors and their F:ZR)ESF FEOFMMRENTX(C)
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in the HAHESHFMAMENNDTA - ERAR
directors” emoluments as set out in (c) below. The salaries and EEREFMNATHHOHRT =% (2023F : M
related benefits payable to the remaining three (2023: two) B)ATDREZ N E S REBEMET
individuals among the top five highest paid individuals were as
follows:

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other AEXFHE BEERL - EEMKE

allowances and benefits in kind EWEr 4,012 3,654
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 1,559 =
Pension costs — defined contribution plans B E KA — R F HRETE 79 120

5,650 3,774
The five highest paid individuals fell within the following bands: hEERTWMATERATERR :

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TFT ARETT

Emolument band & E
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7t & 2,000,000 78 7T 2 2
HK$2,000,000 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,000 T & 2,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
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e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE, INCLUDING 8 EABRTFAX(BREESRM&) »
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(c) Directors’ emoluments (c) EFHM
No remuneration was paid or payable to the directors of the HE2023% K2024F 12 A31H L FE -
Company (including emoluments for services as employee/ MEESNKENARAESNMES (BIEK
directors of the group entities prior to becoming the directors of AERNRESANEERERBEES EF 5
the Company) during the years ended 31 December 2023 and DFTREARE A FBN) - AT ERBRSD -
2024, except for the follows:
Other social
security
Pension costs ~ costs, housing
Share-based - defined  benefits and
Basic  Discretionary ~compensation  contribution other employee
Name i3] Fee salaries honuses expenses plans henefits Total
Htite
RERE .

N ke HEERAR

RERM HF-FE  RRER
it E3Fe  BREL  FHEX  HRHD il Ldl)
RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMBUOOO ~ RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOOO  RMBUOOD
NERTL  ARETL ARETL ARETT ARETT AEETT  ARETR

Year ended 31 December & E 2023 %

2023 12BN ALERE
Executive directors BiTES
Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting ShEXL 101 705 = 213 10 57 1,086
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan ~ &R LI £ 101 1,080 = = 16 = 1,197
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki BB %4 101 1,080 = = 16 = 1,197
Non-executive directors ~ JEHITES
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung BREEE 101 = = = = = 101
Mr. Chen, Chung B LE 101 = = = = = 101
Independent non-executive  HIFEHTES

directors
Dr. Xue, Jun (i) EERL() 101 = = = = = 101
Mr. Yang Dave De () Yang Dave De % A (i) 101 = = = = = 101
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth EEFELT()

Ching Yee (i) 101 - - - - - 101
Year ended 31 December & 20245

2024 1231 ALLERE
Executive directors BTES
Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting SLERL 219 2,134 802 3 47 25 3,900
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan &L+ 219 1,094 401 - 16 = 1,730
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki  BBEIE 4 219 1,094 601 - 16 - 1,930
Non-executive directors ~ FEHTEE
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung BkEEE 219 - - - - - 219
Mr. Chen, Chung FLabits 219 - - - - - 219
Independent non-executive  HAFHRITES

directors
Dr. Xue, Jun () EFEEL() 219 - - - - - 219
Mr. Yang Dave De (i) Yang Dave De % £ (i) 219 - - - - - 219
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth EEFELL()

Ching Yee (i) 219 - - - - - 219
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Dr. Xue, Jun, Mr. Yang Dave De and Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
were appointed as Independent non-executive director of the Company
on 18 April 2023.

Directors’ retirement benefits

The retirement benefits paid to Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, Dr. Qian,
Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki during the year
ended 31 December 2024 by a defined contribution plan in
respect of their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries is RMB79,000
(2023: RMB42,000). No other retirement benefits were paid
to Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai,
Kwok Fai Frank in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for early
termination of the appointment during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

No payment was made to third parties for making available
directors’ services during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled by, and entities
connected with, such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 36, there were no other loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024.

8

(c)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

EERAAZ (BEESEHME) @)

EFHM =)
BEEE L Yang Dave De A REFHE L TR
2023F 4 A 18 AEZ X AR N RIBUIERNITES ©

EFmEREF

BE2024F 1231 B L5 E - REBEAEH
FEHE Bkt BPILIE T RBERE
FEERBERARBREMBARNERE
277 E R A0 RIS TS R IKRE A B A
¥ 79,000 7T (2023 4F - AR#42,0007T) °
FoLELt ShUEEREREEESE
REERARRKEMBERABDNEHERT
TE 42 ) L AR 75 T 288 S A5 EL AR IR AR A

EFERET

B E£2023F k202412 A31H LFE -
BELRERIEZEMAE S EMAR
RIERERE -

HEEKEFREMAE=S AR

B E2023F h2024F 12 A31H IEFE -
BmR R EREMAS =T RN
IR -

FREFIREF BEMEFZHNLER
BAETHENREZR® ERRXBRRAMI
BZEH

B B 5 36 BT #% BE & S - 8L E 2023 F ) 2024
FIR2ABIALFE HMEANRNES A
BRESEHNEBE R EEARENTER
ZEMER EERREMZS -

EERXB ZHEEWHZEXEZ

ARBRELEZARRREEREFE
ERHEREEAREMREE2023F
20244 12 A 31 B 1L F 8 R F E A (E ] B
RNAFENEAEEXBEERIERRS -
RHREH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

9

130

FINANCE INCOME, NET 9 MBPA B8

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FiT AREFT
Finance income: BB A -
Interest income on bank deposits RITIFE KT B U A 4,231 3,590
Finance costs: MBERE :
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 30) FAE & & F| 85 (A7:£30) (394) (522)
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERF B (443) (727)
(837) (1,249)
Finance income, net HBBKA B8 3,394 2,341
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is WRBRATDEFERCERERAENS /M
earned from financial assets that are held for cash management BERI  AFBWARI AT A -
pUrposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FRrMBAS
The income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 KEBEHZ2024F12A31 BILEENHIE
December 2024 are analysed as follows: BRI SHaoT :

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

Current income tax BNERFT 1S5
— PRC corporate income tax —HE D EREH 31,623 30,264
— Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 2,580 1,561
34,203 31,825
Deferred income tax (Note 32) EIEFTSR (M52 32)
— PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH (1,368) (1,569)
— Hong Kong profits tax —BEBENEH 3,743 (4,809)
2,375 (6,378)
Income tax expense FRri8MMAX 36,578 25,447

(a) Cayman Islands (a) FZHESE
Under the prevailing laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company RIERSHERITERE  ARREFIEA
is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. B AW R R o

(b) Hong Kong (h) THE
The Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject AEEBREBEIMERINEEERFRARE
to Hong Kong profits tax of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the PEEE A U R E SR s F He i 3K 16.5% (2023
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the F 1 16.5%) BB BFIER o
year.

(c) PRC Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT”) (c) HEILEMBR(THBELERBR]
The PRC CIT has been provided on the estimated taxable PRECEMEGH DR ARNEBA P EZMX
profits derived by the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the S 2 BB R B P E A 2 b 5T B R B s B 1E
PRC and was calculated in accordance with the relevant rules L WREPBEBERRRAARE -
and regulations of the PRC. The applicable PRC CIT rate was REZE2023F M 2024F 12 A31 HILFE -
25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. FEIERCEMEHHRER25% o
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

10
(d)

(e)

132

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Withholding Income Tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
Implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued on
6 December 2007, dividends distributed out of the profits
generated by entities established in the PRC after 1 January
2008 to their foreign investors are subject to a withholding
income tax at a rate of 5% or 10%. The withholding income tax
rate applicable to the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 was 10% (2023: 10%).

The taxation of the Group’s profit before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates as
follows:

10 FRr8#BAZ 2

(d)

(e)

KMKBMAERN

BIE R 2007 E 12 A 6 BB MH (D ERMER
SEEHMA) - B2008F 1B 1H#E - f£F
BB EMATE SN AEIIRTEE
D 2 B BUEIE 5% 8% 10% M B R BN B
FEH - NEBHE2024F 12 A31 B 14
EEANRIMREBMERHER10% (2023
£ :10%) °

AEEREGERAGEN R ELEERAAEH
REMERZERBETHESELNER
SREMTRE FEHEHT

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TiT ARETFT
Profit before income tax FR PRAS 20 A5 A 86,818 66,858
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate 23 A R R B s I D AN b B R
applicable to profits in PRC (25%) (25%) st E 2 1A 21,705 16,714
Tax effects of: NTEB2RBETE:
— Effect of different tax rate —TRB RN E (692) 1,141
— Expenses not deductible for taxation — AR
purposes 709 982
— Income not subject to tax —HBARBWA (372) (2,543)
— Tax losses not recognised for deferred — RBIEEFT S T AER A
income tax HIEE 1B 10,475 9,359
— Temporary differences not recognised for — — R BLIE LT FT 15 F FE 52 HY
deferred income tax AR 239 (34)
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax ~— — Fl| F Jc Al R FE R 2 FR 1A
losses E51E (396) (450)
— Withholding income tax arising from —HEMNBARIMESEE TR
licensing fees paid by subsidiaries in the XA FF R BATE £ TEHFT
PRC to the group entities in Hong Kong B 5,040 287
— Others —HAth (130) 9)
36,578 05,447

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT




11
(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average numbers of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

11
(a)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

skER

BREXRT

NEZE2023FE R 202412 31 A ILEE
FREABIIERRRERZFE ARG R
FIBR A BEITIE NG @A pAE I BUGT & -

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR #FiT AREFT
Profit attributable to equity owners of the KA R IER AEL R T
Company (RMB'000) (AR%F) 56,054 34,515
Weighted average number of BT BRINE T E
ordinary shares issued 822,826,111 758,952,130
Basic earnings per share (in RMB/share) ERELRBF(AEE ) 0.07 0.05
Diluted earnings per share (h) EBEREERF
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the FRBERNEBRERTEEEEL L BR
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding EL‘{TLT‘%WW@% TTE SN B AR AN #E
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary HEETE - 2020F IR 0 B EhET Bl P R 1T

shares. The effect of the outstanding share options under 2020
share incentive plan was included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share as they were dilutive.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the diluted earnings
per share is RMBO0.07 (2023: earnings per share RMB0.04),
which is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity
owners of the Company RMB56,054,000 by the weighted
average number of 849,991,483 ordinary shares outstanding
assuming the conversion of share options under 2020 share
incentive plan during the financial year.

E\%Hﬂiéﬂﬁﬁﬁéf’ﬁﬁ HUL R
BANSFARTE

HE202412A31 R ILEE - SRS EER
MAEARK007T(20234F : EREFMAR
¥0.0470) AR AN A ESEA AR
si A R 56,054,000 7T B4 LA 3% 81 BR EE &
2020 F % {7k Bh 5T &) T B AR i R i W
Eé’*ﬁmﬂﬁ‘%H&Lbu$%$t’:7§k849,991,483ﬂﬁ

AEFE -
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 W% - BRI

Furniture,
fixture and Leasehold
Buildings Computers equipment improvements Total
FRE - -KE
BF B P& HEEE Bt
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1A1H
Cost %N 57,139 1,113 4,128 12,545 74,925
Accumulated depreciation 5 #r & (2,090) (354) (1,180) (2,215) (5,839)
Net book amount IRERE 55,049 759 2,948 10,330 69,086
Year ended 31 December & ¥2023%F 128318
2023 LB
Opening net book value  EA¥IBEE R E 55,049 759 2,948 10,330 69,086
Additions NE 528 532 1,757 1,081 3,898
Depreciation e (1,709) (343) (1,582) (1,826) (5,460)
Exchange difference [ERER - (16) 34 = 18
Closing net book amount HA K BR EE & 53,868 932 3,157 9,585 67,542
At 31 December 2023 2023512831 H
Cost B AR 57,667 1,629 5919 10,790 76,005
Accumulated depreciation 2t #r & (3,799) (697) (2,762) (1,205) (8,463)
Net book amount RESEE 53,868 932 3,157 9,585 67,542
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(i)

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

12 Y%  -BERRM 2

Furniture,
fixture and Leasehold
Buildings Computers equipment improvements Total
FR BE
i £ £ R ek fiw HARE #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTFT AR¥TT AR¥TT ARETT
Year ended 31 Decemher & E2024%F 128310
2024 LEE
Opening net book value HAWIEREF{E 53,868 932 3,157 9,585 67,542
Additions NE 47,7131 271 3,472 19,569 71,049
Disposals HE - (65) (210) - (275)
Depreciation e (2,588) (439) (1,621) (3,529) (8,177)
Exchange difference fENER 10 - 59 = 69
Closing net book amount A 7 Bk EFE 99,021 705 4,857 25,625 130,208
At 31 December 2024 #2024% 128318
Cost [N 105,408 1,704 8,793 30,019 145,924
Accumulated depreciation 257 & (6,387) (999) (3,936) (4,394) (15,716)
Net book amount BEERME 99,021 705 4,857 25,625 130,208

Depreciation expenses were charged to the following categories

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

(i) FEMAXGAGEZEKERO THIFES

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT AR®ETT

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses

THE M2 H R 2,567 1,034
— R MITHFE X 5,610 4,426
8,177 5,460
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

13 ERERE

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRTFIT AREFT
Office premises mMomE
Opening net book value HY) AR R E 21,511 1,878
Additions NE 13,541 23,850
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) 2R =38 &% (ft:1 14) (14,286) -
Depreciation charge WERX (5,544) (4,103)
Early termination RE&LE (460) (114)
Exchange difference fEH =5 24 -
Closing net hook amount HAKIRE B (E 14,786 21,511
At the end of the year WERXR
Cost %N 27,796 30,725
Accumulated depreciation EEE (13,010) (9,214)
Net book amount RERE 14,786 21,511

The Group leased office premises in Kunshan, Guangzhou,
Shanghai and Beijing in mainland China under lease terms
ranging from two to six years (2023: two to five years).
Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets were charged to
selling and marketing expenses and general and administrative

expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (Note 7).

136
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(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14 BEME
Year ended 31 December
BF12A31HLLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT
Opening net book amount H¥EmSRE = =
Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 13) BB EFRELE (4/:£13) 14,286 =
Depreciation charge ERXZ (1,429) -
Closing net hook amount HXRE@SRE 12,857 =
Cost (DN 14,286 -
Accumulated depreciation REHinE (1,429) -
Net book amount BREFE 12,857 =
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: (i) REZFHERNSE:
Year ended 31 December
B#F12A31HLLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT
Rental income from operating leases wEEENHES A 1,908 =
Depreciation charges WERX 1,429 =

Investment properties consist of leased properties, which
represent right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment properties. They are initially measured based on
the initial amount of the relevant lease liability. The ownership
of such leased properties are not transferred to the Group from
the lessors. The leased properties are depreciated over the
lease term which is shorter than their useful life on a straight-

line basis. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had one such

lease contract (2023: nil).

(Rl ke

REMEBEREYE AFAREMET
ENFEREEE - BV S RIBEHEBEREARE
MRS REEITHE - ZEHEMEDNE
B AREAAESBREAEEH - HEDER
RHOFAEHAENHEERNRERLE
ITITE - N2024512A31H - "EB A —
49 (20234 : #)
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

15

138

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 |EEE
Licensed
Software and intellectual Music
technology properties copyright Total
BREMRS
BRERBE Eig HFRiRE #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000

AREFr AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 $®2023F1A1H
Cost %N 4,076 - - 4,076
Accumulated amortisation g E (198) - - (198)
Net book amount BREDFE 3,878 = = 3,878
Year ended 31 December #BE2023F12A31H

2023 LLEE
Opening net book value R FE 3,878 = = 3,878
Additions RNE 14,864 1,959 431 17,254
Amortisation LR (727) (414) (50) (1,191)
Exchange difference ME 5 2= 5 = 28 = 28
Closing net book amount HREEEFE 18,015 1,573 381 19,969
At 31 December 2023 1#2023%€12A31H
Cost %N 18,940 1,987 431 21,358
Accumulated amortisation g E (925) (414) (50) (1,389)
Net book amount BRENFE 18,015 1,573 381 19,969
Year ended 31 December #§F2024%128310
2024 LFE

Opening net book value R FE 18,015 1,573 381 19,969
Additions NE 4,872 - - 4,872
Amortisation i3] (3,919) (499) (87) (4,505)
Exchange difference b = 7 195 25 8 228
Closing net book amount HAREREFE 19,163 1,099 302 20,564
At 31 December 2024 #2024 128310
Cost B AR 24,038 2,030 440 26,508
Accumulated amortisation g3 (4,875) (931) (138) (5,944)
Net book amount BREFE 19,163 1,009 302 20,564
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16

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation expenses were charged to the following categories
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

15 MEEE &)
BHEETEREA2EIKESE NN TE
Rl

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

Cost of revenue SHE KA
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAX
General and administrative expenses —REITHAX

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

4,015 1,096
390 -
100 95

4,505 1,191

16 LIfEREARBKRE

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Investment in associates REEATZKRE
At the beginning of the year 9

Additions NE

Disposals e

Share of loss of investments FEIEIRE EE

At the end of the year F£X

5,004 -
3 5,004
4) -
) -
5,000 5,004
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

16

140

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (continued)
As at 31 December 2024, the associates of the Group, which

16 LIEREARRE &)

R20246 12 A31 R * AEBEHAEREA

were accounted for using equity method, were as follows: BREEE A RIT ¢
Attributable equity
Carrying amount interest of the Group
IEEE TR M EL A2
As at 31 December
Place of Nature of ®12A31H

Company name incorporation relationship 2024 2023 2024 2023
NCEE M H MENE 20245 2023 F 20245 2023 4
Star Era Hong Kong China/Hong Kong Associate - 4 - 40%

Limited
ERTEABRAR hEEB NG
Billion star Development ~ China/Hong Kong ~ Associate - - 30% 30%

(HK) Limited
BEER(BB)ERLR RE/ B NS
Beijing Star Plus Jiahui China/Beijing Associate 5,000 5,000 25% 25%

Business Management
Co. Limited (Note 17(b))

LTREAZERKERE FE IR N
BRA] (Bat17(b)

The English names of the associates represent the best effort
by the management of the Group in translating their Chinese
names as they do not have official English names.

The Group determined that it does not have controlling interest
in above investees, but rather possesses significant influence.
The associates as listed above are private companies and there
are no quoted market prices available for their shares. There
is no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the
associates.

The directors of the Company are of the view that none of the

Group’s associates was individually material to the Group as of
31 December 2023 and 2024.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

(a)

(b)

PROFIT OR LOSS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Classification of financial assets at fair value through (a)

profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (FVPL):

- debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at
either amortised cost or fair value through OCI;

- equity investments that are held for trading, and

- equity investments for which the entity has not elected to
recognise fair value gains and losses through OCI.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the (b)

following:

17

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

BATFHEHARZHEMNEE

BOFEAAREHEMEESN
E

AEBSTReREENBRRATFER
ABSHNERMEE :

—  THARBBKANBRRATET
ARt 2ER 0BG RE

- BFEEREaRRE R

RIEEZEFELBE2E B SER
FEKDSIBERNEDRE -

5 g

BHRAFEFABRAENEREESR
AT &IA

As at 31 December

W12A31H

2024 2023
20245 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Non-current assets
Loan to a related party (/i)
Derivatives (1)

— Star Plus Fu'an

— Star Plus Jiahui

Current assets
Investment in Hong Kong listed equity
securities
Investment in a wealth
management product (/i)
Investment in Fuzhou concert
Derivatives (i)
— Star Plus Fu'an
— Star Plus Jiahui

JERBEE
m] — & A B 5 & 5K (i)
PTET ARG
-BEER
—EEEE

RODRE
BRELTERAZBFRE

BB EmIRE (i)

BINEREGIRE

PTHETEA®D
—ERIE%R
—ERIRE

12,680 =
- 2,231

- 410
12,680 2,641
37,273 =
20,664 18,716
- 7,197
2,838 =
535 =
61,310 25,913
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

17

(b)

(i)

142

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the
following: (Continued)

Derivatives

On 30 October 2023, the Group entered into an agreement
with an independent party to establish Beijing 024 Business
Management Co., Ltd. (formerly “Beijing Star Plus Fu‘an
Management Company Limited”, “Star Plus Fu‘an”) in the
PRC. The Group owns 75% equity interest in Star Plus
Fu‘an for a capital of RMB15,000,000. In connection with
the investment, the Group has been granted two conditional
options to put certain target equity interests in Star Plus Fu‘an
to the non-controlling shareholder at specified considerations
by 31 December 2025.

On 30 October 2023, the Group entered into another
agreement with an independent party to establish Beijing
Star Plus Jiahui Management Company Limited (“Star Plus
Jiahui”) in the PRC. The Group owns 25% equity interest in
Star Plus Jiahui for a capital of RMB5,000,000. In connection
with the investment, the Group has been granted a conditional
option to put target shares in Star Plus Jiahui to the controlling
shareholder at a specified consideration or a conditional award
by 31 December 2025.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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(b)

(i)

BOFEHARRNERNEE &)

BHRAFEFABRAENEREESR
BATRE: (&)

HETIR

M2023F 10 A30H » NEEE —EF T H
RIS AEPBERZIERETRAEEHH
EEARAA (MBIt REREREKE
BAERRAR] [R2AER] - AEEFE
ERIEZWT75%BE ZMEARABARE
15,000,0007T - stZEKREM S * AEE D
EEMIAE R HE - AR 2025412 A 31
BRIAREREREAELZNSE T ERK
R E T IR R -

M2023F 10 A30H @ NEBEE—EFLH
I EM R - AER BRI R EBIRE
BEERERAR ([ERIRE] - A&H
HFEERARZEND%RE TMERRA
K ¥5,0000007T - tZBEREME * A&
B EER AR R HE  UR20254 12
H31BATAR ERE X R RZE S 2 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 17

(b)

(i)

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the (b)

following: (Continued)

Derivatives (Continued)

(i)

Upon initial recognition, these conditional put options and
award were classified as financial assets measured at FVPL.
The fair value of the conditional put options and award was
evaluated as at the date of grant and at each financial reporting
period end, using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options and award
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model

BOFEHARRNERNEE &)

BHRAFEFABRAENEREESR

BATRE: (&)

FIETR (&)

ROV HERR - T H R RE R LR
DERBEATEFABSAENSREE -
B R R0 A R R 2 AP ETDRE T
A REMBREHREBB AR B
ARG - WAt KR B & 28R 2 Rk
R o TR AT AR Y B 8 A BRI

used:
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R2024 2023 F
12B31H 12A31H
Unobservable inputs adopted AR B R A BIE
Star Plus Fu’an conditional options EfIERBEHE
Expected volatility TEHR R I8 60.41% 38.17%
Dividend yield g oRES 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate o [ B 1) = 1.09% 2.15%
Star Plus Jiahui conditional option EfEESEHHERER
and award
Expected volatility TEHR R I8 60.41% 38.17%
Dividend yield A% B & 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate e R = 1.14% 2.15%

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z=MF 5% 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the
following: (Continued)

(ii)  Investment in a wealth management product
The short-term investment in a wealth management product is
measured at FVPL and represented participating shares of a
fund managed by a commercial financial institution pursuant
to the agreement entered in July 2023, the initial cost of
investments under this agreement was HK$20,000,000.
(iii) Loan to a related party
On 1 January, 2024, the Group entered into a loan agreement
with an associate, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
provide a revolving facility of HK$15,000,000 to fund general
working capital need of the associate’s principal business for
the period from 1 January 2024 to 30 April 2026. The loan is
measured at FVTPL due to the amount of cash to be repaid
varies with the underlying performance of the associate.
(iv) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the following fair
value changes were recognised in profit or loss:

17

(b)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BOFEHARRNERNEE &)

BHRAFEFABRAENEREESR
BATRE: (&)

BEHERRE

B EMEIRE I AFEFABSAE
NIERBENR2023F 7 AFT LN ARER
BECHBBEENESN2EE  Zh&
1A TR & 89188 B 2R /% 20,000,000 8 7T °

F— & R 5 &5
R2024F1 A1 8 @ AEEE B LA F
FIVERBE B ASERE R 2024
F1A1HZE2026%4 8300 HI 1 #
15,000,000/ T fEIREE - LABLEE & A A)
TEEBHN—REBEESTEREES - A
REEBEZRcSHABBE QAR ZHEBER
RMEE  MZERIEAFEFABRTE -

RIBEEES LI
HE2024F 12 A31BIEFE L TAFE

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILEFEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥Tir ARKFT
Recognised in other gains, net: REMBRBEER -
Fair value gains on investment in a wealth B & ZE RIFE A FEKZ
management product 1,514 592
Fair value gains on investment in concerts ;RIS & 1% & A FE Wz 4,493 =
Fair value gains on debt instruments at ~ HAFEFABZNES T A
FVTPL N EE 441 -
Fair value gains on derivatives PTETARAFERZ 732 2,641
Fair value gains on investment in Hong & L MR AFEAERE A FEW S
Kong listed equity securities 230 -
7,410 3,233
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 17 ZAFEAAREHEMNEE )

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(h) Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the  (h) SRHZRAFEFABHFENSREER

following: (Continued) FELATRIE : (8)
(v)  Risk exposure and fair value measurements (v) BEHORLTFEFE
Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is ERAEEERRROERHNHEIL -
provided in note 3.1. For information about the methods and FHEEATERMABAERBZRNE R
assumptions used in determining fair value are set out in note REIFE3.3 -
3.3.
18 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18 HthERHEE
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Prepayment for software development A BETENFRIE 7,408 =
Prepayments for office premises (/) PR GFTTRR SRIE () - 50,421
Prepayment for leasehold improvement HEREENNIEA - 2,220

7,408 52,641

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, the balance represented prepayments for (i)  F2023F12A31H  #HEEEMNE LA

the purchase of office premises located in Kunshan. During the year, NGB NRIE RAFEE  WRAGHAETT
the construction of the office premises were completed and delivered to WRNTAER  WEFAME BERKER
the Group, which have been recorded in the buildings under property, THEF (MFEL12) -

plant and equipment (Note 12).
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

19

146

INVENTORIES 19 8
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR &Fir AREFT
Raw and packaging materials R R B B R 3,159 2,415
Finished goods BIRX oh 23,192 18,264
26,351 20,679
Less: provision for impairment OB ER S (197) (197)
26,154 20,482

The cost of inventories recognised as cost of goods sold
amounted to approximately RMB79,378,000 (2023:
RMB81,083,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the inventories exceeds the
net realisable value and was recorded in “cost of revenue” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The
provision for impairment of inventories recognised in cost of
revenue amounted to nil (2023: RMB197,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Movements of the provision for impairment of inventories is
follows:

BHE2024F 12831 R ILFE  HARARME
B m AR ANFER ALK AR 79,378,000
7T (20234 AR¥81,083,0007T) °

FEREEBEAAZRFENSHEGER
MERE Y AGEEEEERNEE
A By E2024F 12 A31AIEFE - R
HERAERNFERERRE ST (20234
AE®197,0007T) °

FERERBNESHERNT

Year ended 31 December

HE12RA31HLEFEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETFT

At the beginning of the year F 1) 197 =
Provision for impairment of inventories BERRHOFERERE

charged to profit or loss (Note 7) (Htat7) - 197
At the end of the year FR 197 197
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20 FILM AND TV PROGRAMME RIGHTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

20 RwiED B hRiE

Film and Film and

TV Programme TV Programme

rights under rights
production completed Total

B Erhmy BExR
WREMBARE FHREERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T AR TFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2023 ®20235%£1HA1H 89,602 - 89,602
Additions NE 49,110 - 49,110
Transfer upon completion R TTA B BE (61,029) 61,029 -
Recognised in cost of revenue R EEE K AR = (30,643) (30,643)
Exchange difference E X Z5E 218 = 218
At 31 December 2023 202312831 H 77,901 30,386 108,287
At 1 January 2024 ®20241HA1H 77,901 30,386 108,287
Additions NE 156,893 9,655 166,548
Transfer upon completion P FE AR B B (70,410) 70,410 =
Recognised in cost of revenue R EEE K AR - (110,451) (110,451)
Exchange difference P& =R 1,833 — 1,833
At 31 December 2024 720245 12A31H 166,217 - 166,217

As at 31 December 2023, the rights primarily represented the
production costs of remaining 6 episodes of J-Style Trip I/ (J&
50 2) not yet broadcasted, J-Style Trip I/l (JE#5:2 3) and Yue
Lai Yue Kuai Le (%23 441R%%). As at 31 December 2024, the
rights primarily represented the production costs of J-Style Trip
/1l (J&#% 52 3), which was substantially completed but not yet
broadcasted, and Jverse Concert (JVerse & 24 &), where the
production was still in progress.

Film and TV programme rights are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost of the Film and TV programme
rights under production includes all direct costs associated
with the production of Film and TV programme rights, and
are transferred to “Film and TV programme rights completed”
upon completion of production. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the applicable variable selling expense.

MR2023F 12 A31H  IREEZBIREHAFE L
WAL T 6%  [Fc3] K4
RAE R % | 1y BUYERK AN o 72024 4F 12 A 31
B REEXZE[AELI](BERETKE
MARIEL) K [IVerse B4 |(BHESUEES)
B RLVERR AN -

FARLE B AR R AR B R] B IR ERE T A
BUEE AR - BUFTR R B RER AR
RERUER G B REIRRR R P B B AR
FERUETRIERB AT e AR E B iRAE] -
AERFESAREGERTNMGEEE "
HEERAR A #IHER o
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

20 FILM AND TV PROGRAMME RIGHTS (cContinuea)

The directors assessed the net realisable amount of the Film
and TV programme rights as at each balance sheet date
in order to determine whether any impairment provision is
required. The net realisable amount is estimated by reference
to the advertising and other related income to be generated
from the broadcast of the Film and TV programme based on
confirmed order and/or letter of intent received by the Group
less cost of completion of the Film and TV programmes. Based
on the directors’ best estimate, as at 31 December 2023 and
2024, the Film and TV programme rights are profit generating

20 iREHNBMRE =)

EENEEEEABRASFNGRAAAR
IRAER R B3R R E - LHEER D FIEHEM
BERE - IEIRFET2RENFTAH A
RELHNESREMEBRA (ERAKHE
WEIHERFTER,HEBME) HTKTR
BT B MR AT - RIBESMREMRR
M20234F k2024512 H31 R - R & E
R R U A BB AR R SRR AR P EE A R A
RARERFEREBERENNREE
H itk - BEETRBERE -

with income exceeding related production cost, indicating that
the net realisable amount should exceed the carrying value of
the relevant rights. Accordingly, no provision for impairment
has been made.

21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 21 BENESMHEMTA
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FiT AREFor
Financial assets ST E
Financial assets — amortised cost SREE—HIHEKA
— Trade and other receivables —8 5 &k HE M KGRI 404,034 327,396
— Restricted bank deposits —ZBRHIRITIERK 3,841 28,167
— Cash and cash equivalents —-RehBEEEY 296,536 145,823
704,411 501,386
Financial assets — FVPL SREE - IRATEFABRE 73,990 28,554
778,401 529,940
Financial liabilities — amortised cost EMEE-HMEEE
— Trade and other payables (excluding — 85 RHEAMENKIEA
salaries and staff welfare payable and (TeRENFeRETRE
other taxes payable) FI DA R Eo b e B 18) 89,116 97,611
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 12,323 5,877
— Borrowings — &5 5,000 10,000
106,439 113,488
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FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 BHREMEBIKRIE
As at
31 December
As at 31 December 2024 2023
R 2023F
®2024%12R 318 12A31H
Current Non-current Total Current
pid )] FiE #t ik
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000

ARBFT ARBTT ARBFT AEXTT

Trade receivables (@)
- related parties
— third parties

Less: provision for

impairment of
trade receivables

Trade receivables — net

Other receivables

- Amounts due from related

parties

— Loan to third parties ()
- Amounts due from third

parties (c)
- Deposits

— Other receivables in respect
of the celebrity IP
management business (d)

- Staff advances

- Amount held in a licensed
financial institution

- Others

Less: provision for

impairment of
other receivables

Other receivables - net

Z SR )
Ly 56,543 = 56,543 1,750
-%= 255,482 = 255,482 177,627
312,025 = 312,025 179,377
W B ERERERE
(8,650) - (8,650) (3,635)
2 SRR 58 303,375 = 303,375 175,742
H eI R
—JEMR B R 5 308
10,952 = 10,952 6,132
-ERFEZHO) 36,313 5,168 41,481 -
—EWE=FHFE])
40,612 = 40,612 34,026
%% 4,900 = 4,900 26,080
-BREIPEBERABNER
FEUEE ()
2,301 = 2,301 12,048
—BI8% 1,618 = 1,618 =
~-RAEESBEBEREN
HIE - = = 73,859
—Eft 6 = 6 397
96,702 5,168 101,870 152,542
B E RN ERERE
(1,156) (55) (1,211) (888)
HibERFIE— 58 95,546 5,113 100,659 151,654
398,921 5,113 404,034 327,39
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 22 B RHEMBIRIE 2

(a) Trade receivables (a) BHEHRKREA
Trade receivables primarily arise from the Group’s new BB BETERBAEBEEHEET
retail business products directly sold to distributors and IP DEFNNETEERERRIPERER - &
management business. The normal credit period granted to FRZEREFHNEFEEH BN FLREWD
these customers are generally ranging from 5 to 90 days. X o

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based ESRBFBBERNK=ERB HNERR D
on revenue recognition date: T -

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TFiT ARETFT
Within 30 days 30HA 243,585 143,811
31-90 days 31HZ90H 15,812 25,688
91 -120 days 91HZ=120H 2,416 3,765
121 -365 days 121 H&E365H 23,028 4,018
Over 365 days 365 B E 27,184 2,095
312,025 179,377

AEEEAGILERBESHHEREERLE
O REMTEREEEBIREE - NEZE
2024 F 12 A31 AL FEE 5 EWKIBRE
BENSEHRMES IO EE -

The Group applied the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. Movements
in the provision for impairment of trade receivables during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated in O RWHRIENREEN NI EEEE :
the following currencies:

As at 31 December

®12A318
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TFT ARETT

RMB ARE 311,039 178,269
uss$ ETT - 709
TW$ Bl 986 399

312,025 179,377
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group entered into loan agreements with Zhejiang Ruxing
Brand Management Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Ruxing”), a limited
liability company incorporated in the PRC, in 2024. Pursuant
to the loan agreements, the Group agreed to provide Zhejiang
Ruxing with loans amounting to RMB 36,000,000 at interest
rate range from 3.10%-3.23%, and repayable in 2025. The
loan is secured by the shareholder of Zhejiang Ruxing.

On 20 January 2024, the Group lent RMB 5,000,000 to Beijing
Fuxing An’xin Cultural Development Company Limited, which
bears an interest at 3.45% per annum. The Group then agreed
to defer the maturity date to January 2026. Therefore, the loan
is treated as non-current assets as of 31 December 2024.

The amounts due from third parties primarily represented
receivables relating to products and services purchased by the
Group on behalf of other third parties for promotion of health
management products and skincare produces or for promotion
and production of Film and TV programme rights.

The amount primarily represented receivables of promotion
income on behalf of certain celebrities where the Group takes
an agency role in arranging the services delivered by these
celebrities in mainland China.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the carrying values of the
trade and other receivables approximated their fair values as at
the balance sheet date.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

22 BHRHEMEBIKRIE 2

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

AREBEWNTLERBERER QA (D
I EDFINERDZE T EA—RHR
204 FHEFREEMRINERET AR -
BREERDE  ASBERERINTZERME
B 3 A R#36,000,0007T © FENF3.10%
%£3.23%  WAR2025FEEIE - X E B
TR E 7 BRI ER -

R2024F1 208 AEBEREEARE
5,000,000t T REELZEXLERER
DA IRENRIAS%E B - KREBH %
RIEELTEEEHBE2026F1 A8 - At ©
2024F 1231 B ZERWRAERHE
Eo

EWE =T HATRHEAREERREM
FoFRERREEEMREE RN
HRENBEZ G B REMEEERR
AR 7% A R O FE W kIR o

ZHRBAITERASEEEREACLRES
THEETBEAMRERREERKRZEH
B W HR B FE W HE R LA -

MN2023FE R2024E 12 A31H B RE
thENREN EEEEEREEGERAB
HE A FERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 HILEE

23 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

23 AMARREEMKESEE

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FiT AR Fr
Prepayment to related parties ) [ Bt 75 T8 5 30IE 5,868 9,411
Prepayment to suppliers ) 4 FE P TR A SR IR 65,439 54,215
Value-added tax recoverable AU e Hy SR E R 5,347 3,008
76,654 66,634

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 24 B&RBITHE
As at 31 December

®12831H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FiT AREFor
Cash and deposits at banks Be MBITER 296,536 145,823
Restricted bank deposits ZRAIRITIER 3,841 28,167
300,377 173,990

The balance of restricted cash represented the security deposit

for issuance of notes payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 24 BeRBITHEER 2
Cash and banks balances (including restricted bank deposits) AEERIRS RIBTES (BIEZRGIRT
of the Group are denominated in the following currencies: ER) AT EBEE :

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

RMB AR 124,737 100,807
HK$ BT 174,463 69,955
us$ = 777 1,305
TW$ = 397 1,923
EUR BT 8 -

300,377 173,990
The carrying amounts of cash on hand and at banks FHERRTHESHEMEREATEES -

approximated their fair values.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign LAARBEEHE R 4 85 510 B INE K & 1
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of b () A B 78 38 <7 AR B BSAT A8 4 #Y 4B R N BE
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign BB A KRR -

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 HILEE

25 SHARE CAPITAL 25 B&&E
Number  Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary Share Share
shares shares capital premium Total
EERHE EEREE K& BinaE it
us$ RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
E AREFT AREFT ANREFT
Authorised: BE
At 31 December 2023 R2023ER
and 2024 2024128318 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued: BB
At 1 January 2023 ®2023F1A1H 542,914,624 5,429 38 175,887 175,925
Capitalisation issuance BELBT 178,445 376 1,784 13 (13) =
Global offering 2ERE 80,527,500 805 6 288,701 288,707
Upon completion of REBBHETHEF
Global offering 801,887,500 8,018 57 464,575 464,632
Dividends paid EftRE - - - (54,029) (54,029)
At 31 December 2023 2023 12A31H 801,887,500 8,018 57 410,546 410,603
At 1 January 2024 ®2024%1818 801,887,500 8,018 57 410,546 410,603
Placing of new shares (a) flE i (a) 31,451,000 315 2 201,908 201,910
At 31 December 2024 ®2024F12A318 833,338,500 8,333 59 612,454 612,513

(a)

154

On 2 May 2024, 31,451,000 ordinary shares were issued
by the Company for aggregate net proceeds totalling
HK$222,100,000 (equivalent to RMB201,910,000). All newly
issued ordinary shares are ranked pari passu with the existing

ordinary shares in all aspects.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

(a) Mm20245F5H2H
31,451,000 A% & 5@ AL - B

AR R OA) BT
==

1= K

HFEA

#/3222,100,0008 T (HERXARK
201,910,0007T) ° FAEFEITE BRI AAE
THERBERRFEARFHA -
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FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

26 SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 26 BRIDERBER M

Share-

based  Currency

Share Capital ~ Treasury  Statutory  payment translation
premium  reserves stocks  reserves  reserves  reserves Total

Bkt HWRE
BRDARR BHRHE BEER TERG ik ok it
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARE  ARE AREE ARE ARE ARE AEK
F Fr FT Fr F F F

() @) (Note 27) (b)
(Hiz27)

Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023FE1A1AZER 175887 (6,000) (158,180) 14,498 7,624 (486) 33,343
Capitalisation issuance BALEST (13) - - - - - (13)
Issuance of ordinary shares upon RERBERBTLBR

global offering 288,701 - - - - - 288,701
Derecognition of financial instrument % |17 72 Ff 75 88 [0 #E 71| )

with redemption rights ERIA - 8,663 158,180 - - - 166,843
Currency translation differences EEmnEzE = = = = - 13578 13578
Dividends declared and paid by the A2 R E R IR EIIRLE.

Company (Note 33) (H17#33) (54,029) - - - - - (54,029)
Share-based payments (Note 27) ARG AERNER

(B1i£27) - - - - 1,058 - 1,058
Appropriation to statutory reserves  EEZET A = = - 102% = - 10,2%
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F12B31AZ&ER 410546 2,663 - 24,754 8,682 13092 459,737
Balance at 1 January 2024 R2024F 1R 1Rz 410,546 2,663 - 4,754 8682 13,092 459,737
Placing of new shares (Note 25(2)) ~ BEEHR (Wi£25(2)) 201,908 - - - - - 201,908
Currency translation differences ERBEZES - - - = - 11,158 11,158
Share-based payments (Note 27) ARG AERNER
(Bi227) = - - - 364 - 364

Appropriation to statutory reserves  EEZATRE - - = 4,992 = = 4,992
Balance at 31 Decemher 2024 RNXE12AINBZRE 612454 2663 - 29746 9046 24250 678,159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

26 SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (continued)

156

(a)

(b)

(c)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of
the PRC, when distributing the net profit of each year,
the subsidiaries in the PRC shall appropriate 10% of
its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated
losses from prior years) to the statutory reserve fund. The
subsidiaries in the PRC may cease appropriation when
the accumulated balance of the statutory surplus reserve
equal to or more than 50% of the registered capital.
Certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC have met
the criteria and ceased to make appropriation.

Statutory reserve can be used to make up the loss or
increase the paid-in capital after approval from the
appropriate authorities.

Foreign currency translation reserve represented the
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of companies within the Group that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency of RMB for the financial statements of the
Group.

As part of the Group reorganisation process for the
preparation of the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the Company acquired interests in certain
subsidiaries from its shareholders. The difference
between the considerations paid and the net book value
of these subsidiaries were recorded by the Company as
capital reserves.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

26 BRI BRIEFR IR 2

(a)

(b)

(c)

REFBREBERELERORE - D
& FREMMNE  RETBXE M
BRAPBEFNRFBERRE  FE
BB R A FE IR ERE R AT 1S TR A A
M 10%ERETERMEER - BIAT AR
R B EHRENNEEEMELRD
50% - 1 B BfY B8 X B AT LA IR B A o
AEERFENETHEBRARCDNE
BRRE  WEE IR -

ERSTEEREMRER EEFMBAR
RBAEBRIENMEHER -

SR BHEEREAKEE T AR
MPBRREEENEE  ZFQ0
MINRE BB B RN AN KB B HmKR
2IEBARE -

ERERARABRNINREBEHARS
PIERARER EHHEEEHRBIR
M—#0  ARAIBEEBRRERES
THEBRARER SR EERZEH
BAAKEFEZFENERAARA
ERENFEEAR -
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27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The share-based compensation expenses recognised are as
follows:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

27 LIB& {3 & EREH 3K

ERERARNAEROMERAWT

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2024 2023

2024 2023 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR &Fir AREFT

Share options BB AR 364 1,058

In 2020, the Company adopted a 2020 share incentive plan (the
“2020 Plan”), which allows selected employees, directors of
the Company, and consultants with certain vesting conditions
being fulfilled, to acquire ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to options granted. The maximum number of ordinary
shares that subject to the awards granted under the 2020 Plan
was 25,000,000 (to be adjusted to 33,217,009 shares upon
the capitalisation issue in 2023). On 3 August 2020 and 16
November 2020, the Group granted 24,800,000 and 200,000
share options under the 2020 Plan to certain employees, a
director, and certain consultants of the Group. The exercise
price of all options granted was HK$1.9 per share. The
options granted would vest in equal annual installments over
a four-year period or upon an earlier change in control of the
Company. The expiration date is 10 years after the grant date.

2020 4F AR AR 492020 & A% 17 E B
T8 ([2020F518l)) AT HFEBETHRE
BHENEHRES ARAEEREMR
BEEENBERERBEAQGLTER R
2020 F &R RN EBREAEE A
25,000,000 % (i 7 2023 £ & AN (L #1714
¥ /533,217,0090%) - K202068 A3H &
2020 11 A 16 B » A&EE R IE 2020 F 51 &
SRHRAAEEETREE  —ZEERATHE
8 #% F 24,800,000 17 K 200,000 17 & A% # o
FrEERBERENTEERTIRIIBT -
RYRERESENFHRNNKERRD T E
RS PR AE S NSENEE S BN
RAHRET - ZHHEARTEHBHENI0F -
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HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27 LIRS ERBFR 2
The following table summarises information with respect to TRBA AN 20234 22024 F 12 A31
share options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 ARRITHEERENER RINEFHITE
and the weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”). B (T IEFIITEE]) -
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
20245 12A31H 2023412 A31H
Number WAEP Number WAEP
miEFy MEFH
®A 7| g 17168
Outstanding at opening RENHBRR
and ending RERMARITE 33,017,509 HK$1.43#T 33,017,509 HK$1.43% T
Exercisable at end of the year RERAITHE 33,017,509 NARER 32902287 N/AT@EME
The fair value of share options on the grant dates, being 3 EREREN B (BP2020F8 A3H &
August 2020 and 16 November 2020 were determined by an 2020 11 A 16 H) A FE TR INE B L
external independent valuer using Binomial Option Pricing HEMBE BN EEENETE - 218
Model. The significant inputs into the model are listed below: AR E KN ABURYTRAAT ¢
Granted on
3 August 16 November
2020 2020
»®
2020 %
2020 11A16H
8A3H =H
Expected volatility TEH R & & 42.86% 42.86%
Risk-free interest rate A2 a2 o A1) =R 0.241% 0.241%
Forfeiture rate R U= 27% 27%
Dividend yield e B =R 0.00% 0.00%
Exercise price I E HK$1.97 7T HK$1.978 7T
The exercise price of all options granted was HK$1.9 per share FEEREERENTEERATRIIET
(to be adjusted to HK$1.43 per share after the capitalisation (BR2023F BRI BITHRAREZZR1.43
issue in 2023). BIT) ©
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28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

28 B 5K Rt FE RN

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR TT

Trade payables (a)
— related parties
— third parties

Notes payables

Other payables

— Amount due to related parties

— Payable relating to celebrity IP
management business

— Other taxes payables

— Deposits from customers

— Salaries and staff welfare payable

— Accrued expenses

— Payable for investment in Fuzhou Concert

— Others

E B EMNRIHE )
—RBAE 3,112 3,993
—E=% 20,065 10,090
23,177 14,083
JE A Z 4% 3,841 28,167
H A JE < 08
— JEA BRI 5 FOA 15,242 22,232
—EHPREIPEREK
&~ 38 19,870 19,414
—H A FHIE 30,853 15,383
—-BPER® 19,748 3,908
—ENHFE B TEF 10,778 4,683
—JEERI 6,448 3,981
—ENENERSRERIE = 3,598
—EAfh 790 2,228
103,729 75,427
130,747 117,677
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 28 BHRAEMEMRE 2

(a) Ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date at ~ (a) REHREBHHERE AR BEAHNE S
the end of each reporting dates is as follows: T RARER DT ¢

As at 31 December

®12H318
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARTFiT AREFr
0-60 days 0% 60H 19,844 10,938
60-120 days 60% 120 A 1,307 1,027
121-365 days 121%365H 789 1,330
Over 365 days 365 A LA I 1,237 788
23,177 14,083

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables  (h) AEBZE S K EMENRENEEEMNT

were denominated in the following currencies: HIEEEETHE -
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ABRBFIT AERETFr
RMB AR 108,786 84,259
HK$ BT 20,416 32,868
TW$ B 1,545 550
130,747 117,677

(c) As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the carrying amounts of
the trade and other payables of the Group approximated their

fair values.
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FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

29 BORROWINGS 29 &=
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥FT AREFT
Non-current 3E i B
Non-current portion of a long-term bank RARITIERBIIEREIE S
borrowings, secured BER - 5,000
Current E
Current portion of a long-term bank RHEBIRITIE A % ¢
borrowings, secured BER 5,000 5,000
Total borrowing EReE 5,000 10,000

On 5 January 2021, the Group entered into a 5-year mortgage
loan agreement with The Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd., Suzhou
branch for the purchase of office premises and staff quarters.
The mortgage loan bears a fixed interest rate at 5.70% per
annum, repayable by monthly installments until 5 January
2026, and secured against the office premises and staff
quarters (Note 18).

The amounts of repayment instalments of the mortgage loan
are as follows:

R2021F1A5H - AEEE FERTRND
BRRBEMDTTRIALS FEIZBE R
NBERNENERETIES - REERR

Bl E FHE570%:T 8

ARADSHEER

HE2026F1A5H WA AREMENRE

TEEEER(HFELL) -

BRER D HERS R

T

As at 31 December
®12A31H

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFiT AREFr
Within 1 year 1FR 5,000 5,000
1 year to 2 years 1Z24 - 5,000
5,000 10,000
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HE2024F12A31 BILFE

30

162

LEASE LIABILITIES

30 HEARK

As at 31 December
®12A31H

2024 2023

2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARK¥TFT AR TT

Lease liabilities HE&EE
— Current —BNER
— Non-current —3ERNER

The Group leases office premises for its operations and lease
liabilities were measured at the net present value of the lease
payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid. The
respective right of use assets were recognised and disclosed in
Note 13 above.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

5,069 3,704
7,254 2,173
12,323 5,877
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FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

30 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 30 HE&AER @
The amounts of expenses recognised in the consolidated FRe2ERERTIHREERRANAI 2
statement of comprehensive income in respect of leases are set BHHINWT -
out below:

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Depreciation charge of right-of use assets  FREEENITEER

(Note 13) (Htet13)

— Selling and marketing expenses —HEREHAX - 115
— General and administrative expenses ——REITHEEX 5,544 3,988

5,544 4,103
Interest expense (included in finance costs) F|.BF X (Gt AR E K AR)

(Note 9) (K1et9) 394 522
Short-term lease expenditure for office WAEWME  BEMRHED

premises, dormitories and equipment RNEREXE (HiE7)

(Note 7) 3,698 3,469
Cash outflow for lease payments HENZNEE R 7,206 20,470
Cash outflow for short-term lease MEEERER 3,698 3,469

10,904 23,939
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31 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract
liabilities:

31

aBAR
REERER THI RS ERN S DA -

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR&Fir ARETFT
Current liabilities aaR
Sale of goods HEEm 56,264 25,464
Provision of IP creation and IR IPEIE & & B R
operation service 16,502 7,683
72,766 33,147
(a) Significant changes in contract liabilities (a) AMARMHEXER
Contract liabilities of the Group refer to the payments made by AEBHNEHNBEREEPIEROMNR - miE
customers while the underlying goods or services are yet to be BEmIREERER - GHAERIEMNTY
provided. The increase in the contract liabilities is resulted from RS E R B AL INFTER ©
the increase in sales orders.
(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liahilities (h) FREVARAEZHEE
The following table shows the revenue recognised during the TRBTHZE2023F k202412 H31H

years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities.

HFEERANKSREESORERRR -

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTT ARETFT
Revenue recognised that was included in the E 415t A& 4 & (& 456880
contract liabilities balance at the beginning 2 FER U #5
of the year
— Sale of goods —HEER 25,403 24 414
— Provision of IP creation and operation —RRHIPAIE K& ERS
service 6,124 6,444
31,527 30,858
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31
(c)

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from long-term licensing contracts:

31
(c)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

aeaR =

EEBITHREH®RHE
TEREFERBHFAIANEZRETHNREY
5%

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2024 2023
2024 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Aggregate amount of the transaction price DBl FE D RKBITREZ A& 4

allocated to long-term licensing contracts MR FERTE
that are partially unsatisfied

The Group selected to choose a practical expedient and
omitted disclosure of remaining performance obligations as all
other related contracts have a duration of one year or less.

Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain a
contract
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there

was no significant incremental costs to obtain a contract.

(d)

14,349 16,274

HRAEEMAESOMHIRA —FHAT
AEBEEEBEHEIENE  LEREE
RMpBEOET -

HEMSWRELRERFHIENRE

B E£2023F k202412 A31H LFE -
REFSEOTHLEEEERA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as

follows:

32 BEEFMRR

ELERBREERBEITAT

As at 31 December

®12831H

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FiT AREFr

Deferred income tax assets: BEMMSHREE :
— to be recovered within 12 months —R121E A Rk E 6,482 11,526
— 1o be recovered after 12 months —R121E A& YK 5,530 556
12,012 12,082
Net off against deferred tax liabilities BURER A 8 E R (3,746) (1,518)
8,266 10,564

Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFTISRBE
— to be recovered within 12 months —R12ME A Rk E 1,669 918
— to be recovered after 12 months —R121E A& UG 2,077 600
3,746 1,518
Net off against deferred income tax assets ~ ERIE JE A7 15 51 & 2= 4K 4 (3,746) (1,518)
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the year is

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

32 BRERBR®
EREEFHEREESSHNT -

as follows:
Provision for Unused tax Lease
impairment losses (a) liabilities Others Total
*BBARE
i (E 2 R -16)] HEAR Hith o 3]
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ANREFT
As at 1 January 2023 ®2023F181H 3,657 477 460 - 4,594
Credited to the consolidated ~ R4RA2EMWER R
statement of comprehensive  &FA
income 552 6,601 335 - 7,488
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12R31H 4,209 7,078 795 - 12,082
As at 1 January 2024 ®2024%181H 4,209 1,078 795 - 12,082
Credited to the consolidated ~ RE&FAZEMEEA
statement of comprehensive A
income 1,212 (3,322) 1,731 228 (151)
Exchange difference EHESE - - 81 - 81
As at 31 December 2024 20245 12R318 5,421 3,756 2,607 228 12,012
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HE2024F12A31 BILFE

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

168

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year

32 REEFRFR (2)
FRELHEHABNEHIBSINT

is as follows:
Right-of-use
assets FVTPL Total
BRAFE
EHRESEE RARS et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR FT AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 408 - 408
Charged to the consolidated RErE2AEBERNR
statement of comprehensive
income 450 660 1,110
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31H 858 660 1,518
As at 1 January 2024 202418 1H 858 660 1,518
Charged to the consolidated RizE 2E KR E RN
statement of comprehensive
income 2,041 183 2,224
Exchange difference PE 3 =5 4 - 4
As at 31 December 2024 20245 12A31H 2,903 843 3,746
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(a)

Deferred income tax assets were recognised for tax losses
carry-forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefits through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31
December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets on tax losses amounting to RMB 68,764,000 (2023:
RMB 26,915,000), due to the unpredictability of the amount
of future assessable profit that can be utilised to offset the tax
losses.

The expiry year of the deductible tax losses that are not
recognised for deferred income tax assets is analysed below:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

32 EEMRBR 2

(a) ETEFBHEER T AL R K ERB%
MERBERKNENOBERT  BRAHK
BB - PA2024F 12831 H > AR AT A
RIEEHIBE RN A RERTENSEHT
A FE B - A 5 [ 3 £ 5t A R #6 68,764,000
5t (20234 : A R #26,915,0007T) &) %18
BRERREFRESHEE -

RBUEE P15 B & B HE SR B AT H B B 1R Y
AHMEDLoFMT

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AEETFT

PRC subsidiaries BB A R
2024 2024 F
2025 2025
2026 2026 F
2027 2027 &
2028 2028 F
2029 2029 F
Hong Kong subsidiaries BEABMEB A A
Indefinite 12 PR B

The loss incurred by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries can be
carried forward for a period of five years, while the loss incurred
by the subsidiaries in Hong Kong can be carried forward
perpetually.

N/A 1,522
4,599 4,599
1,475 2,189
2,053 2,053
8,277 8,968

36,686 =
15,674 7,584
68,764 26,915

AEBOWPENBARMESL Z BB &
BRE  MEBHBARMESE ZEBERX
AREHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

32
(b)

33

170

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax liabilities of RMB 36,273,000 (2023: RMB
29,366,000) in respect of the withholding income tax on the
unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
derived on or after 1 January 2008 totalling RMB 362,729,000
(2023: RMB 293,661,000). No provision for withholding tax
has been made as the directors have confirmed that the Group
is able to control remittance of such earnings and there is no
intention to make any distribution by the subsidiaries in the
PRC.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

Pursuant to a resolution passed in the shareholders’ meeting
of the Company on 13 June 2023, special dividends
of HK$60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB
54,029,000) were declared through reduction of the share
premium account.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

32
(b)

33

ESEFRRIR &)

MN2024% 128310 REBY KA E
RABEZHEBARRKR20084F1 A1H:k
THRESZRBBRZEMRERA &
AR #362,729,0007C (20234F : AR
293,661,000 7T ) RIEEFTEH B EARE
36,273,000 7t (20234 : A K # 29,366,000
U)o A E BT MR AL M 4L S5 518

K » BB AE TR R

R
EFgTEARMNEE2024F12A31H 1k
FEHRERR B (2023 : ) -

BIBEN2023F6 A BB ERRAIREARS
BBRORFER - AR BEER DB & B R
5K Bl % 260,000,000 7% 7T (HEE R KA
R #54,029,0007T) °



34

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 34 eI TERME

FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated  (a) PBRETSHHANGEF HELHMBIRS AL -

from operations:

Year ended 31 December

BEN2ANBLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000

ABBFT AEETFT

Profit before income tax

R B 1585 A A 86,818 66,858

Adjustments for: HATSBELAR
— Finance income (Note 9) — B (f1i#9) (4,231) (3,590)
- Fair value changes in financial assets at FVPL —BAFEFABRNEREEN

(Note 6) NEEEE (f/i26) (7,410) (3,233)
— Finance costs (Note 9) — IR A (f1i#9) 837 1,249
— Income from wealth management products (Note 6) —¥ 81 & @ A (#1i#6) (4,116) (1,363)
~ Interest income on loan receivables (Note 6) —EWERFBWA (f1iF6) (452) -
— Share of loss of investments accounted for using the — 51 FI#E 255 A BRI S B9 18

equity method (Note 16) (Bt 16) 3 -
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -WE BERSENTE

(Note 12) (Bia£12) 8,177 5,460
- Depreciation of investment properties (Note 14) ~ —#REWERE (HfiF14) 1,429 =
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) —(FREEENITE (WiZ13) 5,544 4103
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) BN EENSEEWZ15) 4,505 1,191
— Net impairment losses on inventories (Note 19)  —TFERREBBEE (#1:219) - 197
— Net impairment losses on financial assets —SREENRESRTE

(Note 3.1(b)) (f1:£3.1(b)) 5,338 3,192
— Share-based payments (Note 27) — AR BEBRKR (A 7E27) 364 1,058
- Losses/(gains) on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ —HEFREEERRE, (WF) 428 (©)
— Losses on disposal of investment in associate —-HERBERANEEEE 4 -
— Exchange (gain)/loss - net —EX (k) /BE-FE 810 (1,479)

Operating cash flows before changes in
working capital

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories

— Film and TV programme rights

— Trade and other receivables

— Prepayments and other current assets

— Trade and other payables

— Contract liabilities

— Restricted cash

Cash used in operations

2EESEPRLEHELRE

98,048 73,640
BEALEH
-F& (5,672) 8,149
—RALE B R iE (56,097) (18,685)
—EB5 R EMRERFR (126,406) (182,619)
~BNRERA A AR (9,736) (12,486)
—ESREMENTR 18,843 48,132
—aHaE 39,619 1,724
-XRHRE 24,326 (28,167)
REXBRARSE (17,075) (110,308)
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HZE2024F 12 A31 HILEE

34 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

(b)

(c)

172

FLOWS (continued)

Non-cash financing activities

34 FERERERBE 2

(b) FHREMRED

Year ended 31 December
#EX12A31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFiT AREFor
Financial instrument with redemption rights i &5 r] BRI R N E R T A - (182,796)
Additions to right-of-use assets (Note 13) FEREEENE (HiF13) (13,541) (8,850)
(13,541) (191,646)
Reconciliation of liabilities generated from financing (c) MEFTBRELABHYIER
activities
Financial
liability for
redemption Lease
Borrowings rights liahilities Total
A fEE
EFmem
& afE HERAR @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ANREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Net debt as at 1 January 2023 R2023F 11 B FHER 15,000 178,654 2,092 195,746
Cash flows RERE (5,727) - (5,470) (11,197)
Non-cash changes EiSR ) - (182,796) - (182,796)
Additions of leases HEARE - = 8,850 8,350
Leases modification HEEN = = (117) (117)
Interest accrual FEEHF B 727 = 522 1,249
Exchange differences fEHER - 4,142 = 4,142
As of 31 December 2023 BZ2023F 128318 10,000 - 5,877 15,877
Net debt as at 1 January 2024 R2024F 1R 1 BRFER 10,000 = 5,877 15,877
Cash flows Rang (5,443) - (7,206) (12,649)
Additions of leases HERE - - 13,541 13,541
Leases modification HEB® - - (307) (307)
Interest accrual e FI & 443 = 394 837
Exchange differences N EH - - 24 24
As of 31 December 2024 HE2024%12A31H 5,000 - 12,323 17,323
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36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENCIES

As of 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control, common
significant influence or joint control.

As mentioned in note 1, the Company is jointly controlled
by the controlling shareholders, being Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting,
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung, Ms. Yeh Hui-Mei and Mr. Chen,
Chung, who are acting in concert pursuant to a concert party
agreement. Each of the controlling shareholders, members of
key management and their close family members, including
companies controlled by them or they can exercise significant
influence, are considered as related parties of the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, the related party transactions
were carried out in normal course of business and at terms
negotiated between the Group and the respective related
parties.

35

36

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

BRAREH

B E2023F k2024512310 - A& H
WEEAERKAEE -

RBEH X5
W—BRENERKEERES S~ HE
EHM R EERR T EREH S —H1TE
BERFEN  METRAREHT - HET
EARES  KRBAFEHBSES - 75
AR DA T o

AN LPT A - AR R B ERARER (AN
DERE - BIREEE  BEEEZRERERSP
) KEES WEREBE-BITHALH
EBITE  BEBRBR TEEEKER
HIREEKE (BB EEHRAITE
BERFENNRTE) HRA BN E R
5 o

EEZRR BBROIRZIRERERKERES
RN B R AR T R o RBUETT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 RABAERED 2

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HEEMAHES
The following is a summary of the significant transactions HE2024F12A31BEFE L TAERE
carried out between the Group and its related parties during BEEEE A CEETHNEARINBE -

the year ended 31 December 2024.

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AEETT

With a company controlled by shareholders:  ER A& R #252 l #) A 7] -

Service fee Ri% & 4,214 8,502
Licensing fee A B 2,061 2,887
Sales of goods HEEMm 173 85
Lease payment or payable MENFKKENHEENK 580 345
With non-controlling shareholders of EA B 8 R RO FEIE AR AR R -
subsidiaries:
Agent services income IR AR S U A 2,051 1,630
Service fee Ri% & 5,636 2,328
Amount received on behalf of R BB 75 WER B0 F0IB
a related party 10,973 18,023
Rental income e A 974 =
Lease payment or payable HEMRFEMNHEENK - 15,000
With an associate of the Group: HAEEBE AR :
Render of services R AR 49,057 =
Loan to a related party BT 2@ 12,043 =
Interest on loan receivables FEE T E 441 =
Sales of goods HEEMm 7 =
Amount paid on behalf of a related party REBE SN 12 18
(b) Key management compensation (h) EEEBRBFHFHN
Key management represented directors (executive and FEEEEEEE (FITRIERTT) 1T
non-executive), members of the Executive Committee and ZEEHENEIHMEE - hEBERS
respective department heads. The compensation paid or FENTETEEEENFTMAT
payable to key management for employee services is shown
below:

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%FT ARET T

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e EAREMET 11,503 7,026
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

37 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 FLTE MBI FRME
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
it AR®FTT ARETFT
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRARNIEE 40,569 36,895
Current assets ) E E
Prepayments and other TERTFRIE R AR B & E
current assets 2,902 7,565
Film and TV programme rights AR EN B iR 12,923 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UK B B8~ B 3R IE 423,656 295,106
Financial assets at fair value through & AFEFTABRZO S REE
profit or loss 57,937 18,716
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIREEEY 80,613 64,635
578,031 386,022
Total assets SEHRE 618,600 422917
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAR
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ E QR A AEEES
Company
Share capital A& A< 25 59 57
Share premium and reserves R& 19 %R B M & (a) 681,657 464,236
Accumulated losses ZEHEE (b) (69,630) (72,044)
Total equity BaRE 612,086 392,249
LIABILITIES &)
Current liabilities mEEfE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAST I B A B F0E 5,858 30,313
Trade and other payables g5 R HEMEMNRIE 656 355
Total liabilities & EmE 6,514 30,668
Total equity and liabilities BERABERS 618,600 422917
The statement of financial position of the Company was ARE RN KER2025F3 A31 HE
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and EEgE TR TIESERRESE:
were signed on its behalf by
Qian, Sam Zhongshan Lai, Kwok Fai Franki
gl EEE
Director Director
EZE EF
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37 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

(a)

176

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

37

FLOFIMBRRARME 2

Reserves of the Company () FLFHIEE
Share-hased Currency
Share Capital Treasury payment translation
Premium reserves stocks reserves reserves Total
Bfaxft R%RE
BiVRE  EFHE E#RK -1 -1 - h
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANERBTFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(Note 26) (Note 27)
(Hr##26) (Hrzt27)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023E1 R 1 iR 175,887 23,667 (158,180) 7,624 (969) 48,029
Share-based payments PARL BER A = = = 1,058 = 1,058
Capitalisation issuance BRLRET (13) - - - - (13)
Currency translation differences &H#HEZR = = = = 13,647 13,647
Issuance of ordinary shares upon  IR2IRBEE L BT L @M
global offering 288,701 - - - - 288,701
Derecognition of financial R RN A E R R
instrument with redemption SEIA
rights - 8,663 158,180 - - 166,843
Dividends declared and paid ADAERRIKTRRE
by the Company (54,029) - = = - (54,029)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31 Rz &R 410,546 32,330 - 8,682 12,678 464,236
Balance at 1 January 2024 R2024E1 R 1 Bz 410,546 32,330 - 8,682 12,678 464,236
Share-based payments MR BERMTR - - - 364 - 364
Placing of new shares BREHR (H525()
(Note 25(a)) 201,908 - - - - 201,908
Currency translation differences E#HhE =% - - - = 15,149 15,149
Balance at 31 Decemher 2024  R20245F 12 A 31 AR 612,454 32,330 - 9,046 21,821 681,657
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(b)

38

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Accumulated losses

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

37 FLOFMBRRARME 2

(b) ReEtHiR

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TFIT AR T T

At the beginning of the year F£9

Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (BR)
At the end of the year F£X
SUBSIDIARIES

The table below lists out the subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 December 2024:

(72,044) (39,137)
2,414 (32,907)
(69,630) (72,044)

38 MEAT
R2024F 12 A31 H 2 AR A M B R AE R
TR

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FREARENENER
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
NGES ) S A G TERBRETNE R12A318
2024 2023
2024 2023
Directly held:
HERE:
Star Plus Development Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 IP planning, management and 100% 100%
licensing at the offshore
level, Hong Kong (“HK")
EEXEIRBRERAA RERNES IE IPRE ERRERE BB
([&E])HI
Star Plus Action (HK) Limited HK HK$1 Investment holdings, HK 100% 100%
BR8N (BE) BERAR B 1T RERR  BF
Star Plus Entertainment (HK) Limited HK HK$1 IP planning, management and 100% 100%
music production, HK
EEXEIRE (BE)ERAA BE BT IP3RE| BEERELEME
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HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MEBATE =)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T EREE FERBREENG R12A318
2024 2023
20244 203F
Star Plus J Movie (HK) Limited HK HK$1 [P planning, management and 100% 100%
music production, HK
ERARTE (BE)ERAR BE AT IPRE| ERREHEEE
BE
Secret Music (HK) Limited® HK HK$100 [P planning, management and 50% 50%
music production, HK
WEEL(FR)ERARD BE 10047 IPRE ERRESLEE
B8
Star Plus Creative Cultural Company Taiwan TW$20,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% 100%
Limited® Taiwan
ERRIERAFRARD = 220,000,000 PRIEREE A&
Indirectly held:
MERS:
Star Plus IP (HK) Limited HK HK$1 IP licensing, HK 100% 100%
EEXEIB# (BE)ERAR BE AT IPEFAT - &
Talent Planet (HK) Limited HK HK$10,000 Planning of online programmes 70% 70%
and concerts, HK
REEREEBRAG BE 10,0005 7T BRIHAREEERS
BE
Star Plus Domain Limited® British Virgin Islands ~ US$1,000,000 Investment holdings, HK 40% N/A
Star Plus Domain Limited® ABRAHE 1,000,000% ¢ REZR A% TEA
Star Plus Domain (HK) Limited® HK HK$1,000,000 Digital and Al content 40% N/A
production
EETE(FE)BERARD BE 1,000,0007% 7 HTEATERARRE @R
Talent ace (HK) Limited® HK HK$10,000 Planning of online programmes 45.4% N/A
and concerts, HK
RE—m(FR)ERARD BE 10,000 T KIHEREEERS @R
BE
Star Odyssey Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holdings, HK 100% N/A
EREEAR AT KBRS 10,000% T RERK - BE @R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38 MEAT @
Effective equity interest
held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T 1S FERRREENG R12A31A
2024 2023
2024 % 203F
Star Odyssey (HK) Limited HK HK$10,000 [P planning, management and 100% N/A
music production, HK
ERER (FR)BRAA BE 10,0007 7T IPRE| BB RELEE TER
BE
Star Jverse (HK) Limited HK HK$10,000 [P planning, management and 100% N/A
music production, HK
Star Jverse (HK) Limited B 10,0008 7T IPRE| BB RELEE TEm
BE
Star Trace (HK) Limited HK HK$10,000 [P planning, management and 100% N/A
music production, HK
EM(BE)ERAR BE 10,0007% ¢ IPHE  EERILEE TER
Beijing Secret Music Cultural Development  The PRC RMB10,000,000 Inactive, the PRC 50% 50%
Company Limited®®
TRME LU ERBR AR HE AR%10,000000c AER HE
Kunshan Secret Music Cultural The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP planning, management and 50% 50%
Development Company Limited offline music performance,
the PRC
BLBmEE L BERER R RO HE AR®10000000  IPRE EERETEL
FE B
Beijing Star Plus Legend Cultural The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% 100%
Development Company Limited® the PRC
TREREFLBERERAAY HE AR¥100000007C  IPEIEREE  +E
Beijing Star Plus Action E-Commerce The PRC RMB10,000,000 Investment holdings, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
TREENTHETHBERAA0 HE AR%10,000000c REZR  FH
Kunshan Star Plus Action E-Commerce The PRC RMB100,000,000 Product development, 100% 100%
Company Limited © customer service and order

fulfilment for new retail
business, the PRC

BILEENHEFHBEARARY HE AR®100,000000t #HEREBMERFE -
X% R ERET -
i
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HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

38 MEAT @)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FEAREHERES
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
NTEL S A S b B MRS TERBRETNE R12A318
2024 2023
20245 2023
Talent Planet (Kunshan) Limited” The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP planning, management, 10% 70%
the PRC
BILRBENR U EEERARO HE AR#10,000000c IPRE - EE - B
Talent Planet (Hangzhou) Limited” The PRC RMB3,000,000 IP planning, management, 10% 70%
the PRC
MMNKEEN UL BREAR AR HE AR3000000T  IPRE BB HE
Star Plus IP (Shanghai) Creative Cultural ~ The PRC RMB500,000 IP licensing, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
LEREIREAEULER AR HE AR#500,0007T IPETH - R E
Kunshan JST Two Management Centre The PRC RMB1,000,000 Inactive, the PRC N/A 95%
(Limited Partnership)”
BILARGEEERL(ERER)O HE AR®1,000000c  MER HE RER
Star Plus Cultural (Kunshan) Investment ~ The PRC RMB2,000,000 IP planning, management and 100% 100%
Company Limited® licensing at the onshore
level, the PRC
EEXEI(RIL)REBRRAF HE ARE20000007c  IPRE - EERAA FH
BA
Star Plus JST Cultural Development The PRC RMB10,000,000 Inactive, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
EEIRE (R XLERBERARO HE AR®10,000000 FER - HE
Hangzhou Star Plus Excellence The PRC RMB10,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited @ the PRC
MMEEIEBESTHBERARO HE AR®10,000000 BERHER HH
Star Plus Aiyou (Kunshan) E-Commerce The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
ERER(BL)ETHBERARO HE AR®5000000 BERHER BH
Star Plus Entertainment (Kunshan) The PRC RMB1,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
ERIB(BIL) RERAR HE AR10000007T  IPEIEREE S
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38 MEAT @
Effective equity interest
held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
NEL A B EREE FERBREENG R12A318
2024 2023
20244 203F
Star Plus Excellence (Kunshan) The PRC RMB1,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
ERIBE (B EFEBERAAO HE AR¥1000000 HMERZER HE
Star Plus IP (Kunshan) Creative Cultural The PRC RMB1,000,000 IP licensing, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
BEIBE(BIL)BIZXULERARD HE AR#1,0000007c  IPEFA] - ARE
Beijing Star Plus Master Cultural The PRC RMB3,000,000 Planning of television, online 10% 70%
Communication Company Limited” programmes and concerts,
the PRC
ERERRELERERAAY HE AR#3000000c ER - HLEEHREEEN
%2
Kunshan Xingchuang Meishang Cultural ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
Tourism Co., Ltd. (Original “Star Plus the PRC
Meishang (Kunshan) E-Commerce
Company Limited"®
BINEBIEE UL RERR AR (R HE AR¥5000000 MERZER B
[EglZxm(BL)EFRBER
REO
Star Plus Meiyou (Kunshan) E-Commerce  The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
ERIXE BRI EFHBERAA HE AR¥5000000 MERZER HE
Star Plus Aijia (Kunshan) E-Commerce The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
ERIBR (BRI EFHBERAAO HE AR¥5000000 MERZER DB
Beijing 024 Business Management Co., The PRC RMB20,000,000 New retail &IP licensing, 15% 75%
Ltd. (Original “Beijing Xingchuang Fu'an the PRC
Business Management Co., Ltd.”)"
IRTARABERFRAFA(RMAR PE AR#20,000,0007  #EERIPFHA - FH

EEERBBERARRAY
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38 MEAT @
Effective equity interest
held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T 1S FERRREENG R12A31A
2024 2023
2024 % 203F
Superstar Kingdom (Kunshan) Technology ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP creation and operation, 40% N/A
Development Co., Ltd.00 the PRC
EEXE(RBIL)BBERERAR™  HE ARE1000000070  IPEIERZE HE TER
Talent Time (Kunshan) Cultural Media The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP creation and operation, 45% N/A
Co., Ltd.0 the PRC
REEE(BL)ULEEERAR MW HE ARE1000000070  IPEIERZE  HE TER
Xingchuang Youjia (Kunshan) E-commerce  The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% N/A
Co., Ltd.® the PRC
ERERE(RI)ETABRRAR & AR¥5000000 MERSER HE TER
Xingchuang Jiashang (Kunshan) The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% N/A
E-commerce Co., Ltd the PRC
BEIEH (BIL)EFABERAR HE AR®5000000T @WERHERE HE TER
Chengdu Bafang Chuangyi Cultural The PRC RMB1,000,000 IP creation and operation, 10% N/A
Communication Co., Ltd.” the PRC
AN G EE X ERER AR HE AR¥10000007c  IPRIEREE - HE TER
Aizaigian (Beijing) Catering Management ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 Restaurant management, 15% N/A
Co., Ltd.® the PRC
FrATAH(ER)EHXERBRRAY HE AREL000000c  ZBHREE - HE TER

O The official names of these subsidiaries are in Chinese. The English
names are for identification purpose only.

i The Group controls these subsidiaries with less than 50% ownership
because the Group has the right to nominate majority directors on
these subsidiaries’s board and the directors have all the powers
necessary for managing, and for directing and supervising, the
business and affairs of these subsidiaries. This majority control over
the board grants the Group the power to direct these subsidiaries’s
relevant activities.

i QOther than Kunshan JST Two Management Centre (Limited

Partnership), a limited partnership established in the PRC, all of the
Group’s companies are limited liability companies.
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40

40.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no material events took place subsequent to 31
December 2024.

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations not under common control by the
Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated financial
statements.

40.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

39

40

40.1

40.2

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

MEFER
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.3 Associates

184

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights.

Investments in associates

Under the equity method, the investments is initially recognised
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of profit or loss of the investee
and the share of other comprehensive income of the investee
after the date of acquisition. Dividends received or receivable
from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investments. The Group’s investments in these
associates include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of
any accumulated impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income or loss is reclassified to consolidated statements of
comprehensive income or loss where appropriate.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.3 Associates (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of the associates’ post-acquisition
profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or loss. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate are
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to “Share of losses of investments accounted
for using the equity method” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (“CODMs”). The CODMs, who are responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, have been identified as the Executive
Directors that make strategic decisions.

40.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

186

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
companies comprising the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which these
companies operate (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company and the companies outside of PRC
is Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and Taiwan dollar (“TW$”). The
functional currency of the companies in PRC is RMB. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB which
is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at period-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “other gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 years

Computers 5 years

Furniture, fixture and 5-10 years
equipment

Leasehold Over the shorter of their expected
improvements useful lives and the lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 40.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “other gains, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.7 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Software and technologies

Acquired computer software licenses and other technologies
are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised
on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 4 —
10 years.

Music copyrights

The Group acquired music copyrights for music contents and
these acquired copyrights are stated at costs less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. These costs are expensed to the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss based on the
pattern of which their future economic benefit useful life are
expected be consumed by the Group, being straight line over
their license periods, generally 5 years.

Licensed intellectual properties

Acquired licensed intellectual properties is capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to design and produce, and
amortised on a straight-line method over its estimated useful
lives of 4 years.

40.8 Investment properties

Investment properties, commercial plazas, are held for
longterm rental yields. Investment property is initially measured
at cost, including related transaction costs. Depreciation on
investment property is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost to residual values over 10 years.

40.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

188

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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40

40.10
(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or through
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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40

40.10
(c)

190

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Subseqguent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the group classifies its debt instruments:

Debt instruments

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “finance income” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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40.10
(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognised in “other gains, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “other gains, net” and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement
of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income within
“other gains, net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCI, there
is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “other gains, net” in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALLFE

40 HfhnfReE XS BREE 2

00T E (&)

(c)

HE(E)

RBIR(E)

BAFEFARMZE WS - FHERES L
BenEMMETHMEENEE  HXFE
EREREEEINAERFE - BIZQF
EFF ARMEEKRETE - BREEMNEE )
APAEMEE e - R R ERERE
8 MBRARER Wt Rk EIRR B SR
BRON - BB ERILFERE - TR EMmE
ER s RN R MmN IR RS EH
DEERBEWNE e - JF8E R - %
ZTRMEENMBRATIRE RN KX
AFTBHA o B 5 ek I 1R [ b das -
FRIP2Y MBEERSIRNEBERERER
BIYIREE 25 e

BAFHESF ARG - AT REHKAA SR
NPEAAREERSERENEE - UiZ
NP EFABRE - RRUAAFER AR
ST EMNEBREMELENRDNEER
BaiER  AEEEPREFRIIINGS
EHERER AN E e - F5E] e

ERIR
AREBEBERARXFEFEMEEDTE i
AEBEEEEEREAMEZERET2
FtEzm TEAMN A FEKGERER  RELE
RRERTEHAFERENERERE
HOEERS o B AKBEWEGIR AN
VB HRRENRBEENRETERR
HA WA -

BAVEAABENEREEAFESE
REAEEB SR AN TH AWK - %]
BR(ER) - BRAFEFAEMEZER
me R A MR EER (R ERREE)
TEREMAFEESHOFER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z=mF &% ][9]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILFE

40

40.10
(d)

192

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
Note 3.1 details how the Group determines whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over
the expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
assets, see Note 3.1(b) for details.

In addition, management also reviews the credit risk of
individual debtors by considering the relationship with
customers and their financial position to assess whether further
provision was needed at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment of other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting
rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
applicable variable selling expense.
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40.13

40.14

40.15

194

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. Trade and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are classified as current
assets, except for those with maturities greater than twelve
months after the financial position date are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Details about the group’s impairment
policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided
in Note 3.1(b).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand and deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the
economic substance of the restriction and whether they meet
the definition of cash and cash equivalents.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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(a)

196

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowings and horrowing costs (Continued)

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the year ended 31 December
2024 comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated
statement of financial position date in the country where the
Group operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax

Income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if they arise from initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it is from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the consolidated statement
of financial position date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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40.19
(a)

(b)
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognised
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the statement of
financial position.

Post-employment obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the
PRC have to make contribution to staff retirement scheme
managed by local government authorities in accordance with
the relevant rules and regulations. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment

The fair value of the share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price)

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g.
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares for
a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.20 Provisions

40.21
(a)

200

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as finance cost expense.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Earnings per share (Continued)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and

° the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Leases

The Group, as a lessee, leases offices premises with lease
terms from 2 to 10 years. Leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and corresponding liability at the date of which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Assets
and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following
lease payments, where applicable:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

(d) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received,

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the equity holders of the companies
comprising the Group is recognised as a liability in the
consolidated financial statements during the period in which
the dividends are approved by the equity holders or directors,
where appropriate.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income within “Other income” on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are recognised.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our Group

for the last five financial years, is set out below:

TXEINEBAEEREEREMRFENFE
URBEEMABEMOHE

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 2023 F 2022 F 2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT ANEETT AEETFT
Revenue WA 584,010 430,213 344,157 365,345 456,944
Gross profit ESl 327,017 276,333 222,828 227,382 232,789
Operating profit g 83,427 64,517 92,035 73,594 113,806
Profit for the year FER A 50,240 41,411 64,898 42,891 75,631
Profit for the year UTATEEER
attributable to: el
— Owners of the Company —RRBHEEA 56,054 34,515 60,389 43,649 78,064
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 % 2023 F 2022 F 2021 F 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBFT AREBTT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Total assets BEHE 1,246,515 902,574 554,865 473,112 326,125
Total liabilities BERE (286,850) (210,985) (320,754) (307,918) (191,105)
959,665 691,589 234,111 165,194 135,020
Capital and reserves attributable 782 &1 A A JE1L
to owners of the Company R K (e 953,700 684,214 233,542 169,221 138,309
Non-controlling interests IR 5,965 7,375 569 (4,027) (3,289)
959,665 691,589 234111 165,194 135,020
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group” or “we” or “us”) are
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Report (the “ESG Report” or “Report”) for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year” or “Reporting Period” or “2024") to
provide an overview of the Group’s performance of significant issues
affecting the operation, including ESG matters.

Both the English and Chinese versions of this ESG Report are
available on the Company’s website at www.splegend.com and the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). If there is any conflict or inconsistency, the English
version shall prevail. Corporate governance section can be found in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024 on
pages 55 to 75 therein.

Reporting Scope

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is responsible
for determining the scope of the Report. This Report focuses on the
Group’s core operation of its two business segments which have
substantial impact on our ESG performance, covering (1) offices
in Kunshan, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and Hangzhou, (2)
warehouses in Kunshan, (3) staff quarters in Kunshan and Hangzhou
and (4) a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

The two business segments are:

(i)  New retail business segment, focusing on development and
sale of health management products, as well as skincare
products; and

(i) Intellectual Property (“IP") creation and operation business
segment, focusing on IP content creation and management
business, and IP licensing and sales of related products.

Compared to the reporting scope of the ESG Report for the year
ended 31 December 2023, this ESG Report additionally includes
a café operated by the Group in Beijing, which commenced
operations in early 2024. The above reporting scope of the Report
was determined based on the principle of materiality, as the revenue
from the above segments and locations accounted for approximately
97.8% of the total revenue of the Group and the number of
employees in the above segments and locations constituted
approximately 92.7% of the total number of employees of the Group
during the Reporting Period. The Group will continue to review
its own performance and adjust or expand the reporting scope as
necessary to improve the quality of disclosures.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE -EREIES

Reporting Basis

The Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting requirements
as set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”; which has been renamed as
the “Environment, Social and Governance Reporting Code” since
January 1, 2025), Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”)
and with reference to the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(“SASB”) Standard. The Group has complied with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide. Certain key performance indicators
(“KPIs"), which are considered material by the Group are disclosed
during the Reporting Period, the Group will continue to optimize and
improve the disclosure of KPls.

During its preparation, the Group adhered to the reporting principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency by:

REREH#
ABEDRBEEMAXZMARIA ([FEH
BRGADBESF EMRAMBEC2GRE HER
ERaREESI) (ESGHREHSI] - B20255F 1 A
IHEERARIRE HERERRETAD A
HORERELZEMHERRGAEAEZES
([SASB)) AR - AKRE D BTESGHRE 3
Preton Gl B AR E R [T B TR R - A&
ERASBEANE THRERIER ((BREXE
BHERRERERE  AREBFERL MK
ZMREVIERORE -

RREBIEDT AEEETEZN B FH
R—BttemERA

-
Materiality & E %

e The Group has identified material ESG
issues for the Year though stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment,
and makes key disclosure in
this Report.

s AEEFBRIFHEDHERS
T ERIANFENE
RESGE®™ + WA
EHREERRE -

Balance 1

e The Report has presented
the positive and negative ESG
performance of the Group in an
objective and truthful manner, to
ensure the fairness and
comprehensiveness of disclosure.

o AWBREFE  NEHR2BAEENE B
FESG%‘%EE CAREREEN AT R 2
:E ®

\.

~
Quantitative 21t

The Group has disclosed quantitative data
and information where feasible, including
relevant standards, methodologies,
assumptions, source of conversion
factors and comparative data.
REERAITIER TR
SBBERER - BEE
BIREE - Tk RER - #
BAEHRFRA R SRS -
J

N
Consistency — 2%

e The Group has established
a methodology of ESG data
collection and disclosure and plans
to use consistent methodologies in the
future to ensure meaningful comparison
data over time.

REEE R ESGEUR K E MRFEN 770
2 WETEIRREA — B AL - AR
PERF R A B R L EEIE -

J

Confirmation and Approval

The qualitative and quantitative information used herein is sourced
from public information, official documents and relevant statistics
of the Group, and has been submitted to the Board for confirmation
and approval on 31 March 2025.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Opinion and Feedback

The Group values the opinions of all stakeholders on its ESG
performance and governance. If you have any comments or inquiries
regarding the Report or the Group’s sustainability related matters,
please contact us via email to ir@splegend.com for continuous
improvement in ESG work of the Group.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Governance Structure

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are
in place. The executive directors of the Company are responsible
for formulating ESG management policies, strategies, goals, and
annual reporting and promoting related implementation. They also
identify, evaluate, review, and manage major ESG issues, risks and
opportunities while other departments are responsible for organizing,
promoting, and implementing various ESG related tasks under the
Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. All tasks will be
reported to the Board regularly in order to compare the progress
reported against the ESG-related goals and targets to be set out in
this ESG Report, and also ensure the goals and targets complement
and support the Group’s strategic business development efforts, with
an ultimate aim to reduce risks faced by the Group on ESG matters,
improve the Group’s operations and development directions, and
enhance the Group’s ESG compliance culture in the long-run. The
Board is committed to integrating ESG principles into our business
management practices.

Risk Management

To reduce risks to business operations, the Group has formulated
Risk Management Policy* (&2 & 32 %I /€ ) and established an risk
management system to assist the Board in identifying, evaluating and
managing risks, including ESG related risks, achieving comprehensive
and sustainable operations. The Board has overall responsibility
for maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. With the support of the audit
committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”), the Board reviews
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
matters annually. During the Reporting Period, we have established
various mitigation measures and initiatives to prevent and manage
the risks from ESG-related issues that may cause unnecessary
impact on our operations.

*

For identification purposes only
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE -EREIES

Assessment
A4

Identification
ik Al

e Conduct self-inspection
to identify deficiencies
and high-risk areas by
relevant departments
and business units

o HIERAEPPI R EBEN
EITEE - ARG
K= Rk R

assessments by the

& VAR

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

Stakeholder Communication

The Group values the involvement of stakeholders in improving its
ESG management and performance, as well as driving its business
and sustainable development forward. We engage with stakeholders
to understand their expectations and concerns, and consider their
opinions in our day-to-day operations to enhance our strategic
priorities.

The Group consistently interacted and communicated with key
stakeholder groups through various channels during the Year.

¢ Conduct analysis and
provide independent

internal control director
o ARNBPEIEREEITHN

Management
EEE

e Create effective communi-
cation channels with the
Audit Committee and the
Board

s BEECZEANEEGZE
TEMHEIRRE

FNESEREENEFMS

B EBE
AEMERHNELARSHEGCERRER -
MBRBEEBRTRERRANEE - MR
HAEER THRESNBERME  LEAR
BEREERENER  SUEF R R E S
R o

RAFE  AEEFBEETRARERTIERND
EERETEHRER -

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BnE e SHEE i
Government e Abide by laws and e On-site inspections and e QOperated, managed and
B regulations checks paid taxes according to laws
o HESPEENER o ETHHREEKRE and regulations
o FORKMKE BB RN
e Fulfill duty to pay tax e Annual reports, interim B
o EITMTETS reports and announcements
o F - AHHIWmERAE e Strengthened safety
e Promote regional economic management
development and e Company Website e MELEZEIR
employment o DAL
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o fREMEREEERIIE
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Accepted the government’s
supervision, inspection and
evaluation

BEERANEE  RER
T



Stakeholder
BihE

Expectation

M
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B - HEREQRE

Engagement channel

BRRE

Measures

e

Shareholders and
Investors

BREZEE

Employees

(=]

e Provide high transparency
in information disclosure

s RURERENEEHRE

e Protect shareholders’ rights
and interests
o RIEBREENRELR

Education and training

A REdl

e (Career development
opportunities
e BiEXTEMKE

Health and safety
EENZ %

e Working environment
THEIRIR

e Safeguard the rights and
interests of employees
s REEEREMNRER

e Annual general meeting
and other shareholders’
meetings

o WEBFREGRHAMAR
Ag

e Annual report, interim
report and announcements/

publications
o Fi PHMERIE
T4

e Company Website
o RNAEIMELL

e Conferences/Meetings
P
* ER

e Training, seminars and
briefing sessions
o FHIl HNERENE

e Cultural and team-building
activities
o {EREBERED

e |ntranet and emails

o ANEENER

e Annual performance
appraisal

o FEBEMER

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z UG5

Issued notices of general
meeting and proposed
resolutions according to
regulations
BEATELBRRASRE

RIR2RFESR

Disclosed corporate
information by

publishing annual

reports, interim reports
and announcements/
publications
FERBMER  PHRE
%Q%/ﬂ%&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ
*:

Disclosed corporate contact
details on website and in
reports and ensured all
communication channels
are available and effective
i DAY S e § /NG|
IR E R WHERATAE
BEBBHITAREM

Provided a healthy and safe
working environment
REERIZEZOHIE

B 15

Provided training to
employees

REB RS

Developed a fair mechanism
for promotion

BN E T

Cared for employees by
helping those in need

and organizing employee
activities
ERMPEFTENEE R
REEEDHZES
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures

BinE b EHMEE i

Customers e Provide safe, high-quality Company Website, e Provided quality and

®P products and services brochures and annual customized products and
e REHZEREEMNERK report services

Suppliers/Partners

B, AR

210

AR%%5

Stable relationship

RERF

Business ethics

[EEIEEE

Information transparency
El=Sals

Integrity
iz

Honest cooperation

HERAE

Long-term partnership

RHIA ERIE

Fairness and openness
ASENG

Information resource
sharing
BMERE=E

NERE - IMETFREE

W

Email and customer service
hotline

BEHREPRBAR

Complaint handling
mechanism

18 o R 38 1

Regular meetings
EHEgE

Offline activities

RTEE

Self-media public account

BERERARKP

Review and assessment

] K wHE

Regular meetings
EHEE

Company Website
NGIE R

Email, circulars and manual

CEIRE ISR

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

REEENREBIERR
AR %5

Set hotlines and WeChat
accounts for handling
inquiries or complaints
from our distributors,
sub-distributors and end
consumers

R BB NIRRT - B
WO - SHEE R
SHEE KM RIIREFR

Operated self-media public
account to collect customer
feedback
KREBERBAREKERP U
KEEFER

Fulfilled contracts according
to agreements
RIBEWEEITA L

Conducted comprehensive
evaluation of suppliers
HHERETARSE

Enhanced daily
communication, and
established long-term
cooperation with quality
suppliers and sub-
contractors

Mg B EER  HEGH
EEkSBEELIRHAS
TERR
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BnE b EHMEE B
Public and Social responsibilities e \olunteering e Kept communication
communities e HEERMF o FEIEH channels open between
NRREE the Company and the
Community involvement e Charity and social communities
g e investment o MIFANAELELEA
s BERUGRE R ERRS
e Promote employment
RS e Annual report
o Fiy

Materiality Assessment

The Group attaches significant importance to stakeholders’ concerns
to various ESG issues. It has commissioned an independent
consultancy to carry out a questionnaire survey with different
stakeholders during the Year, for which a materiality assessment was
conducted after data analysis. Given the importance of the identified
ESG issues to its business and various stakeholders, the Group will

EEMFM

make targeted disclosures in this Report and prioritise relevant issues
during its operational decision-making and strategic planning.

Identification

E- %]

e |dentified 14 issues
related to the
Group's business
with reference to
the ESG Reporting
Guide, market
trends, industry
benchmarks, and
the Materiality Map
issued by the
SASB.

o ZRESASBEMA
ESGH&EES - ™

~

-~

' Prioritisation

\
BEHF

* Invited internal and
external stakehold-
ers to participate in
the questionnaire
survey and rate the

and Materiality to
Stakeholders.
Prioritisation was
conducted accord-
ing to the analysis
results.

BB - TXEE o BEERSMNEBRDE

MEBEMERE - & SHERSHESE I

BINATH B R [ 3¢ AT E H AN SR B 5 5

BHamRRE MEZ MR EFD
EFMBEN - RE
DITREREITIEST
BEFF ©

/

/

Materiality to the —
Group’s business A

AEBERFNEUZESCEENRT  NAF
ERABUBERETRAFNELETHESHE &
BEOMBRETEZMUR(M - HERPTEFINESGE
HEHEEBRERODENEEN  AEEHRA

FETHEENRE  YRNEERRNEER
g ELEEAMEEE

.

\

~

Validation
ER &

The materiality
assessment results
were confirmed
after review by

the senior
management and
the Board.
FEUHTHERE
BREEERES
GEIZIETER -

/
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B - ERELSWE
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IMPACT ON STAKEHOLDERS

HEFMHENEEN

High =

Materiality Matrix during the Year

REEE2MER
Supply Chain Management
frrEgEEe
Labour Standards
2 T AER Product Responsibility ®
Competitive Behavior EARE
BWEITR
® Employment
Health and Safet ploy
pRzE 1
~ Product Design & ] Anti-corruption
Lifecycle Management R&Es
Em&at A ARER
Commgnity Investment o Use g}%?sources
HERKRE
o Development and Training
R RIE

Climate Change
RfEEME

Environment and
Natural Resources
L4 RIFERRAEIR

Emissions

EEan8?)
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ENVIRONMENT

As our business does not involve manufacturing and production
activities, and a large portion of resources are provided by our
suppliers and third-party logistics service providers, therefore
our operations do not have material negative impacts on
the environment. Nevertheless, the Group attaches great
importance to minimising its environmental footprint while
maintaining stable business operations, to promote balanced
and sustainable development of economy, society and
environment. The Group fulfils its environmental responsibilities
and strictly abides by environmental laws and regulations. It is
also committed to incorporating the concept of environmental
protection into its operations and decision making processes.

To effectively control its negative impact on the environment,
the Group has continuously strengthened and improved its
environmental management by facilitating efficient use of
resources, enhancing efficient utilisation of natural resources,
reducing waste and pollution, and combating climate change,
so as to promote ecological and environmental conservation.

The Group is in the process of arranging and assigning
responsible departments and personnel to further improve our
data collection system. We did not establish any quantitative
targets but set preliminary directional targets and emission
reduction plans to reduce the Group’s emissions and
environmental impact. Looking ahead, we will formulate the
following quantitative reduction targets by considering various
factors such as industry performance and past, current and
future environmental performances.

Aspects Progress

AR ER

B - HEREQRE

BIR
HRBEFNEE IS REEREELRS B
ABOERBRMANBEERE=ZTMR

R HEREREMG - Ft RN ELRRY
BEAREFE @BEWL  AEEERAE
EGRREENARSEZEERVERERY
HELE HERRRVERAUSERR -
AEBETRREAECTEBBEBRTER
NOER - MBAOBRERENEHAELE
B ROREBIRT ©

RARERASEHRBERNAETE
AEEFEABREERNEMER  EREAR
BRNBBRNE RO BERDIOSRIALE
HRIRE(C FEMBRLTEERREE
UAMEE) 4 RE IR B IR o

AEBELBREREBENPFIRAER @ #E—
FEERMINBIERERL - RAIALEHE
ERELCER  BEFENFOTEMER TR
BBEET & - RO AN EREAHRE REHIRE
MEE RERK  RAGZEEITERR
BE BERARRERREZTEAE -
HENATE(CRERRE

Air pollutants emissions

ZERISRY B

Set preliminary directional targets and emission reduction plans to reduce
the Group’s emissions and environmental impact, and keep track of the

progress of target setting and achievement.

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions

HENLZH T A B R ERBEE - WD AEENERERERE

BREREB(DRERE]) BN VEE WIRHBIRGIEEERAER -

Waste
BEEY)

Energy

4k
BE /m

Water
K
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1. Emissions 1. ¥l
1.1 Air Pollutants Emissions 1.1 BEF5RYHERE
The Group is principally engaged in new retail business and AEBFTERENTEEBRIPRIERE
IP creation and operation business. We engage third-party BERK RMEEERFZRE-FEERK
manufacturers and logistics service providers in our operation. MR TG IER c BN AR B ERME -
Due to the Group’s business nature, no material air pollutants EREEGBERPUEELESRERSLEY -
are produced in the ordinary course of business, and the air MASEBEEENERSAMEREERE
pollutant emissions generated by the Group are mainly sourced WA = B O B OR B S8 OB IR -
from diesel and gasoline combustion from mobile sources in AR B IESEERRARRE - R F M
office operation, and natural gas combustion from stove in FERBE=FTURRGHENEGED
staff quarters. As we mainly rely on third-party logistics service BT EEETMNER - AEBEEHEAT
providers for transporting products, we do not own any cargo B BE T b DAL D 2= 5 LW HE AR
trucks. The Group has implemented the following energy saving
measures to reduce air pollutants emissions:
e Plan the driving routes in advance before departure; . BRI AR BT AR ¢
e Stop and turn off the engine when parking; and o [FHKEFEIHFBIWAMEEK: &
e Conduct regular repair and maintenance for better energy o GETTEHAHKEBRRE  URSERE
use efficiency. BRE -
During the Reporting Period and the corresponding period A4 HARE R 2023 F AH E HAM) - AR E
in 2023, the air pollutants emissions within the scope of this BB =R TR T -
Report are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
kg kg
FR T
Type of Air Pollutants ZRSEMER
Sulphur Dioxide (SO,) —Eiem (FREy) 0.72 0.65
S0, Intensity (kg/employee’000) RELHEE (TR THER) 1.83 1.99
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) AAY 5.25 2.68
NO_ Intensity (kg/employee) REILHEE(TR ER) 0.01 0.01
Particulate Matter (PM) AR 0.66 0.56
PM Intensity (kg/employee’000) FHYEE (TR THER) 1.68 1.72
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Notes:

1. The calculation of the air pollutant emission is referenced from
the methods, assumptions and guidelines set out in the following
Guidance and Standards:

o The China National Standard GB 19147-2016:
Automobile Diesel Fuels* (# Bl Bl R 1% %2 GB19147-
2016 : B %) issued by the China National
Standardization Management Committee* (# e
E{LEEZE®); and

o The Technical Guidance for Compilation of Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory of Road Motor Vehicles* (& & # &)
BARRGEMEEHE EREEMEF) issued by the
China Ministry of Environmental Protection* (ff Z A R £
BRI IRFESD).

2. Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report
additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

3. During the Reporting Period, the Group was in the process of
arranging and assigning responsible departments and personnel
on quantifying the natural gas consumption, and hence, relevant
detailed natural gas consumption data is not available.

1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

*

The Group adheres to the concept of green management
and actively seek low-carbon sustainable development in our
operations. The principal GHG emissions are generated from
i) diesel and gasoline combustion by vehicles and natural
gas combustion from stove in staff quarters (Scope 1), ii)
the electricity consumption of our offices, warehouses, staff
quarters and a café operated by the Group in Beijing (Scope
2), and iii) other indirect emissions (Scope 3), such as from
business air travel by employees. In addition to the energy
saving measures in “1.1 Air Pollutants Emissions”, we have
implemented the following electricity-saving measures to
reduce GHG emissions, including:

o Remind employees to turn off lights, air conditioners and
other unnecessary electronic devices after office hours or
when office spaces (such as meeting rooms) are not in
USse;

o Replace energy-intensive lighting with high luminous
efficacy light set such as LED lights at our office
premises; and

o Set up a record-keeping system for internal teams to
monitor and keep record of relevant environmental
metrics of our Group, such as electricity consumption, for
future improvement.

For identification purposes only

1.2

B - HEREQRE

Hiaz

1 z=
(e

S RMP R E 2% b T iE3| &
e

BYIMIDE - R RIES

FREEREEERES SR MNP
Bl Bl R 12 #£ GB19147-2016 : ¢
D DA

. PEARAMBERS RERREMHCGE
BE % B B K SR0T R W PR OB B AR
At o

2. HI2023F )RS & E MR LL - ARESGHE H
BEFE-—RBAEEEIL R LMY

3. REmEHE AEEEERHERERENL
RARFERENERARFIRAL  ELE
FESHEBFANRARERERE -

BERBEHK

AEBRAZCERRES  TEEPHEBE
Tﬁﬁfi_ﬁ—iﬂg?‘ﬁ FEREREBHRRE
DEWMMEBRTHREARBETEEEL
E’]%%ﬁ%%(%ﬂ!l) NPAE - B
BIRERASEEAIL REERPIYEEES
BHEAE (FE2) Kiii) H b B 5 5 (=
3) WMEEEMBMIRES - RILIERSHR
MBER ] RV ETBe R AN - BPIE BHIAT
BB R EREBIR - B

. ﬁﬁéﬁiE?JJMH%F‘ﬁ?éﬂZ?)J%/N%ﬁﬁ(Zzu
%gfﬁaﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ 5 &~ = R H A
Za (EWETRE

o  BRANBANEE %E’&Eﬂuﬂ%sﬁ?ﬁtﬁ
=R EERRRA AR & (WO LED &)

° NEPE KB Z SRS - UEEB MR
ﬁﬁ%lmm%aahﬁ MAEE
VAR #1T B 18 U

Y ERES
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To reduce our Scope 3 GHG emissions, we have taken
initiatives in procuring our suppliers to accelerate the
use of more sustainable components, such as the use of
environmental-friendly packaging materials like biodegradable
paper packaging materials. On the other hand, we are in the
process of fully implementing the use of online system for
internal administrative procedures to reduce the use of paper
documents, and avoid wastage of paper by promoting printing
on both sides. We also encourage employees to utilize remote
conferencing tools in offices to reduce travel and as a result to
reduce other indirect GHG emissions.

During the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in
2023, GHG emissions within the scope of this Report are as
follows:

BROBMOBEIBEZEREEN  BME
AR E - (R ER IR A E A RHEL
A Pl RIRRBEMEL - IEYFERR
MEBREME -Z—FH KM EEE2EE
FERBITHRIZF MR LR - LURDHREX
e A - WiRBRESET I R2ARR
B -RMNTBEEETCHAZFRARESH
TR PURAER MR >HEMEERE
RESHERL

RS BAR K2 2023 F AR FIE B - AN R4 &
BERAEERESEROT :

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
Equivalent CO, Equivalent CO,
emission emission
—HItmEEHKE —StREEHN
(tonnes) (tonnes)
(W) (M)
Type of GHG emissions BEREBEMER

Scope 1: Direct emissions HEL: BEEHEN 20.82 18.96
Scope 2: Indirect emissions #E 2 : BN 694.59 383.14
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions #E 3 - AMbEE R 123.83 190.73
Total #Et 839.24 592.83
Intensity (tonnes/employee) mE (W ER) 2.13 1.81

Notes: .
1. The calculation of the GHG emission is referenced from the 1. BAERBHEMNFEDZZEUTESRE

methods, assumptions and guidelines set out in the following
Guidance and Standards:

o The Requirements of the Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Accounting and Reporting for Land Transportation
Enterprise* R ER BB MUIZE BRERREIER —

X @B 8 {> %) issued by China National Development
and Reform Commission* (/% A R £ 70 B B X 8 &
HEZEF) and

o Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs
in “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX").

TR R RIS

. TEARAKNBBRERNNEER
BEenmnCEERBHFRXERR
EHEE-ELRREREE) X

. BERGNEEMARAR ([EE

)«%Fﬁl)%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁ’%{%m% #t

RERRE) Mk — <<I&iﬁﬁ%t
ﬁﬁxﬂa%Ei&?a%W

Y ERES

* For identification purposes only
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2. Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report
additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

3. Scope 1 includes direct GHG emissions from combustion of
fuels in mobile sources controlled by the Group.

4. Scope 2 includes indirect GHG emissions caused by purchasing
electricity from local power companies. The primary reasons
for the increase in Scope 2 emissions in 2024 compared to
2023 are as follows: during the Reporting Period, i) the Group
enhanced its data collection capabilities to include electricity
consumption from certain staff quarters in Kunshan; ii)
expansion of office and exhibition hall operational areas; and iii)
the commencement of operations for the café located in Beijing.

B, Scope 3 mainly includes other indirect GHG emissions from
business air travel by employees. The decrease in Scope 3
emissions in 2024 compared to 2023 was primarily due to the
Group’s implementation of low-carbon travel initiatives and
strengthened cost control measures, which reduced business
travel by increasing the use of online meetings.

6. For the staff quarters, during the Reporting Period, the Group
was in the process of arranging and assigning responsible
departments and personnel on quantifying the natural gas,
electricity and water consumption in all staff quarters, and
hence, relevant detailed natural gas, electricity and water
consumption data is only partially available.

7. For the offices, during the Reporting Period, no separate water
meter was installed in the Group’s Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou
and Hangzhou offices, and hence relevant detailed water
consumption data is not available.

Wastes Management

Proper handling of waste is another aspect the Group has laid
emphasis on, other than air emission control. We adhere to the
“3R” approach to environmental conservation, i.e. reduction
of waste, reuse of resources and recycling of used materials,
to the largest practicable extent in our business operation
as a mean of care for the environment. Due to the business
nature, the Group does not generate material hazardous
waste because our operation does not involve any significant
production activities. The hazardous waste generated by the
Group consists primary of batteries, toner and ink cartridges.
Currently, the Group’s focus on hazardous waste data tracking
has been limited and relevant data is not available, as minimal
quantities of such waste were handled alongside non-
hazardous waste by third-party general waste collectors. The
non-hazardous waste generated by the Group consists primarily
of 1) household waste and paper from office and staff quarter
operation, 2) general operational waste from a café operated by
the Group in Beijing, and 3) carton box and expired products
from warehouse operation. The Group is always keen to ensure
that all waste is handled and treated in a legal and appropriate
way so as to avoid negative impacts on the environment. Paper
and carton box are collected and handled by general waste
collectors. Despite having established sound internal control
for inventory management, for the occasional occurrence of
an extremely small quantity of expired products, we engage
qualified wastes collectors to handle in compliance with local
regulations and environmental standard.

1.3

B - HEREQRE

2.  H2023FMISEEMLL - AESGIREH
EEE-RBAAREAIL REEHPBEE -

3. HE SRS EE G &R BRI R
EENERREREIM -

4. HE2EBEMEHENRARINIBENRE
Y REOR = RBEPEIR - B 2023 AALL
2024 FHE 2P MELMHERREAMT
RIEHME - DAEEIRBURI SR
HEUETEIEENREEMARS
NBEARAERRENELEE NN
AR WPERRRES -

5. RESFZEREEABMIKRELNEM
) 508 = R B PEAR - B 2023 R ARLL - 2024
FHEHMERI I ZHRAEEE
B 2 IR 8 - 30 0GR AR AN IE I HE 3 - B
HBIRNME AR S W R D B RS IRTT °

6. BMEIBESMmME NMEHMH AEBEE
ExRkERAEEBELMEEIBEERA
ROBOAMAKENHFARAS  BitE
ESHOMBEFANRAR B RAK
8% -

7. BMPAEMES  RWmEHE AEEIR-
£ B AR R = I B 2 K
% WERESHEFANRKERE -

BRWER

PR R BE IR SIS X EREERY TR ANEE
ERMS—TH PR EBEEETRAELER
[BRIRMERT & - BB A BEY - BIRBH A RO
BEEME  ATHEERE - ENEBLEED R
HMNZEL TS REMENEELS  BHAE
BYBRELBEABEERY AEEELNRR
BEEDETERESM HRHRER - BAT AR
REBLEBNEREZEMEHE=TT—REEY
WEREEIFBRERY —GRE - Rt AEE Y
EREZEVMEERBMNENER  BEEFHEE
g - AEEELANBEEERZEMEIEBREDMNRA
ERRETIEEEEEAMNERRRMARK  2) K
SERIEREEN —HMBEEELN —RELE
ZY RIAELEEENRBRBHER - K
SE-BERNRRMEBEDONSEREEN
FTHEE  LBEHREERKAETE - KRR
M- REVREBREREE - BERMAC

REREERYSENAMEE  BARER
BBl ERHER RAREAERNERY

W B IR R B AR MR RIEEE TR -
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To reduce non-hazardous wastes generation, we have
implemented the following measures:

° Enhance the use of online marketing and promotion
and reduce the resources consumption level of offline
marketing activities; and

o Implement the use of online system for internal
administrative procedures to reduce the use of paper
documents, and avoid waste of paper by promoting
printing on both sides; and

o Better co-ordinate with our suppliers and closely
monitor our stock level to adjust the production plan
and purchasing plan timely thus reducing the risk of
overstocking as well as the number of expired products.

The total non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group during
the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2023 are
set out as follows:

RELBEEEEMNEL  RAZEBNUT

=pii

LMK ELHER BRERKT
BIHEBNERBERNKFE Rk

BTN AGR ERREERNBITRZF
IR MEXHMER R RESE
EATENART (LR SRORE - I

B or i SR R R 15 5 ) BR AR IR AP
MEFKE - REABLEES KK
Betd WmMEEEFAFMER -
WiE B Em

AN & B 5 B K 2023 4 48 B B E 4
MEZEZMEEHINMT

2024 2023

2024 5 20234

tonnes tonnes

Non-hazardous waste EEEED U7 148

Total non-hazardous waste EEREEYESE 28.61 24.72

Non-hazardous waste Intensity EEEEDEE

(tonnes/revenue RMB million) (W, EEARWIA) 0.05 0.06
Notes: Kzt -

1.  Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report 1. HE2023F R MEEE B L - ANESGREH

additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

2. The data for non-hazardous waste generated in 2023 has
been revised to reflect more accurate measurements and
estimations conducted during the current Reporting Period.
This restatement enables greater accuracy and alignment with
the Group’s enhanced data collection and reporting practices.
Moving forward, the Group will continue to adopt consistent
methodologies to ensure comparability of data across reporting
periods.

3. For the staff quarters, during the Reporting Period, the property
management services (such as waste, recycling, etc.) to both
self-owned and leased staff quarters were outsourced and
provided by property management service providers and hence,
relevant detailed non-hazardous waste data is not available.

4. For the offices and café, during the Reporting Period, the
property management services (waste, etc.) were outsourced
and provided by property management service providers and
hence, relevant detailed non-hazardous waste data is not
available.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

BEF—FHASEEIL R EENMTEE -

2023 FEAMBEEEEYBIRCELER]
VA f2 B 7K St o5 5 FR) o 17 A0 5 2R e B 8 I
Bl REIEAEENZBBERERES
EREMER - S5% AEESEE
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5. The Group has outsourced the handling and collecting of
the expired products to qualified waste collectors and the
expired product weight record is not fully provided by the
waste collectors. The Group is in the process of arranging and
assigning responsible departments and personnel to work
closely with waste collectors to improve the data collection and
has made preliminary progress, so as to disclose the relevant
data in the future.

6. The calculation method of non-hazardous waste intensity is
updated from employee number-based to revenue-based, in
order to better reflect the non-hazardous waste intensity in
our operation activities, thus the unit of non-hazardous waste
intensity has been revised from tonnes/employee to tonnes/
revenue RMB million.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, generation of hazardous and
nonhazardous waste that have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC* ({1 2= A R £ FIBIER IR IRFEE)),
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste* ({# 2 A B+ F1E &
BE RE )55 AR W IH A A)), and the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution* ({FF % A R
HAEI R RITRBIEED).

Use of Resources

Energy Consumption

The Group recognises its responsibility to take the initiative in
efficiently utilising finite resources and carries out its corporate
social responsibility to introduce additional eco-friendly
approaches to enhance the Group’s sustainability performance.
The Group is committed to improving energy efficiency and
advocating resource conservation. By implementing appropriate
energy and material management programmes in each
business segment, we can positively influence our environment
and economy while also ensuring business sustainability.

Due to the nature of our business as mentioned in “1.
Emissions”, in daily operation, the Group’s major energy
consumption are fuels consumed by the use of vehicles,
natural gas combustion from stove in staff quarters, and
electricity consumed in office premises, staff quarters, café
and warehouses. We have implemented mitigation measures
to monitor and reduce energy consumption. For the details
of mitigation measures, please refer to the section headed
“1.1 Air Pollutants Emissions” and “1.2 Greenhouse Gas
Emissions”. In the coming year, we will continue to monitor the
energy consumption of the Group’s business operations and
review energy-saving measures, so as to improve the energy
consumption efficiency.

For identification purposes only

B - HEREQRE

5. AKETDSEERKERBERDNTIEN
BYRERERMEER MEZVKSE
B EERRMCBPERNEELH A
SEERHFREREAEMARABREESR
MBEBZEE TEBBRRETIF
WE RIS R - HE T 7 1% R 5% 25 4R 28
iz -

6. REFHWRREMEZEZHINETEE
MEE BEREVERENGTE AN
BEABRERTH /AR E BER -
GEEEENEENELEHE(EEE
RN BEARBEA -

RBEHHE AEEL THEFERAREER
T ETEBRERIBEREBHR - MKR
THMNEES AEREBERRVMEL MY
AEBBEEAFZENERARRERNE
o BREASRR(PEARLMBERER
EE) (PEARAMBEEBREYSRRE
PraE) kR EARKMBEARSRE) °

RiEEHR

BE B FE
AEBRBINEFEEIHERMNAER
BlR YBRITEEGEHEEE 5| AR
BIRIDE RS AKENAIFHEERRE -
AEBENIRFERM G LIREHOER
BBERSEB D MEREE WEER &M E
BEAE RMTEBTERRELEE
RREREGARFERR -

BHRILEER I P ERIEE - REEE
B AREME2RRERRERSER
HRERREL - B TR SRR RARIRGE N
WAEME(BETIRES MUEERAE) K
AEE - RAIE B RIS BE KR
REROBAE - A B R MR IE RIS - B2 1.1
ZERGRMBERI R12)8 = REHHK] —
B RE - RARHBERASEEKLE
B REIR B FE K i ) BRRE A 1 - TR = BEIROH

Y ERES

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —ZE=F &% 219



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE -EREIES

Energy consumption by the Group during the Reporting Period
and the corresponding period in 2023 are set out as below:

Energy Consumption

A BRI E B K 2023 F HE ML
TBOBFEHIIMT -

HERHFE
Energy consumed Energy consumed
(kWh in 000’s) (kWh in 000’s)
RERHFERE BEREREE
(FETRE) (FEFEE)
Category Type of energy 2024 2023
ma REFEER 2024 £ 2023 F
Direct energy Unleaded petrol 86.20 78.77
HEER S
Diesel 1.05 0.80
4e0m
Indirect energy Purchased electricity 1,294.44 671.82
DEEEN SNEEE
Total 1,381.69 751.39
#at
Energy intensity (kWh in 000’s/employee) 3.51 2.30
RFEE(TETREN EER)
Notes: Kt
1. The calculation of the energy consumption is referenced from 1. RREBREENTEDN2ZUATIES RIZE

the methods, assumptions and guidelines set out in the following
Guidance and Standards:

o Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs
in “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by HKEX.

2. Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report
additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

3. For the staff quarters, during the Reporting Period, the Group
was in the process of arranging and assigning responsible
departments and personnel on quantifying the natural gas and
electricity consumption for all the staff quarters, and hence, only
partial electricity consumption from staff quarters in Kunshan is
available.

4. The electricity consumption in 2024 significantly increased
compared to those in 2023, primarily due to the following
reasons: i) the Group enhanced its data collection capabilities
to include electricity consumption from certain staff quarters in
Kunshan; ii) expansion of office and exhibition hall operational
areas; and iii) the commencement of operations for the coffee
shop located in Beijing.

220 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

PREL % - RERMIES|

. ERRZHEME A ERHRE
HERERBRE) M- (REH
REBIERERES]) -

2023 F MM E M E AR - ANESG IS #
EEE KRB AREEIL REEHITEE -

HEIFEEME RS HE AEEE
ERMBEERFREREAESLLRAR
FAEEBNMPARAS  AENESE
WEBTHEENHMOAEE -

H12023 AR HL » 2024 4F FE R 8 A IR 1 0
MEBRELT i) ANE B8 BRI S8
N BRUETEIGENAEEMNAE
FUNBABRAERREMBELAEE i)
AL R MBEEE 1A B 2 -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B - HEREQRE

2.2 Water Consumption 2.2 Kk

Water consumption of the Group mainly arises from the
domestic water use from the office premise, warehouses
and the staff quarters, along with commercial use in the
café. During the Reporting Period, although the Group did
not encounter any problems in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, the Group understand that water resources are
precious and limited. The Group actively implemented different
water conservation measures including:

° Water tap should be turned off when not in use;
° Water flow from tap is controlled at low level;

° Installation of automatic faucets; and

° Post water-saving slogans in conspicuous places

Water consumption by the Group during the Reporting Period
and the corresponding period in 2023 are set out as below:

Water Consumption

AEBHNRKIZRERDGH RERE
THEENEEAKARMFENEERE
RBEDHE  BEAKREEERSERKS
B A - BEAKRERAKER
BEEEMAR - AEBEEHRE AR AEK
Bt B

o JKEEBEARMKERME

o IKBESEM IR BIR B AR KA
o RERBEKER: R

o HEERMIERREENKIZE

RS HE L2023 FHEMME  AEEH
IKEFHHNAT :

RAXKE
2024 2023
20245 2023 F
(m?) (md)
(3Z7K) (ZF7K)
Water Consumption RKkE 22,567,74 N/A N iE
Intensity (m¥employee) EEGIEXREER) 57.28 N/A 7~ F
Notes: Hiat

1. Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report
additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.

2. During the corresponding period in 2023, the Group was in the
process of arranging and assigning responsible departments
and personnel on quantifying the water consumption of the
staff quarters, Kunshan offices and Kunshan warehouses only,
because no separate water meter was installed in the Group’s
other offices, and hence relevant detailed water consumption
data was not available.

3. During the Reporting Period, the Group has collected and
disclosed water consumption data for Kunshan offices, certain
warehouse and staff quarters in Kunshan, as well as for a café
operated by the Group in Beijing only, because no separate
water meter has been installed in the Group’s other offices and
warehouses, and hence relevant detailed water consumption
data is not available.

1. B2023FH & EWEAALL - ANESG I & #
EEE-RBAREEIL REE R IBEE -

2. HRREBEMPAEINEBBREKE
M2023F AR EIR  AEBEERTERIE
KERES{ERLEIRS BLUNHAE
RELEERKENIPFIRAE  BitE
EESHEE AN AKEBEIE -

3. REmEHRE AREEWRELTEER LM
RE BUBSABERETIBEEUR—FR
A AR SR B A A A ISR B A AR K B
ARAEEEMPAERRELEEFR
oKk Rt REARFARKE
Bz
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Packaging Materials

Our products are manufactured by selected third-party
manufacturers in PRC. We closely collaborate with a network
of Original Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) and packaging
supply partners to produce our products. Various types of
packaging materials are used and consumed by the third-party
manufacturers in the production process.

To further mitigate the impact of our packaging on the
environment, we have implemented the following corresponding
measures to materials:

o Give priority to suppliers that use environmental-friendly
packaging materials;

o Refine the design of our products with less packaging;
and

o Take initiatives to shift from single-use to reusable
packaging, adopting and using eco-friendly and/or
biodegradable packaging materials.

Compared to the reporting scope of 2023, this ESG Report
additionally includes a café operated by the Group in Beijing.
In addition, during the Reporting Period, the Group was in the
process of arranging and assigning responsible departments
and personnel on quantifying the packaging material
consumption for the finished products by the third-party
manufacturers and has made preliminary progress. Hence,
relevant detailed packaging material consumption data is not
available.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s new retail business and IP creation and operation
business have no significant impact on the environment. The
Group reviews its environmental policy from time to time and
will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and
practices in order to enhance environmental sustainability
and evaluate and monitor regularly the impact of past and
present business activities regarding health, safety and
environmental matters. With the integration of policies and
measures mentioned in sections “1. Emissions” and “2. Use
of Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the impacts to the
environment and natural resources.
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Climate Change

In recent years, climate change has brought more frequent and
destructive extreme weather crises to the globe, which results
in serious losses for human beings and the commercialised
society. The Group recognises climate change poses potential
risks to its business operations, including policy, reputation and
market changes caused by intensifying extreme weather, rising
sea level, chronic heat waves and low-carbon transition, which
may affect its business performance and add instability to its
sustainable development.

Based on the business nature and geographical location, the
Group has initially identified relevant climate risks, and plans to
conduct a more in-depth climate risk assessment in the future
to further analyse the impact of relevant risks. To reduce the
impact of climate change on business, the Group will formulate
countermeasures in response to different risks to reduce the
impact of risks and achieve sustainable operations in the
future. During the Reporting Period, we identified the risks
associated with climate change during the Group’s operation as
below:

B - HEREQRE
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Climate related risks

§ 6% 48 BR L B

Impacts on operations

HEENEE

Preventative and mitigation measures

RS B 8 AR 45

Physical risks

IR R BR

Acute risks (Extreme weather

such as typhoons, floods, etc.

M B (AR 3 KX SR ARG R

7J< << '*""

Chronic risks (e.g. global
warming, sea level rise, etc.)

12V E B (a0 2Bk iR
BEELEASE)

e Extreme weather such as
typhoons and floods may
cause certain damage to the
Group’s infrastructure such as
warehouses, office facilities,
and may pose safety risks to
the staff;

o ﬁmiﬂmmﬂ&*“
HAKEHNEE - %@&m
I%W SMEiER —EBE

BEEBETHEKREZEEAR

e Extreme weather and natural
disasters may cause price
volatility of raw materials,
fluctuation in supply and

physical damages to suppliers’

facilities, pose risks to delayed
product delivery by our
suppliers.

o MR RRMEM KB RKEA
RREHRMAERRE - #
JRE R B LA K% 35 4 7 SR e 4
RCHIRIEE - W ERTEE
R EmERK AR °

e Rising sea level may directly
affect the operation of the
Group and its suppliers
in coastal areas, resulting
in relocation of facilities,
equipment and business.

o BVTHLEHAEEEELER
RERAF ARG E
BEE QR  REX
EBkRE
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e Develop emergency plans, pay
attention to the early warnings from
meteorological authorities regarding
typhoon, heavy rain, flooding or other
extreme weather;

o HIFESTESR  WIERRIFILE
[B - BF AR ECHE b R 5 K R
BE

e Delay or cancel all outdoor activities
especially program recording if
necessary and inform all staff in
advance;

o MAKE TEXBUEMAFING
B KrRIEET B S8 WRATAA
FTEET:

Maintain open communication with the
suppliers. Inquire about any potential
disruptions or delays in the supply
chain. Collaborate on contingency
plans and alternate solutions if
necessary.
BEHERRBFARNER - A
JE 8 Fp A ] 7 72 B R B SIEIE © 4R
BVE  HRESFTEIRBERBRAS
RETEE -

e Evaluate the influence of chronic risks
that may affect our suppliers based on
their locations;

. ﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁ%EmHET%%%ﬁ
FERmiettRen e

Establish a resilient supply chain

and constantly improve a multiple
production base strategy to ensure the
stable supply of our products.

o EVEEMEMHEERE  TEHTE
ZEEEMRR - FERE mALERE -
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Impacts on operations

HEENEE

B HERELIRS

Preventative and mitigation measures

RS B 8 AR 45

Transitional risks

i B B

Policy and regulatory risk

B ROE R AR

Reputation risk
BEE R

Market risk
% @ ke

Technology risk
B 2 B

e The Group has to adapt to the
tightened laws and regulations
imposed by the government
or any regulatory bodies due
to climate change, as well
as bear the risk of potential
litigation or penalties once we
fail to comply with the new
regulations.

o AREEAHEERNRIEME
EREAREZE T E R
WREREFROER - WREAM
BB ST HTE MR AR
& A Sk Be 1 6 LB o

e Possible negative effects
caused by the Group’s poor
performance on environment
protection and carbon
reduction that fails to meet
investors’ expectations.

o REE[ETEIRIRABIEL 77 H AY
KRRETRIEEEER -
AREELAETE -

e A need for a bigger role of
green development and
environmental protection in

consumers’ purchasing choice.

s HEEEBEEEZEL BN
A B %R RIRBRERR
HEE o

e The Group has to be aware
that being perceived as
environmentally unfriendly
may lead to backlash from
consumers and investors,
which can affect brand value
and financial performance.

o AREFEAEHRI  HRAT
RREEBEEERKRA
EORE - EMEEmEE
BERIEELE -

Monitor the updates of environmental
laws and regulations in advance;

o IRAIEEIERBIAEMAMMER

e Continue monitoring of the ESG
reporting standards of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules.

o REEERELTHRAMNESGERE
*?\;& o

=

e Closely monitor the ESG performance
of our suppliers and apply stricter
requirements on ESG aspects covering
product design, production, and
packaging;

o EYIERIFHEMMESGRIE W
EmRi AERBRFESGHE
EinEREHENR

e Closely monitor the public sentiment
and public opinion by Public Relations
(“PR”) Department.

o NHBER(AE] BENERAR
B4 M B o

bS

e Timely disclose relevant information
and adjust and explore low-carbon
development path based on the
current trend.

o LERERBEEES  £5ETBE
PERRRERERREE

e Establish channels for feedback to
listen to the opinions of consumers
and investors and adjust environmental
strategies accordingly.

e BURBRE REUHEZENMKRE
ENER  WIHERBRFHE -
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5.1

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Recruitment and equal opportunity

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel. We have invested significant
resources in the recruiting of the suitable candidates for our
Company. We primarily recruit our employees through online
channels and social networking platforms and enter into
standardized employment contracts with our permanent
employees in accordance with the Labor Contract Law of the
PRC* (P EARKMBELEE BE)).

In addition, we are committed to offering a fair and caring
working environment to our employees. We have established
internal control policies covering various aspects of human
resource management including recruitment, trainings,
work ethics and legal compliance. We adopt high standards
in recruitment with strict procedures to ensure the quality
of new hires. We have equal opportunities and are against
discrimination. We hire employees based on their merits and
it is our corporate policy to offer equal opportunities and fair
compensations to our employees. We encourage our employees
who encounter any discrimination to seek immediate assistance,
which also allows us to conduct timely investigation and follow
up as needed.

Employee henefits

As a responsible employer, we participated in various employee
benefit plans including social insurance funds, namely a
pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance
plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident
fund. In addition to the statutory employee benefit plans, we
collaborate with insurance companies and agents and provide
supplementary medical insurance to our employees. In addition
to statutory holidays, our employees are entitled to annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage
leave, and bereavement leave, as well as condolence payments
related to loss of family member, staff sickness, maternity.
Annual body checks are also provided to our staff.

* For identification purposes only
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In order to ensure that the remuneration and welfare policies
remain competitive in the market, we will review and adjust
the annual remuneration of employees every year. The
consideration and range of salary adjustment are mainly
determined based on factors such as company benefits and
employee performance, adjusted ranks, and market salary
trends. We will conduct employee performance appraisal for
employees once a year and establish a performance feedback
channel to strengthen the interaction and communication
between supervisors and employees, so that employees can
understand their work performance and areas for improvement,
so as to facilitate greater development in their careers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare that have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Labor Contract Law of the PRC*
((FREAREME BB A [F)E)), the Labour Law of the PRC*
((FREARKEMBEAB)E)) and the Social Insurance Law of
the RPC* ({H ZE A R H MBIt & REIED).

For identification purposes only
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender, age AT ARRESEEANN2024F12 A31 A K
group, employee category, employment type and geographical 2023F 12 A31 Bk IER| - Fik4BR - BB
region within the scope of this Report as at 31 December 2024 i RERARMESSMNEEREMA

and as at 31 December 2023:

2024 2023
2024 5E 2023 F
Number of % of Number of % of
staff total staff total
8 {h 48 8L
BI®E BSk BT #E Aok
By gender BRiENE S
Male B 166 42.13 123 38.44
Female pegis 228 57.87 197 61.56
Total et 394 100.00 320 100.00
By age group BRERANDS
30 or below 30BRIA T 183 46.45 183 57.19
31-40 31&405% 155 39.34 107 33.44
41-50 41 £505% 43 10.91 25 7.81
51 or above 515 A E 13 3.30 5 1.56
Total et 394 100.00 320 100.00
By employee category BREBFENES
Senior Management SREEAR 8 2.03 8 2.50
Middle management ARERAE 13 3.30 16 5.00
General and technical staff —MEBEMET 373 94.67 296 92.50
Total o 394 100.00 320 100.00
By employment type BRERERES
Full time a7 387 98.22 314 98.13
Part time I 1 0.26 1 0.31
Temporary contract REEE 6 1.52 5 1.56
Total st 394 100.00 320 100.00
By geographical location Bt ES S
Kunshan =] 179 45.43 135 42.19
Beijing Gl 43 10.92 25 7.81
Shanghai 85 29 7.36 42 13.13
Guangzhou = 87 22.08 93 29.06
Hangzhou Al 56 14.21 25 7.81
Total et 394 100.00 320 100.00
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Below are detailed breakdowns of employee turnover rates by
gender, age group and geographical region within the scope of
this Report during the Reporting Period and the corresponding
period in 2023, while scenario to exclude staff who left
employment during the probationary period and internship is
also taken into consideration in the following breakdowns:

VAT 73 7N e o 6 B A 0 ¥ 5 3 [ )2 2023 F
MHEEBERIER - FERRARN KRS 5 HE
ERAERM  UTHATERETEEER

AERE B RN B THIER

2024 2023
% of particular % of particular
Turnover rate excluding staff who category category
left employment during the probationary BERE (FEEERXANR 2024 5 2023 4
period and internship EYMERNET) BEHIMNBESE FEHEINES T
Turnover rate by gender e B8 53 oY ik R EE
Male BH 24.22 15.81
Female Z % 26.35 16.62
Turnover rate by age group BRERANSDRITERE
30 or below 30B% sk LA~ 33.88 22.50
31-40 31 E405% 19.85 9.63
41-50 41 £505% 8.82 4.26
51 or above 51pRak A - =
Turnover rate by geographical location BMES SRR KE
Kunshan B 30.57 21.24
Beijing b= 20.59 -
Shanghai i 28.17 10.81
Guangzhou B M 12.22 13.76
Hangzhou LAl 37.04 34.48
Overall o] 25.49 16.31
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2024 2023

% of particular % of particular
Turnover rate including staff who left category category
employment during the probationary BERE(AEESRBR 2024 5 2023 4
period and internship EEMERNET) BEHIMNBESE BFEENBES L
Turnover rate hy gender BERNB SRR RS
Male B 49.13 44.65
Female e 44.24 30.95
Turnover rate by age group BRERANBSEREE
30 or below 30 AT 64.48 49.38
31-40 31 E405% 33.59 22.46
41-50 41 25088 8.82 8.61
51 or above 5183 A - -
Turnover rate hy geographical location BRihER SR RE
Kunshan =i 62.42 55.75
Beijing B 23.53 4.35
Shanghai & 50.70 29.73
Guangzhou BEM 13.33 20.11
Hangzhou Al 71.60 55.17
Overall e 46.22 36.17
Note: Kiat

1. Turnover rate for employees in the relevant categories = L(x)/
E(x) x *100%, L(x) = Number of employees leaving employment
in the specified category, E(x) = (Number of total employees in
the specified category at the beginning of the Reporting Period
+ number of total employees in the specified category at the end

of the Reporting Period)/2.
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Health and Safety

Due to the nature of Group’s business, the Group considers
its occupational health and safety risks as relatively low.
Nevertheless, the Group is committed in providing a safe
and healthy environment for our employees. To ensure the
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations, we have
formulated workplace safety policies and procedures to erect
a favorable and harmonious work environment. The Group
has established an internal management team responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the aforementioned
occupational health and safety policies and measures,
including but not limited to:

o Unauthorized installation of power sockets is not
permitted;

° Electrical appliances in the offices should be
disconnected when not in use;

° Users have to switch off the air-conditioners, printers, etc.
in conference rooms and offices after work or meeting;

o Smoking in the office and carrying flammable substances
to offices are absolutely prohibited;

° Fire extinguishers must not be moved and manual alarm
must not be triggered without permission; and

o Each employee should be familiar with the location and
use method of fire extinguishers.

In addition, we maintain insurance coverage of statutory
medical insurance and supplementary medical insurance for
employees, provide our employees with annual body checks
and organize team-building activities periodically, so as to show
our care for our employees.
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5.3

In each of the past three years including the Reporting Period,
no work-related fatalities or lost days due to work injury were
recorded; and the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Work Safety Law of the PRC* ({1 A R4t
MEHZ 2 £ E L)), the Laws of the PRC on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases* (R 2 A K ££ 0 B B 3 75
[5747%)) and the Fire Control Law of the PRC* ({(F#EE A R
FELEFTED).

Development and Training

An excellent talent team is conducive to the sustainable
development of the company. The Group attaches great
importance to the training and development of employees
and is committed to building a professional and high-quality
talent team to help the Group grow steadily. We provide
internal training program, which covers topics on our business
operations, corporate culture, products and the industry trends
etc., which we believe will allow our employees to envision their
career paths and growth potential with us.

Onboarding training

The Human Resources Department (“HR Department”),
in collaboration with the employing department, organizes
onboarding training for new employees. The training program
covers topics such as corporate culture, business overview,
management policies, job-specific knowledge, and code of
conduct, and the training methods combine self-study with
centralized training.

* For identification purposes only
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Regular training

The HR Department will formulate annual training plans
according to the needs and the actual situations of each
department to ensure that the relevant arrangements align
with market trends and operating conditions. Besides, the
Group will discuss the content and arrangement of the training
plan with the various department heads, prepare the required
professional course content, teaching materials and equipment,
etc., and arrange the most suitable courses for employees.

In addition, at the end of each year, the HR Department would
be responsible for the integration and preparation of annual
summary of the training activities performed throughout the
year. Each department would first submit their own summary,
which includes: i) the evaluation of the effectiveness of the
training activities conducted throughout the year; and ii) and
the review of annual training budget. Basing on the results
submitted by different departments, the HR Department
prepares the overall annual summary at the company level,
which serves as one of the foundations for developing the
training plan for the following year.
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The percentages of employees trained by gender and employee RS B & 2023 F AR fE BRI - R MR &
category during the Reporting Period and the corresponding EEBRESHZIEET D LEHINAT

period in 2023 are set out as below:

2024 2023
% of total % of total
2024 5 2023 4F

HRBESLL HREED

Employee trained by gender

BiENBSHZIESR

Male B 44.40 43.96
Female gk 55.60 56.04
Total st 100.00 100.00
Employee trained by employee category R{EBEANBSHZINEES

Senior management SREEAE 1.06 1.45
Middle management PREEAE 2.05 2.21
General staff —RET 96.89 96.34
Total #at 100.00 100.00
Note: Biat -

1. The calculation is referenced from the methods, assumptions 1. HEDRRETHES| RERFREFE B

and guidelines set out in the following Guidance and Standards:
HKEX’'s Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs in
“How to prepare an ESG Report” to calculate percentage of
employees trained. Percentage of employees trained in the
relevant categories = T(x)/T x 100, T(x) = Number of employees
who took part in training in the specified category, T = Number
of total employees who took part in training.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category during the Reporting Period and the
corresponding period in 2023 are set out as below:

B - HEREQRE

PR B K 2023 F MR B - 1 B K
BEREHNESNEREECS THNFIGE
FIE BT T

2024 2023
Average Average
training hours training hours
per employee per employee

2024 ¢ 2023 F
BSRER BXEE
I 3 1 Al AR B T35 31 R £
Training hour by gender b B B 53 A 35 BN o7 8

Male BM 2.83 3.78
Female M 2.42 2.81

Training hour by employee category 12 {E 8 %8 5 B 5 &Y 15 Bl 65 8
Senior management SREEAS 0.46 0.38
Middle management RAREREAS 0.91 1.76
General staff —mRET 2.70 3.34
Overall o] 2.59 3.18

Labour Standards

The Group has established comprehensive recruitment
procedures to check the background of candidates in order to
prevent any child labour or forced labour in operation. Before
hiring any job applicant, the HR Department will verify their age
by inspecting their identity documents and ensure applicant’s
appearance is consistent with the photograph on the ID card.
To prevent forced labour, we protect the right of our employees
to freely choose employment and ensure that all employment
relationships are voluntary. The Group and its employees may
terminate the employment contract for personal reasons or
other reasons, and need to give an appropriate notice period
or payment in lieu of notice. In case of non-compliance, the
Group will take immediate corrective action, terminate the
contract with the respective employee and report to the relevant
authorities if necessary. In addition, we have formulated
detailed practices relating to overtime management, including
the conditions and approval of overtime, the monthly and daily
maximum hours of overtime work, and compensatory leave
arrangements. Department heads need to approve overtime
work arrangements and provide employees with compensatory
leave. Furthermore, the Group is responsible for paying
attention to avoid any form of excessive overtime.
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The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labour that have a
significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the
Labor Law of the PRC* ({FZE A R £ MBI 5 &))%)) and the
Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour of the PRC* ({Z2 1
£ & T # F)). During the Reporting Period, no violation
regarding the age of employment and labor dispute has
occurred between the Group and employees.

Supply Chain Management

Material, product and service providers connect with all aspects
of operation of our business, and they play an important role in
our quality management. The Group attaches great importance
to the management and sustainability of the supply chain.
We have strict requirements on procurement procedures and
supplier selection and management, and establish a sound
supplier management system. We have formulated a series of
relevant policies and standard operating procedures, such as
the Procurement Management Policy* ({ERBEEIEH|E)),
the Supplier Management Standard Operating Procedures*
((HEEmEREIEXEE)) and the Original Equipment
Manufacture (“OEM”) Supervision Rules* ((Z /MK TEEEE
#3)) and other internal regulations, in order to understand the
processing capability and quality control function of suppliers,
identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain
and standardize supplier management and improve operation
standard. All suppliers must comply with the internal rules and
codes of the Group.

Our suppliers primarily include selected third-party
manufacturers for our new retail business and event planning
and management for our IP creation and operation business.
We have developed a stable relationship with our key suppliers.
For our new retail business, our suppliers are selected third-
party manufacturers in PRC. Our products are manufactured
by selected third-party manufacturers in PRC that specialize
in the manufacturing of skincare products or nutritional food.
Our manufacturing supply chain is important to our growing
business. We closely collaborate with a network of ODM and
packaging supply partners to produce our products.

* For identification purposes only
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For our IP creation and operation business, our suppliers
include selected event or program planning and management
companies in PRC. Due to the business nature of the event or
program planning and management, we will engage suppliers
from time to time on ad hoc basis when we are engaged to
provide media content, event planning and other designing and
licensing of proprietary celebrity IPs.

Supplier Selection and Evaluation

We have established formal and detailed procedures covering
full aspects of suppliers management including primary
selection, quotation and periodical assessment. Generally, the
selection and assessment would base on a number of factors
when engaging with new suppliers, including the but not
limited to the factors listed below:

Certificates a

Qualification

6.1
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Firstly, the Materials Control Department would proactively
develop suppliers based on the needs of the Group as well as
the industry conditions. They would send Supplier Survey
Form* ({{tEREFZE X)) to the shortlisted suppliers,
enquiring about information of their qualifications, scale,
quality, technology, and production management, etc.. After
the suppliers complete the Supplier Survey Form according to
the requirements, the Materials Control Department would
conduct initial assessments on whether their qualifications,
production capacity, safety system, and product quality meet
the Group’s requirements. Regarding qualifications, we would
require the suppliers to provide us with the relevant certificates
and qualifications in relation to their manufacturing practices
such as Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) and I1SO. Third-
party inspection reports would be requested in accordance with
the requirements of the Quality Control Department. Secondly,
on-site inspection would be conducted by the Material Control
Department and Quality Control Department after the
preliminary selections mentioned above. The Materials Control
Department fills out the On-site Inspection Guidelines for
Contract Manufacturing Facility* ({(fK IR 5 EZEE))
and other relevant documents with the Quality Control
Department jointly for further assessment and review. Once a
supplier obtains the management approval upon passing the
evaluation, it would be included in the List of Qualified
Suppliers* (& B HERGIFE)).

Supplier and Monitoring

The Group would conduct periodical evaluation on existing
suppliers. The Materials Control Department and the Quality
Department will conduct monthly evaluations based on the
feedback from the Sales Department, Customer Service
Department, and end-users. The follow-up measures after
monthly evaluation may include feedback, claims, temporary
suspension of supply at certain stages, and disqualification
as qualified suppliers. Annual evaluations would be led and
conducted by the Materials Control Department based on the
supplier's performance throughout the year in terms of year-
round supply, quality, price, services and on-site evaluation
results. The evaluation is documented in the Annual Supplier
Assessment Form* ({5 E f FE 7 £ 1% &) ). Cooperation will
be terminated with suppliers which score below certain points
in the annual evaluation.

* For identification purposes only
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6.3 Green Procurement

Advocating the sustainable development of supply chain, the
Group focuses on strengthening the management and control
of ESG risks in its supply chain. The Group regularly reviews
the updates of policies and laws related to the supply chain,
and communicates with internal and external stakeholders to
understand and identify potential environmental and social
risks within its supply chain.

To effectively manage and identify suppliers’ environmental
and social risks, the Group considers not only a supplier’s
reputation, stability, quality and other performance during
the supplier selection and evaluation process, but also their
environmental and social risks, including the assessment
on suppliers’ environmental management certifications,
evaluation of whether suppliers conduct environmental impact
assessments for product design and factory construction,
evaluation of presence or use of heavy metals in the product
manufacturing or processing procedures, the prohibition
on the recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating
discrimination to employees, providing a safe working
environment, considering if the products and services provided
are beneficial to environmental protection and fulfilling the
Group’s internal environmental requirement while minimizing
the negative impact to natural environment, and strictly obeying
the law.

We have also obtained the relevant government approval
for conducting the environmental impact review of our
major suppliers in order to evaluate and monitor their ESG
performances. We have taken initiatives in encouraging our
suppliers to use more sustainable components, such as
the use of environmentally-friendly packaging materials like
biodegradable and recyclable paper packaging materials.

The Group has established an internal management team
which is responsible for monitoring the implementation of the
aforementioned procedures.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has approximately 230
(2023: 180) suppliers in total and all of our suppliers were
located in the PRC. All the suppliers are required to comply
with the internal rules and codes of the Group.
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Product Responsibility

The Group believe that our commitment to product quality and
safety is vital to our success. We place strong emphasis on
product quality and safety by implementing a comprehensive
quality control system in order to maintain our competitive
edge, including the New Product Development Procedures*
(CGhEM KB mFAZRIE)), the Procurement Management
Policy* ((IREEEIEHIE)), the OEM Supervision Rules* ({(Z&
SR T BE B 4R &) ) and the System Customer Service
Guidelines* ((E PR E)).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress, that have significant impact
to the Group, including the Food Safety Law of the PRC*
((PEAREMBE RS Z2E)), the Tort Liability Law of
the PRC* ({F#E AR EFBEZ#EE E)E)), the Consumer
Protection Law of the PRC* ({FZE A R EFIBIE & & 25 1R
#5%)), the PRC Trademark Law* ({FF#E A R £ MBFIZIA))
and the Product Quality Law of the PRC* ({F & A R £ 70
EmEEE)).

* For identification purposes only
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7.1 Quality Control and Product Recall 7.1 EEEHERESZHLD
The Group engages third-party manufacturers in the production AEBENTSEEB TESF=-FT4EEY
of products under our new retail business. Although we do SEER -BERMAETEETEREE
not conduct the day-to-day manufacturing of our products, BEMEEE=-FEERRIATERE B
we have carried out the following measure to ensure our third- BRESFEHENERLDERITE - &
party manufacturers are in compliance with the product safety MEEEEMBRE=FTEEMEARME
compliance standards in PRC. We take great care to ensure HERERLEZBE—H-

that our third-party manufacturers share our commitment to
quality and ethics.

S li Evaluate our suppliers based on production management, quality control processes, delivery and other

upp I_er after-sales services and require our suppliers to provide us with the relevant certificates and qualifications
selection in relation to their manufacturing practices such as Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) and

ﬁ:tj@ﬁjg]% ISO. For details of supply chain management, please refer to section “Supply Chain Management”.

o RIFAETE  BHEEHINE RXERHEMSERGHRMEEEETIE - W ERRMHHERS

MBFHRHERREEERGEFANEEREY - fIINRIFEEREHGMP)RXISO - BRAMHRERE

BRI  F2M [HEEEE] —5-

® Qur suppliers are required to provide us with their internal quality control reports for each of our orders
and we also cooperate with an external quality inspection company to perform annual inspection on the

. G00d§ products supplied by our suppliers on a sampling basis. In addition, we may conduct on-site ad hoc
mspectlon inspection on our manufacturers to check whether the raw materials used are in compliance with the
E%*ﬁgﬁk relevant laws, regulations and standards, and to monitor the manufacturing processes and ensure

2 compliance with our quality control procedures.

o RMNHERARRMREE—HITENRNTESEH®RE - ARMTEINFESRADFTSE
L ER P A E mE TSR o BAN  BRMAT e WA ERETEERRE - AREmA
BEMEREHEEEER R REE - YERSSERERBRETHRMNESENRER -

PI‘OC&_S_S ® We are entitled to check and inspect third-party’s factories and quality control system. For failures
supervision identified and quality improvement recommendations proposed by us, third-party's manufacturers shall
ﬁ&ﬁl_—g formulate improvement measures within the period requested by us.
oo

o RMARBENRRE =77 TRKESEHI R - HINEIRAHRE IR MARDNEERERE
FE=NHEBSERMZBRNBRAGIELCEE N

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —B—mE&3H 241



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE -EREIES

7.2

In addition, the Group strictly follow the recall system
established in the Food Safety Law of PRC* ({# & A R £ Al
B Mm% 2%)) and the Implementing Regulations of the
Food Safety Law of PRC* ({(FhZE AR KRB ELZEEAE
1&{51) ) and adopt them as our internal recall policy. Upon
discovery of products not conforming to food safety standards
or if there is any evidence proving that the products may harm
human health, we together with the third-party manufacturer
shall (i) immediately cease production, recall food in the
market, notify the relevant producers, operators and consumers
thereof, and keep records of the recall and notification status;
(ii) immediately cease operation, notify the relevant producers,
operators and consumers thereof, and keep records of the
cessation and notification status. If the Group considers a recall
as necessary, then products in the market shall be recalled
immediately.

During the Reporting Period, there are no product sold or
shipped subject to recall for safety and health reasons.

Customer Services

To understand our customers’ needs and provide products
that meet their expectations and standards, the Group has long
established procedures to handle customers’ feedbacks or
complaints in a professional manner. Customers’ information
will be recorded and enquiries or complaints cases received
will be transferred to the Sales Department for further handling.
Reviews on feedback or complaints are conducted, and action
plans are in place promptly to address the identified issues.
Complaint cases and details are documented to reduce the
possibility of future recurrence, and feedbacks or complaints
may be circulated to management if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received approximately
34 (2023: 48) complaints from its consumers, all of which were
properly resolved.

* For identification purposes only
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7.3 Product Research and Development

Product Design

We believe that product design or product research and
development (“R&D”) is crucial to our success and sustainable
growth. We are continuously developing new products for
our new retail business to enhance and diversify our product
offerings. Our product development department would conduct
market research to identify any particular demands in the
market towards health management products and skincare
products.

The following illustrate the major steps we will go through
for research and development with respect to our health
management products as an example:

7.3
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1. Identification of
potential health
management product
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profitability

2. Assessment on market
demand and supply of the
product and its
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3. Conduct market
research on the features
and tastes that the market
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will be interested in
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4. Collaboration with
our suppliers on research
and development to
co-develop the product

\

(5 Trial production and refinemen
of product formula upon receipt
of feedback from our sample

; | % testing group
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q ( 6. Design of product
packaging to highlight

L

During the Reporting Period, we mainly collaborated with
external institutions for the research and development
of our products. We normally engage independent OEM
manufacturers in the PRC to co-develop the formula of the
potential products by modifying and refining the existing
formula to fulfill all our requirements. The OEM manufacturers
we engaged are all established in the PRC and mainly engaged
in the manufacturing and sales of food products and/or
beverages, for the supply of these products.

Packaging Lifecycle Management

Packaging design has significant impact both on our business
and the environment. The Group adheres to the concept of
green consumption and is committed to building a healthy and
sustainable lifestyle for its consumers. We insist on implanting
the concepts of green and low carbon into many aspects of the
lifecycle of our products especially product packaging.

the features of the
product
Em \L;a%sxﬂu‘\'
HEREREFE
RIS - M EZREIN B S (T
BPNER RABESZEBELOEME
EEBBRER R TERGE T RLR MR
BEEmMORT - UmRBMHmAZER -
P B EOEMBIE R I NP B S I =
ERFRMR R BIERIHE - AR

P aaay [}
ZEEM-e

BREMBHNER

BRETHRMOESLIRFHEERTE -
AEBREAGEHEEES BNIRAREEE
TERBEXENEEIN - BMBHEE&E
EIESBAZEREWEBNTLZIEF -
LEREMBESF -
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The sustainability performance of packaging depends largely
on the type, use and ultimate disposal of materials. To reduce
the environmental impact of the packaging of our products
throughout its lifecycle, we have implemented the following
measures:

o Optimise packaging design at the very early stage
considering its weight and volume, safety and stability,
cost and market trends; and

o Take initiatives to encourage our suppliers to use more
sustainable components for packaging.

For the packaging lifecycle management of our products,
please also refer to the section headed “2.3 Packaging
Materials” for further details.

Protecting Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights

Intellectual property is fundamental and crucial to our success,
and it enables us to maintain our competitive position in
the rapidly evolving market. Our IP creation and operation
capabilities empower us to create, develop and own IP
contents, in particularly those in association with our unique
celebrity IPs. We rely on trademark, copyright and patent law,
confidential contractual arrangements, invention assignment
and non-compete agreements with our employees and others
to protect our proprietary rights. As at 31 December 2024,
our Group had registered approximately 2,400 trademarks
and more than 190 copyrights (including software copyrights
in the PRC) (2023: more than 2,100 trademarks and more
than 150 copyrights), and we were also applying for and
undergoing registration of other intellectual property rights.
We believe our copyrights, trademarks and domain names
are unique and valuable assets that support our brand and
help to elevate public’s perception of our products. During
the Reporting Period, there is no material impediment in
renewing the registration of our trademarks or domain names
upon their expiry as long as we comply with the relevant legal
requirements and take all necessary steps and submit the
relevant applications in accordance with the requirements
prescribed by the applicable PRC laws and regulations. The
Group would continue to manage to balance protecting our IP
rights with ensuring access to media and allowing fair use.
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In order to better protect our intellectual property rights from
third-party infringements, we have implemented various
measures and strictly followed the relevant internal protocols
and complied with the corresponding laws and regulations. We
regularly detect the malicious registrations of our intellectual
properties by third parties, counterfeit products and contents on
e-commerce platforms, and any other forms of infringements
of our intellectual property. Since our intellectual property may
be maliciously registered by the third parties, we timely register
our intellectual property with the competent governmental
authorities. We actively respond to any infringements by
warnings, notices, administrative claims and sometimes initiate
litigations.

Additionally, for our proprietary IPs, our in-house design team
carefully examines the originality of our new products with the
assistance of our in-house legal team. Our in-house legal team
is also responsible for the registration, consulting and other
business or legal support of our intellectual property related
affairs.

We have reported certain vendors with infringement activities to
the local Administration for Market Regulations (“AMRs”) and
brought lawsuits against them. As at the end of the Reporting
Period, over 30 lawsuits are still in progress.

Data and Privacy Protection

Regarding customer privacy, the Group is committed to
protecting the personal data of all our customers by complying
with relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumers Rights and Interests* ((FP ZE A R MBI Y & & #
AR L) ). We have also formulated policy on customer
privacy and data protection and confidential requirements are
also listed in our staff manual. Minimal personal data of
customers are collected only for normal business operation,
such as goods delivery and conducting customer surveys,
which may help us improve our business relationships. The
collected data will not be used without the consent of the
related persons. In addition, our employees are required to be
at all times alert to the importance of protecting customer
confidential data. All employees are prohibited to divulge any
restricted information, including the personal data of our
customers, to any parties during or after employment.
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To ensure the personal data or other confidential information of
our customers as well as other important operation information
are properly stored, we have implemented various data
protection measures and stringent internal protocols to ensure
the security of our proprietary data. All the development and
maintenance of our information technology systems are
currently responsible by our internal technical maintenance
department* (ZR # 18 # 20), and we outsource certain
technical operations to the third party service providers in order
to better support the development of our information technology
systems. For instance, our cloud service provider adopts
multilayer firewall to protect against attacks or unauthorized
access of our data, and they monitor the visits of the data
regularly and generate reports on any suspicious or
unauthorized access or attacks to us.

Furthermore, we maintain the security of our information
technology systems which covers cyber security, application
security, data security and terminal security through various
technologies including encryption, anti-virus software and
firewall. We also conduct regular information security trainings
for our employees to enhance their awareness on information
security and improve the implementation of our information
technology risk management.

During the Reporting Period, we did not experience any
material information leakage or loss of user data and there
is no reported case of non-compliance of relevant laws and
regulations relating to privacy matters.

Anti-corruption

Rigidly adhering to the operating principle of integrity, the
Group is committed to maintaining a corporate culture with
the highest ethical standards and compliance with laws and
regulations. Any form of unethical transactions and operations,
including but not limited to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, are strictly prohibited. In order to ensure
honest and fair business conduct, the Group has formulated
Anti-Corruption Policy* ({/x SE¥£ B ) ) and continuously
monitored the implementation of relevant management to
bolster the effectiveness and efficiency.
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Anti-corruption measures

RESH#EE

Whistle-blowing system
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Individuals being hired or promoted to positions that require a high level of trust, will
undergo anti-corruption education and criminal background checks;

HEAREAINFESEEENBUNEASEIRBEBELLRERHE

The Director of Internal Controls is responsible for conducting regular reviews of the
whistleblowing system to ensure that the system is functioning effectively; and

NEEHEE A EHERGETETTERES  UMERMNEBIEE &
Every employee is required to sign the Letter of Commitment to Integrity and Self-discipline*
((BEZ B =EAEZE)) which lists out detailed requirements on anti-corruption.

ZREUREREFB(RREAEEAGKE) HRIHRESHFAENR -

The Group establishes a whistle-blowing system, in which a reporting e-mail is set up for

BRHE employees to report any suspicious activities or internal control process deficiencies;
REBRETRRHE  RYUBREFEM - HESBIREM AT AT EIRIZ
HRPE
Respond immediately and investigate the reported case upon receiving a report; and
BRERMEAEEYAESRRES &
Enforce stringent confidentiality protection to personal information of the whistle-blower
and investigation information, to secure the whistle-blower from any harm for reporting
suspicious cases.
HEJAFABHEFACENERBERRERE  BREGAREEBHAIREGM
RENEE -
During the Reporting Period, we had provided online training NEREER RPAEERETITRETRE
regarding anti-corruption to our directors and staff. B4R 3zl o
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any material R EHR NEBREREEEREBIH
non-compliance of laws and regulations related to the prevention of IFBRER - 8122 - BEREE AN LSS My R /2 5k 48 T
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that have significant NEBELABTATE  BIEBTIENCHE
impact to the Group, including but not limited to the Company Law of AERXMERAREY KR EARLMEE
the PRC* ({1 ZE AR EFMBE A F)%)) and the Prohibition of IR IT AN EITEE) o #HE S YA
Commercial Bribery Interim Provisions of the PRC* ({1 % A R 71 SESHEEREEHEBERTA  BERE
BIZE P2 BRERTT RV E1THRE D). No legal case regarding corrupt SR REM o

practices, extortion and money laundering was brought against the
Group or its employees.

*
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Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which we
operate. The Group strives to develop long-term relationship
with our stakeholders and seeks to make contributions to
programmes which have a positive impact on community
development.

The Group has all along been concerned about poverty relief,
healthy living and environmental sustainability in relation
to the community, and supports initiatives which focus on
the forementioned areas. The Group has made charitable
donations amounted to approximately RMB1.7 million during
the Reporting Period to various institutions and programs in
relation to public health, social welfare and youth development,
showing our commitment to giving back to the community.

HERR

ER—REHLGEERNDRA  AEEH
RTERMKERELBRNTR - AEE S
KRERNEEZIRBMEAG LS RAEH
BERRELEEZENRBIELER -

AEE-HERIETREBNKE  BREE
mRREAREN - W HRE LA
mE) o RMEMME  AEERMAHKEE A
ERMRBELVFERIINZ EHE RIRA
BEEHARBLIBEETHESZHER [
gEte -

Case Sharing — Being the Cooperative Unit of the Low-Carb Medical Conference*

(2 EBERZEE S XF) for four consecutive years
RS E-EEMNERS2EERERARETSEENM

For identification purposes only

The 6th Low-Carb Medical Conference was successfully held on 15 December 2024. All along, the Group has been
committed to promoting the new health concept of “MODONG New Life-style* (& fi #7 4 )& )", which is a life-style of
balanced nutrition, low-carbon diet, scientific body-building, staying hydrated, getting enough sleep and timely releasing
stress.

FERNERRESRENR2024F 12 158K EY - AEB—BURBAOREEERTEFTIHREERS - [E
A 4EE IR —BEEEE ERARR  BBRE #7K)  TEHEE REEBEREBEINEEZIN -

We have been serving as the cooperative unit of the conference for four consecutive years, playing an important role of a
promoter of low-carbon diets in promoting the development of low-carbon medical technology and industry.

BREBNFRARGRIEEN  AESERBERMEERRREE T ERRREDENETEER -

YRS
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Case Sharing — Caring for the Community Action 2024 — Donating zongzi gift boxes to social welfare organization
ROPE-2024FRERZTH RNt FRFRBEERTFESE

The Group has been actively involved in community charitable initiatives. In July 2024, the Group donated 500 “Ai Chi
Xian Mo Ren Healthy Zongzi Gift Boxes* (& Iz # I A FZ 42 T 12 &)” to the Kunshan Amity Social Organization
Incubation Center* (BRI E &= €A 5 0) under the Amity Foundation* (=X £ ), aiming to promote
care and initiatives for disadvantaged groups.

AEB—ERGRHEMRESEY 2024 F78 AEEREEECE TERELMERLSHEMIEEP LB
S0 (Bl EARBERTEES]  EMREYPDAHBONEERERE -

Additionally, in June 2024, the Group donated 45 zongzi gift boxes to Kunshan City’s ‘Blue Sky Rescue Team* (&5 X$
% BX)’ to demonstrate its support for social welfare rescue forces.
AN - 2024F6 A AEERAR UM IERMER I BRSERTEE  WREEERAEZRENENIS
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REFERENCES TO THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE (RE -HIEREABREESIDERSI
General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
—REERABENIER B2 WMEAT

A. Environmental

AR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA : Bl
General Disclosure  Information on: Emissions
— s (a) the policies; and BER

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer,

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FHERAZEREBEM  MAKRTHMOET EERESEREY

WEESH

(@ BWE: &k

(b) BEFHBETABERZENBRBEELR

BE R o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
RERBETEALD U EE KRR BEEUE - e
KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions and, Emissions
RIS IERIEEAL.2  where appropriate, intensity. BER

BEEREREZERERBHERER (WER)EZE -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. Emissions
REBRVERAN3 FELAFSEEDEER (WER)RE - e
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. ~ Emissions
RBRNERAMG EABRZEEDAER (WER)BE - e
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. ~ ENVIRONMENT
FREBEMERAML AT UM EERRAEDEL B EMEIALE o Emissions

BIE
713,87

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, ENVIRONMENT
FAEEMIEWA1.6  and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions

them. IRIE

WRRIEEERBTEEYNT L  MEAMRILARERELS HRY
ERELBRMRIA SR -
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General Disclosures and KPls

—REERMEBANER

Chapter/Disclosure

BEf HEANE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BmEA2: FiRER
General Disclosure
— SR

KPI A2.1

RN IEIRA2.1

KPI A2.2
FAREXEEA2.2

KPI A2.3
RN IMA2.3

KPI1 A2.4
RE@EnERA2.4

KPI A2.5
RERANMIEEA25

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BERUEAEIR(BIERER - K REAMREME) BBER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.

BRNESMERR SREEREAEEREE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BFEKEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
R FTET LB IRE A M B R R R ESE L B R 288 -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
i SKEVE A KR A B A EE - URATZH AKX EERER
RETEL RSB LR -

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced.

HRMATABRMHNEER (MER) BEEBMIEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3: BERXARER

General Disclosure
—RE

KPI A3.1
FRRMIEIMASA

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

IEBRITABRBEMARAREREREATENHEK

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

B EBEHERRERAARERNEAXERERKNEEEATE
BI1TE ©
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ENVIRONMENT
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B

BREH

ENVIRONMENT
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IRiE

BIREH
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BIRER

Emissions
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General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

—REERFBRAYER BEf HEANE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEAL : mIREIL
General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- related Climate Change
— s issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. &z E 1
BRI REHEERAEGHBEITAEEZENERRGHEBEED
UK o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change
RIS EMIEEAL.1  impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and theactions SIREL
taken to manage them.
HMBE LA GHBETAEEATENEARGEESE - LEH
T8 o
B. Social
B.it®
Employment and Labour Practices
ERRSIER
Aspect B1: Employment
BB : BE
General Disclosure  Information on: Employment
— s (a) the policies; and EE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
AT RE BREEREA IR RE TEEE  Zahk-
SR AR VA B2 B A 538 R A FI A
(@) B &
(b) BFHBEITABEALEBNEBERE LRI
BB R o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part- ~ Employment
FAEIBAIEEBIL.1  time), age group and geographical region. EfE
®RIER - ERER (2 BRRE)  FRER LRSI DHESE
#
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
FREEMEREBI.2 ZUF - FRAEN MRS D HEERKLE - =
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General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

—REERFBRAYER BEf HEANE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: RRERR
General Disclosure  Information on: Health and Safety
— RS (a) the policies; and BRELTE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer,
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

FRARRLZE2THERRIREREBREBEMEREEN

(@) BK: Rk

(b)) BETFTHEHBEBTAGERTENEBERE LR

BB} o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past ~ Health and Safety
BRSREMIEEEB2.1  three years including the reporting year. fEREL 2

BE=F (REERER) SFETTRMABRILE -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
FREENEEB22 AITBEATERE- R &
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and Health and Safety
BRSEHEMIEEB2.3  how they are implemented and monitored. EREZZ

W PR AN B R R R R 255 - URABBRITRERTTE -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[BEB3 : HER LI

General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Development and Training

— R E duties at work. Description of training activities. BRE RS
FRRAEEBITIEBRENANB L REENBR - il FEE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category  Development and Training
FREEEEIEEB3.1  (e.g. senior management, middle management). TR KE

R REEEN (NEREREE HREEE) E>NZIEER

D e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Development and Training
BERIE R #EHEB3.2 employee category. BRI

HERIREEERE D - BREETAZ I FEEFEK
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General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

—REERFBRAYER BEf HEANE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 - 5% T#H

General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
— R E (a) the policies; and BITAR

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRI ETREHST :

(@QEE: &k

(D) ETFHEITABEAZENBBERZ LRI

&K -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child Labour Standards
EREEMIBEB4.1  and forced labour. 45 T %8

f iR S B E PR B EAREE T REHST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.  Labour Standards
RBMMERMBL2 HAERRER BN ERE BB RATRIRE L & T AR

Operating Practices

BERG

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BmEBS : EESREE

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.  Supply Chain Management

—BRE B B S B R B R - R 32
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
REMNIEMBS. HwEESMEERHE - AEREE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain Management

BEREMIEEBS.2  suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are /&3 & 12
implemented and monitored.
Mt BAERHEERONED MERTEABEMNNEEREE - U
RABMBITREERGE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Supply Chain Management
FAEEMIEMB5.3  along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. ~ #tFE#EE 32

B A B R EREOIRE R GRBOIER - AR

HITRERTE -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain Management
FAREMIEEBS5.4 products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are HEEE R

implemented and monitored.
R ESREHEERRESZARREMIRBOED - LAREBEH
TRERERE-
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General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

—REERFBRAYER BEf HEANE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[BEmB6 - EREE
General Disclosure  Information on: Product Responsibility
— SR (a) the policies; and EREE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRMEHRERNRSNEFEEZ 2 BES REMLBFEEUR

MRITER

(@) BEX: K

(b)) BETFTEHBTAGERZEMNEMERE LR

BB} o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety ~ Product Responsibility
BREEEMIEHB6.1  and health reasons. EmEfE

EERCEXEMEBTRLZ2EHEREAMARKNBE DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how Product Responsibility
FREBEEIEEEB6.2 they are dealt with. EmAE
BREBRERMBRBHORFEE AREBETX -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual ~ Product Responsibility
BRSRMEMIEEEB6.3  property rights. EmEF

B RIRE A RERES @B -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility
FRRENEEB4 HilEERTAERERBIWRER EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how Product Responsibility
B IR#8EBB.5 they are implemented and monitored. EmEE

HEEEENRERLEBE  UAREBRTRERE -
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General Disclosures and KPls

—REERMEBANER

Chapter/Disclosure

BEf HEANE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BMEB7 : REi5
General Disclosure
— SR

KPI B7.1
PR\ EIWBTA

KPI B7.2
RN IEWBT.2

KPI B7.3
FEANMIEEBT3

Community
it &

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRA LA - R - MEFROTRER

(a) B+ &
(b) BFHBETAEERTENMEREE LR
&R -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERPANBBETARHEERETEFENE THARMNEE
NEAFFAFER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
TP S e R BB RIZ T - A KRBT MBS 0% o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HmEERETRENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[BTEBS : EKRRE

General Disclosure

— K=

KPI B8.1
PR\ EEBS.1

KPI B8.2
mEmNEEBs.2
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Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

N RS2ERTHREEMEIHEFTEZENBREXZB IDEER
F B F R EVIBUR o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

BIERER (KA REFHE SIHFK BE Xt 85 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
TEEITHSMBAER (P ELER) -
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Anti-corruption
R&5F

Anti-corruption
RER

Anti-corruption
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Anti-corruption
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Community Investment

HEERE

Community Investment

HEERE

Community Investment
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“AGM”

uAln

“Articles”

“Audit Committee”

“Board”

“CG Code”

“China” or “PRC”

“Companies Ordinance”

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

“Company”

“Directors”

“FY2023”

“FY2024" or
“Reporting Period”

Annual general meeting of the
Company

artificial intelligence

the amended and restated articles of
association of the Company

the audit committee of the Company

the board of Directors

the “Corporate Governance Code”
as contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules which was in force during
the Reporting Period

the People’s Republic of China, which
for the purpose of this annual report
and for geographical reference only,
excludes Hong Kong, Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and
Taiwan

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed to it under
the Listing Rules and unless the
context otherwise requires, refers to
Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh, Mr. Chen,
Harmony Culture, Legend Key and
Max One

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited

the director(s) of the Company

the year ended 31 December 2023

the year ended 31 December 2024
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Harmony Culture ~ Legend
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Glossary

= =,
R 5

“GEM”

“Group”

“Harmony Culture”

uH K$n

“JVR Music”

“Legend Key”

“Listing Date”

4

“Listing Rules’

“Max One”

“Model Code”

Growth Enterprise Market

the Company and its subsidiaries from
time to time

Harmony Culture Investment Limited,
a company established in the BVI with
limited liability which is wholly owned
by Ms. Ma and being one of the
Controlling Shareholders

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency
of Hong Kong

JVR Music International Ltd. (7%
BEBS%E8KR 2a), acompany
established in Taiwan with limited
liability and a connected person of the
Company

Legend Key International Limited, a
company established in Samoa with
limited liability, which are held by Mr.
Yang and Ms. Yeh as to 50% and
50%, respectively, and being one of
the Controlling Shareholders

13 July 2023, on which the Shares are
listed and from which dealings therein
are permitted to take place on the
Stock Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

Max One Ltd., a company established
in the Republic of Mauritius with
limited liability and continued in
Samoa which is wholly-owned by Mr.
Chen and being one of the Controlling
Shareholders

the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules
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“Mr. Chen”

“Mr. Yang”

“Ms. Ma”

“Ms. Yeh”

“Nomination Committee”

“Pre-IPO Stock Incentive
Plan”

“Prospectus”

“Remuneration Committee”

HRMBH

“SFQ”

“Share(s)”

“Share Option Scheme”

Mr. Chen, Chung (BE &), a non-
executive Director and one of the
Controlling Shareholders

Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung (#51& %), a
non-executive Director and one of the
Controlling Shareholders

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (5 0 #%), an
executive Director and one of the
Controlling Shareholders

Ms. Yeh, Hui-Mei (28 %), one of
the Controlling Shareholders

the nomination committee of the
Company

the stock incentive plan approved and
adopted by the Company on 3 August
2020 pursuant to a shareholders’
resolution in relation to the grant
of share awards to the Directors,
employees and other service providers
of the Company

the prospectus of the Company dated
30 June 2023

remuneration committee of the
Company

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the
PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, revised or
otherwise modified from time to time

the ordinary share(s) of par value of
US$0.00001 each in the issued share
capital of the Company

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 19 June 2023
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Glossary

“Shareholder(s)”

4

“Stock Exchange’

”US$”

“opn

holder(s) of Shares

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

United States Dollar, the lawful
currency of the United States of

America

per cent
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Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
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